

Methods for sensitivity analysis and backward propagation of uncertainty applied on mathematical models in engineering applications

Iman Alhossen

▶ To cite this version:

Iman Alhossen. Methods for sensitivity analysis and backward propagation of uncertainty applied on mathematical models in engineering applications. Mechanical engineering [physics.class-ph]. Université Paul Sabatier - Toulouse III, 2017. English. NNT: 2017TOU30314. tel-01945221

HAL Id: tel-01945221 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01945221

Submitted on 5 Dec 2018 $\,$

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





En vue de l'obtention du

DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITÉ DE TOULOUSE

Délivré par:

Université Toulouse 3 Paul Sabatier (UT3 Paul Sabatier)

Présentée et soutenue par : Iman ALHOSSEN

le 11 Décembre 2017

Titre :

Méthode d'analyse de sensibilité et propagation inverse d'incertitude appliquées sur les modèles mathématiques dans les applications d'ingénierie

École doctorale et discipline ou spécialité :

ED MEGEP : Génie mécanique

Unité de recherche : Institut Clément Ader, CNRS UMR 5312

Directeur(s) de Thèse :

MCF (HDR), Université Paul Sabatier Directeur MCF. Université Paul Sabatier

Jury :

Bertrand WATTRISSE Mhamad KHALIL Adrien BARTOLI Cyril BORDREUIL Fulbert BAUDOUIN Christine ESPINOSA

Stéphane SEGONDS

Florian BUGARIN

PR, Université de Montpellier PR, Université Libanaise PR, Université Clermont Auvergne PR, Université de Montpellier MCF. Université Paul Sabatier PR associé, ISAE SUPAERO

Co-Directeur

Rapporteur Rapporteur Président Examinateur Examinateur Examinatrice

Acknowledgment

By the end of this thesis I turned the page to open a new chapter in my academic life. Nearly three years have passed since I came to Toulouse, three years with some dark days, but many light days. So thank GOD for everything, thank GOD for giving me this opportunity to be a PhD student and then thank God for granting me the capability to proceed successfully. Also thanks to all those who have helped me finish this work.

First and foremost thanks to my thesis advisors **Stephane Segonds** and **Florian Bugarin** for their endless help during the past three years. I could never have imaged to have advisors better than you. I will forever be thankful to you !

Thanks to **Christina Villeneuve-Faure** for her help and courage especially in the application of the force spectroscopy.

Thanks to Fulbert Baudoin for his assistance in different parts of this work.

Thanks to **Adrien Bartoli** for his time and help while developing the models of the application in the domain of computer vision.

Thanks to the reviewers of my thesis Mr. Bertrand Wattrisse and Mr. Mohammad Khalil for accepting evaluating and revising my work. Thanks to all the members of my thesis committee for participating in this evaluation.

Thanks to my spiritual supporters **Samir** and **Raafat** who taught me how we should be patient in order to reach our goals.

Thanks to my colleagues: Batoul, Donghai, Daniel, Hannah, Jim, Montassar, Menouar, Pierre, Shiqi, Yanfeng, Yiewe, and all the nice people I met in Institute Clement Ader.

Thanks to my Lebanese friends for being my second family: Abbas, Alaa, Bilal, Fatima, Muhammad, Mariam, Zainab, and all the members of the group **"Muntada Essudfa"**. Finally thanks to my family for the love, encouragement, and support they have always given to me.

Abstract

Approaches for studying uncertainty are of great necessity in all disciplines. While the forward propagation of uncertainty has been investigated extensively, the backward propagation is still under studied. In this thesis, a new method for backward propagation of uncertainty is presented. The aim of this method is to determine the input uncertainty starting from the given data of the uncertain output.

In parallel, sensitivity analysis methods are also of great necessity in revealing the influence of the inputs on the output in any modeling process. This helps in revealing the most significant inputs to be carried in an uncertainty study. In this work, the Sobol sensitivity analysis method, which is one of the most efficient global sensitivity analysis methods, is considered and its application framework is developed. This method relies on the computation of sensitivity indexes, called Sobol indexes. These indexes give the effect of the inputs on the output. Usually inputs in Sobol method are considered to vary as continuous random variables in order to compute the corresponding indexes. In this work, the Sobol method is demonstrated to give reliable results even when applied in the discrete case. In addition, another advancement for the application of the Sobol method is done by studying the variation of these indexes with respect to some factors of the model or some experimental conditions. The consequences and conclusions derived from the study of this variation help in determining different characteristics and information about the inputs. Moreover, these inferences allow the indication of the best experimental conditions at which estimation of the inputs can be done.

Keywords: Uncertainty quantification, Backward uncertainty propagation, sensitivity analysis, Sobol method.

Résumé

Dans de nombreuses disciplines, les approches permettant d'étudier et de quantifier l'influence de données incertaines sont devenues une nécessité. Bien que la propagation directe d'incertitudes ait été largement étudiée, la propagation inverse d'incertitudes demeure un vaste sujet d'étude, sans méthode standardisée. Dans cette thèse, une nouvelle méthode de propagation inverse d'incertitude est présentée. Le but de cette méthode est de déterminer l'incertitude d'entrée à partir de données de sortie considérées comme incertaines. Parallèlement, les méthodes d'analyse de sensibilité sont également très utilisées pour déterminer l'influence des entrées sur la sortie lors d'un processus de modélisation. Ces approches permettent d'isoler les entrées les plus significatives, c'est a dire les plus influentes, qu'il est nécessaires de tester lors d'une analyse d'incertitudes. Dans ce travail, nous approfondierons tout d'abord la méthode d'analyse de sensibilité de Sobol, qui est l'une des méthodes d'analyse de sensibilité globale les plus efficaces. Cette méthode repose sur le calcul d'indices de sensibilité, appelés indices de Sobol, qui représentent l'effet des données d'entrées (vues comme des variables aléatoires continues) sur la sortie. Nous démontrerons ensuite que la méthode de Sobol donne des résultats fiables même lorsqu'elle est appliquée dans le cas discret. Puis, nous étendrons le cadre d'application de la méthode de Sobol afin de répondre à la problèmatique de propagation inverse d'incertitudes. Enfin, nous proposerons une nouvelle approche de la méthode de Sobol qui permet d'étudier la variation des indices de sensibilité par rapport à certains facteurs du modèle ou à certaines conditions expérimentales. Nous montrerons que les résultats obtenus lors de ces études permettent d'illustrer les différentes caractéristiques des données d'entrée. Pour conclure, nous exposerons comment ces résultats permettent d'indiquer les meilleures conditions expérimentales pour lesquelles l'estimation des paramètres peut être efficacement réalisée.

Mots clés: Quantification d'incertitude, Propagation inverse d'incertitude, Analyse de sensibilité, Méthode de Sobol.

Contents

Acknowledgment	iii
Résumé	vii
Table of Contents	x
Figures	xiii
Algorithms	xiii
 Literature Review 1.1 Introduction . 1.2 General notation of a model . 1.3 Structural uncertainty assessment . 1.4 Input uncertainty representation . 1.5 Forward uncertainty propagation . 1.5.1 Probabilistic methods . 1.5.2 Non-Probabilistic methods . 1.6 Backward uncertainty propagation . 1.7 Sensitivity analysis . 1.7.1 Local sensitivity analysis . 1.7.2 Global sensitivity analysis . 1.7.3 Sobol Method . 1.8 Conclusion . 	7 8 9 11 15 22 29 32 33 36 39 45
 Backward Propagation method: Variance Partitioning 2.1 Introduction	47 48 50 50 54 59 59 60 61
B Sobol Indexes in the Discrete Case 3.1 Introduction 3.2 What is an EFDC	63 63 64

		Parameter optimization	
		4.9.5 Sensitivity analysis of the trapping coefficient	. 126
		4.9.4 Sensitivity analysis of the de-trapping barrier height	. 126
		4.9.3 Sensitivity analysis of the mobility	. 125
		4.9.2 Sensitivity analysis of the barrier height for injection	. 123
		4.9.1 The variation protocols	. 123
	4.9	Sensitivity analysis of charge transport model	. 122
	4.8	Charge transport model as a black box	. 121
	4.7	Sensitivity analysis of SfT	. 114
	4.6	Imitating reality by adding noise	. 111
	4.5	The model ZfT_SfT	. 108
	4.4	The model inputs	. 108
		4.3.6 Numerical solution	. 106
		4.3.5 Analytical solution	. 106
		4.3.4 Change of variable	. 104
		4.3.3 Second reformulation	. 103
		4.3.2 First reformulation	. 103
		4.3.1 Problem definition	. 100
	4.3	Shape-from-Template: 3D reconstruction	. 99
	4.2	Image formation: from 3D into 2D	. 95
	4.1	Introduction	. 93
4	The	Variation of Sobol indexes and its Significance	93
	3.9		. 91
	2.0	3.8.2 Second order matrix model	. 89
		3.8.1 First order matrix model	. 87
	3.8		. 86
		3.7.3 The interaction effect plots	. 83
		3.7.2 The main effect plots	. 81
		3.7.1 The basics of DOE	. 80
	3.7	Design Of Experiment (DOE)	. 79
		3.6.2 Second order Sobol indexes	. 77
		3.6.1 First order Sobol indexes	. 76
	3.6	Sobol indexes of the logistic parameters	. 75
	3.5	EFDC as a logistic law	. 72
	3.4	Experimental procedures	. 70
	3.3	The model inputs	. 69
		3.2.2 Acquiring the EFDC	. 68
		3.2.1 The AFM process	. 65

List of Figures

1.1	The data fitted to a logarithmic function and to a 4th root function	9
1.2	The measurements of the height x_1 and the radius of the cylinder x_2	12
1.3	Probabilistic presentation of input uncertainty: (a) continuous distribu-	
	tion, (b) discrete distribution	13
1.4	Probabilistic propagation of input uncertainty.	16
1.5	Scatter plot of sampling techniques: (a) Random sampling, (b) Latin Hyper cube sampling.	17
1.6	Fuzzy membership functions: (a) Triangular, (b) Trapezoidal.	25
1.7	Bayesian inference for backward uncertainty propagation: prior distribu- tion and output data are used to derive a posterior distribution.	31
1.8	Output variance decomposition for model of two variables representing the concept of the Sobol's method for the derivation of the sensitivity indexes.	42
2.1	Flowchart that summarizes Step 1.	55
2.2	Uncertain real weight $(W_{\mathcal{P}})$ in terms of the measured weight $(W_{\mathcal{P}})$.	56
2.3	The obtained values of V and r as a function of the number of sample points used	60
24	The obtained values of r_{1} and r_{2} as a function of the number of sample	00
2.4	points used	61
3.1	Schematic of the AFM parts: 1.Piezoscanner 2.Sample 3.Tip 4.Cantilever	
	5. Laser emitter 6. Photo-detector.	66
3.2	The tip-sample positioning during the different phases of AFM	67
3.3	A typical AFM Force Distance Curve showing the approach stage, the contact stage, and the retract stage. The labels (a), (b), (c), (d), and (e)	
	refer to the phases of the tip-sample positioning of Fig. 3.2.	67
3.4	The FDCs while scanning an oxy-nitride dielectric (before and after the effect of the electrostatic force). Their difference produces the EFDC. This	
	figure is extracted from [Villeneuve-Faure <i>et al.</i> , 2014]	69
3.5	Sample scheme (electrode is represented in black)	70
3.6	Evolution of EFDC as function of electrodes parameters: (a) Width w (bias v and depth d are fixed at $15v$ and $100nm$ respectively) and (b)	
	Depth d (bias v and width w are fixed at $15v$ and $20um$ respectively) and (b)	72
37	The illustration of the logistic curve $f(z)$	73
3.8	Residuals of the polynomial and logistic regressions	74
3.9	The model Fitted-4PI	74
3.10	The first order Sobol indexes of d v and w . The indexes S_{x} S_{z} and S_{z}	11
5.10	represent the influence of d v and w respectively on A B C and D	77

3.11	The second order Sobol indexes of d , v , and w . The indexes S_{dw} , S_{dv} , and	
	S_{vw} represent the influence of the interactions between d and w, d and v,	
	and v and w , respectively, on A, B, C , and D	79
3.12	The main effect plots of depth d , width w and applied voltage v for each	
	of the 4PL parameters: (a) A , (b) B , (c) C and (d) D	. 82
3.13	The Interaction Effects Matrix plot of the parameter A	. 84
3.14	one-way interaction plots for the parameters: (a) B , (b) C , and (d) D , in	
	the order : d - w plots, d - v plots and v - w plots	85
3.15	The difference between the EFDCs obtained experimentally (blue) and the	
	EFDCs obtained using the first order matrix approximation models of A ,	
	B, C, and D (red). Different values of (d, v, w) are considered: (a)	
	$(10 nm, 6v, 6\mu m)$, (b) $(100 nm, 8v, 40\mu m)$, (c) $(50 nm, 6v, 6\mu m)$, and	
	(d) $(10 nm, 15 v, 40 \mu m)$. 88
3.16	The difference between the EFDCs obtained experimentally (blue) and the	
	EFDCs obtained using the second order matrix approximation models of $A = B = C = A = D = C$	
	A, B, C, and D (red). Different values of (a, v, w) are considered: (a)	
	$(10 nm, 6v, 6 \mu m), (D) (100 nm, 8v, 40 \mu m), (C) (50 nm, 6v, 6 \mu m), and (d) (10 nm, 15 n, 40 \mu m)$	00
	(d) $(10 nm, 15 v, 40 \mu m)$	90
4.1	The pinhole camera.	95
4.2	Real vs virtual image by a pinhole camera.	96
4.3	Geometric model of the 2D image formation by a pinhole camera.	. 96
4.4	The pixel coordinate system $\mathbb{P} = \{O_p; U_p, V_p\}$ vs the image plane frame	
	$\mathbb{J} = \{O; U, V\}.$. 97
4.5	A paper template deformed into a cylinder.	100
4.6	The 3D reconstruction model in SfT.	101
4.7	A scheme of the algorithm SfT_BGCC12I	108
4.8	The normal at the point M determined by the angle θ	109
4.9	A scheme of the model ZfT_SfT	111
4.10	A schematic of the model ZfT_SfT '	114
4.11	The variation of the first order Sobol indexes S_Z and S_f and S_N as a	
	function of the depth : (a) For E_r with $\theta \in [15^\circ, 30^\circ]$, (b) For	
	E_r with $\theta \in [30^\circ, 45^\circ]$, (c) For E_r with $\theta \in [45^\circ, 60^\circ]$, (d) For E_N	
	with $\theta \in [15^\circ, 30^\circ]$, (e) For E_N with $\theta \in [30^\circ, 45^\circ]$, (f) For E_N with	
1.10	$\theta \in [45^\circ, 60^\circ] \dots \dots$	116
4.12	The variation of the total order Sobol indexes TS_Z and TS_f and TS_N as	
	a function of the depth : (a) For E_r with $\theta \in [15^\circ, 30^\circ]$, (b) For E_r with $\theta \in [45^\circ, 60^\circ]$ (1) For	
	E_r with $\theta \in [30^\circ, 45^\circ]$, (c) For E_r with $\theta \in [45^\circ, 60^\circ]$, (d) For E_N with $\theta \in [15^\circ, 20^\circ]$ (c) Eq. (c) For E_r with $\theta \in [20^\circ, 45^\circ]$ (f) For E_r with	
	with $\theta \in [15, 50]$, (e) For E_N with $\theta \in [50, 45]$, (f) For E_N with $\theta \in [45^\circ, 60^\circ]$	190
1 12	$v \in [45, 00]$.	120
4.10	Evolution of the first order Sobol indexes of the injection height barrier w	194
4.14	Evolution of the first order Sobol indexes of the mobility u .	124 195
4 16	Evolution of the first order Sobol indexes of the de-trapping barrier height	120
т.10	<i>We</i> .	197
4 17	Evolution of the first order Sobol indexes of the trapping coefficient R	128
4 18	Principle of the optimization technique	120
1.10		140

List of Algorithms

1	First order Sobol indexes of Z, f, and θ as a function of Z with [15°, 30°] as	
	a sampling space for θ	115
2	Total order Sobol indexes of Z, f, and θ as a function of Z with [15°, 30°]	
	as a sampling space for θ	119

General Introduction

Nowadays, no one can doubt the basic role of modeling in any scientific process. In short, a model is a systematic description of the relationship between input and output. It aims to imitate, translate, or predict the behavior of real systems. However, undesirable disturbances may prevent a model from achieving its aim perfectly. Indeed, scientists can not be completely accurate during the modeling process, while constructing the model and collecting the input data. This leads to the presence of uncertainty, indicating a state of being unsure about the correctness of the performance of the model. Consequently, it is becoming no longer acceptable to submit any scientific project without providing a comprehensive assessment of the reliability and validity of the results under the effect of uncertainty. For that, studying uncertainty is becoming of a great interest in almost all disciplines, considering it an essential procedure for robust modeling. This manuscript presents our work in developing new methods to deal with uncertainty, and applying such methods in different domains.

The input of a model usually consists of variables and parameters. The variables are said to be uncertain if it is not sure that the values given to run the model are the actual true ones. Mainly, variable uncertainty appears due to imperfect measurements, inherent variability, and incomplete data collection. In addition, the model is said to have parameter uncertainty if its parameters are not surely characterizing the real system. Such uncertainty arises due to poor calibrations, imprecise estimations, or bad curve fittings. Moreover, the model is said to have structural uncertainty if we cannot be confident that the form of the model is accurately imitating the real studied system. Usually, structural uncertainty appears due to ambiguity in the definitions of the given concepts, limitations of the acquired knowledge in the studied domain, or difficulties in some systems to be represented as equations or codes. Whenever there is uncertainty in the input or the model structure, the output of course will be uncertain, hence the obtained results can not be trusted. Moreover, this output uncertainty may end up with severe consequences, especially in some sensitive domains like risk assessment and decision making. A simple example in this manner is the uncertainty in the construction of an airplane. This may happen due to uncertainty in the global process from the pre-design step up to the final manufacturing and assembling. Such uncertainty, combined to unpredicted meteorological configurations, can be a reason for airplane crashes and crises. As a consequence, scientists insist that uncertainty cannot be tolerated or ignored, and it should be studied carefully.

The methods developed in this manner are of different concerns, depending on the source of the uncertainty (input, parameter, or model structure) and on the aim of the modeler. Some methods are concerned just with structural uncertainty. Other methods are dedicated for parameter and input variable uncertainty. Generally, these methods can be classified into three groups:

1. *Structural Uncertainty Assessment*: Methods in this group are applied only in case of structural uncertainty. They seek an optimal model representation of the real system with a reduced structural uncertainty as much as possible.

2. Uncertainty Quantification: Methods in this group are mainly applied in the case of input uncertainty. Their goal is to find a quantitative characterization of the uncertainty. Two types of uncertainty quantification methods exist: forward uncertainty propagation and backward uncertainty propagation. In the forward uncertainty propagation the uncertainty of the output is to be quantified by propagating the uncertainty of the input. In the backward uncertainty propagation, the input uncertainty is to be determined starting from the given output uncertainty.

3. *Sensitivity Analysis*: Methods in this group are applied in the case of input uncertainty. Their aim is to find which input elements have the genuine output impact. This helps in indicating whether an uncertain input element will cause a significant uncertainty in the output or not.

Note that the methods of sensitivity analysis are even applied in the case of absence of uncertainty. Indeed, their main goal is to detect the effect of each input on the output by studying the output variation with respect to the variation of the inputs. However, in an uncertainty study a sensitivity analysis is first done to detect the influence of each uncertain input according to its variation on its range of uncertainty. Then, for a model having several inputs, only the most influencing inputs are taken into account in the uncertainty study while the others are fixed at some specific values.

Relative to the methods of the groups considered above, the backward propagation of uncertainty is the one with least consideration in literature. In addition, rare studies have conducted input variable uncertainty, knowing that this uncertainty is frequently encountered especially in problems where the input variable is an experimental data. For that, in this thesis we focus on deriving a new backward uncertainty propagation method applied mainly for input variable uncertainty. In parallel to this, we followed a new manner while applying Sobol method which is an already existing sensitivity analysis method. The applications are done on two real models in order to keep the context of our work and the obtained conclusions realistic. This work is presented in this dissertation which is organized as follows:

In Chapter 1 we give a general review of the main methods in structure uncertainty assessment, uncertainty quantification, and sensitivity analysis. This will provide the necessary background concepts needed to study and understand uncertainty. There will be a clear focus on the uncertainty quantification and sensitivity analysis methods since these two topics are the main concern of our work. The methods are thoroughly described with their applicability and limitations.

In Chapter 2 we present a new derived backward uncertainty propagation method. The aim of this method is to determine the input uncertainty starting from the given data of the uncertain output. The main idea is to partition the output uncertainty between the inputs using the probabilistic representation of uncertainty. This partition helps in generating a nonlinear system of equations whose unknowns are the uncertainties of the inputs. The system can be solved solved numerically as a non linear least square problem, and the input uncertainty is obtained. The method is mainly applied in case of having input variable uncertainty, especially for problems with inputs coming from experimental data. Different examples are also presented in this chapter in order to see how the method is applied in reality. In general, the method is simple, however the partition of the output uncertainty becomes more complicated in the case of having a big number of inputs with a complex form of the model. In this case, sensitivity analysis can be used to detect the most impacting inputs, so that the backward propagation can be restricted to these important inputs. In this work we consider one of the sensitivity analysis methods, called Sobol method, and develop the way of applying it and analyzing its results. These ideas are presented in detail in the next chapters.

In Chapter 3 we present our first application of the Sobol sensitivity method. The aim of this application is to examine the performance of the Sobol method in case of having a model whose explicit form is unknown, plus having a limited number of data points to apply the sensitivity method numerically. The model considered in this application is from the domain of force spectroscopy, in which we study the sensitivity of an experimental curve called Electrostatic Force Distance Curve (EFDC). This curve is obtained by a microscopic scanning technique, which uses a very thin tip to scan surfaces. The EFDC plots the electrostatic force between this tip and a scanned dielectric. The EFDCs for different experimental settings are given as experimental data, then using this we study the sensitivity of this curve with respect to the variation of the settings which are considered as inputs. To derive the conclusions concerning the performance of the Sobol method we use Design Of Experiment (DOE). DOE is a methodology for designing experiments that allows, by some special plots, the analysis of the effect of the experimental factors on the response. For that we validate the sensitivity results of the Sobol method by the plots of DOE. All these notions are presented in detail in this chapter as well as the obtained conclusions and consequences.

In Chapter 4 we present a different framework for the application of the Sobol sensitivity

method from the already existing ones. Usually with the Sobol method the sensitivity is studied by computing for each input a sensitivity index that reflects the effect of this input on the output. Our idea in this chapter is to extend this by studying the evolution of these indexes with respect to an outside factor or an experimental condition like time, distance, and temperature. The aim of this extension is to detect the most convenient conditions at which conclusions about the impact of each input can be derived. In addition, studying the variation of Sobol indexes helps in giving more information about the inputs, which helps also in the backward propagation of uncertainty. In this manner we consider two different models.

The first model is from the domain of computer vision, which is a programming representation of a 3D reconstruction method called Shape-From-Template (SFT). This method uses a single 2D image and a 3D template to recover a deformed 3D surface. We study the sensitivity of this model with respect to the depth of the surface in front of the camera, its orientation, and the focal length of the camera by which the image is taken. The sensitivity indexes are then computed and analyzed as a variation of the depth. This helps in revealing how, at each depth, the position of the surface affects the quality of the reconstruction. All these specific points, the description of the SFT method, its sensitivity study and the conclusions derived are presented in this chapter.

The second considered model is a model for charge transport in dielectrics. This model is usually modeled using a set of partial differential equations however in this work we consider it as a black box model. We study its sensitivity with respect to four of its main inputs. The sensitivity indexes are studied under the variation of three experimental conditions: the temperature, the time and the intensity of the applied electric field. The aim of this study is to find the experimental conditions at which each input has the significant impact on the output. This highlights the experimental conditions that should be followed in order to acquire a data suitable for estimating each input. The details of these ideas and the results obtained are all presented in this chapter.

Finally we close up with the **Conclusion** chapter that gives a full summary of the work with the conclusions drawn and the future perspectives.

Note that we try to keep this manuscript self-contained as it may include some concepts from statistics (chapters 1 and 2), force spectroscopy (chapter 3), and computer vision (chapter 4). We try to make the information presented completely sufficient to understand how uncertainty is studied. However for further details, readers are invited to consult the references that will be mentioned in each chapter.

CHAPTER

Literature Review

Contents

1.1 Introduction
1.2 General notation of a model
1.3 Structural uncertainty assessment
1.4 Input uncertainty representation
1.5 Forward uncertainty propagation
1.5.1 Probabilistic methods
1.5.2 Non-Probabilistic methods
1.6 Backward uncertainty propagation
1.7 Sensitivity analysis 32
1.7.1 Local sensitivity analysis
1.7.2 Global sensitivity analysis
1.7.3 Sobol Method
1.8 Conclusion

1.1 Introduction

Methods for studying uncertainty are of great necessity in all disciplines. These methods are categorized into three main groups: structural uncertainty assessment, uncertainty quantification, and sensitivity analysis. In this chapter, we provide a literature review of these three groups. First, we start by giving the general notation of a model that will be used throughout this manuscript. Next, we briefly present the concept of the structural uncertainty assessment. Then we focus on the main methods of uncertainty quantification and sensitivity analysis. To ease the explanation of these methods we introduce the notion of the input uncertainty representation. Then we start by reviewing some forward uncertainty propagation methods, which are divided into two groups, probabilistic methods and non probabilistic methods. After that, we continue by reviewing some sensitivity analysis methods which are also divided into two main groups: local and global. For each presented method, we give its basic idea and then discuss its applicability and limitations. Lastly, we present the state of the art of the backward uncertainty propagation methods and then we finish off with a conclusion.

1.2 General notation of a model

Any model can be expressed formally as

$$F(x,\alpha) = y \tag{1.1}$$

The symbols x, y and α refer to the model input variable, output, and parameter. The model input variable x is a vector of n components in \mathcal{D} , where \mathcal{D} is the domain of F and $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ $(n \ge 1)$. x is the part of the model that varies in \mathcal{D} at each model run to generate a new output. The parameter α is a vector in \mathbb{R}^m $(m \ge 0)$. α is the part of the model that defines its characteristics. It does not change with each model run, however it is given an initialization value once at the beginning of the model use. Both x and α are called the input of the model. The F in the above notation represents the model's structure, it could be mathematical equation(s), computer code(s), or visual representation(s). The output y is the response of the input by F. It is considered here as a scalar, $y \in \mathbb{R}$, since same results hold for a multi-scalar output, by considering each component alone. In a modeling process, the parts of the model that can be uncertain are the input x, α and/or the model structure F.

It is important to note that, throughout this manuscript the model structure F is assumed to be deterministic and not stochastic i.e. it produces the same output when it is run exactly with the same input. In addition, the notation of the model that will be used is F(x) = y, the parameter symbol α is removed for simplicity as x plays the same role. In the next section we give a brief overview of the concepts of structural uncertainty and the methods used in this manner.

1.3 Structural uncertainty assessment

Structural uncertainty usually represents the lack of confidence that the structure of the constructed model reflects adequately the studied real system. In such cases, a modeler could not be sure that the output would be correct, even if the true values of all the inputs and parameters are known. To clarify this type of uncertainty, consider for example the case study of having the corresponding data points of a studied system and the aim is to find its structure. As shown in Fig. 1.1, the data points can be fitted by a logarithmic function and by a 4th root function. In this case it is not sure which formula is the true representation of the model, and hence there is a structural uncertainty.



Figure 1.1: The data fitted to a logarithmic function and to a 4th root function.

During modeling, several factors may lead to structural uncertainty. One of these factors is the simplifications and scientific judgments made when constructing and interpreting the model. Other factors are the incomplete understanding of the system under study and the inappropriate equations used to express this system. Even though these causes were taken in consideration, the definite elimination of structural uncertainty was impossible, however the emphasis was to reduce this uncertainty as much as possible. Methods of structural uncertainty assessment try to find the optimal model structure that best represents the real studied system.

Multi-model analysis [Lu et al., 2013] is mainly applied in this domain, in which plausible

models are built representing all the possible emulations of the true structure. Then a strategy is used to derive the aspect of the final model from the set of possible models. Model Selection [Leeb et Pötscher, 2005] and Model Averaging [Strong *et al.*, 2009] are the two most popular and broad approaches used in this context. In Model Selection, an optimal model from the set of models is selected according to some criteria provided by experts. Some criteria that are proposed in [Bojke *et al.*, 2009] include Residual Mean Squared Error, Finite-Prediction-Error, Minimum Variance Criteria, and subjective probabilities. On the other hand, in Model Averaging, instead of choosing one single model, the weighted average of the proposed models is taken. In this case, a suitable weight is assigned to each plausible model according to how much it matches reality.

Another method to cope structural uncertainty more flexibly is known as "Parameterization of structural uncertainty" [Strong *et al.*, 2012]. The idea is to describe the uncertainty of the model by introducing new uncertain parameters, for instance correction factors, boolean elements, or exogenous variables. Thus a single general model is constructed in such a way that every other plausible model is considered as a particular case of this general model. In such a situation, the general model is considered to be studied under the effect of only input uncertainty with no structural uncertainty.

Although these strategies seem straightforward and really helpful in reducing and studying structural uncertainty, they still have some limitations. Indeed, using Model Selection may be disadvantageous in several cases. This is because selecting one model will probably discard important eventualities from other alternative models. On the other hand, the Model Averaging strategy allows the collection of all possible models, however, when using large models with with highly computational cost, it becomes difficult to find the average. Parameterization of structural uncertainty is practical when dealing with structural uncertainty, however not all structural uncertainties are that easy to be represented by a parameter. As a conclusion, a modeler should be cautious while choosing the appropriate approach to reduce the structural uncertainty.

In this section, a general idea about methods that deal with structural uncertainty was presented. Although different methods exist in this manner, but none of them can guarantee that the true model can be attained. Thus the goal was to achieve the best level of confidence while choosing the structure of the model. In the following sections, we continue with the methods of uncertainty quantification and sensitivity analysis, which are the main focus of our work. However in the sequel we will assume that we are dealing with an exact true model that has no structural uncertainty.

1.4 Input uncertainty representation

For the sake of clarity, it is important to note that methods that study input uncertainty rely first on finding a representation of the uncertainty. Several ways have been proposed. However, the most practical and used one is the probabilistic way. In the following paragraph, in each method of uncertainty quantification and sensitivity analysis the associated representation way of uncertainty will be introduced. In exception, the probabilistic way is introduced here since its notion is used in most methods and in Chapter 2.

The uncertainty at an input point $\mathbf{a} = (\mathbf{a}_1, \dots, \mathbf{a}_n)$ is represented probabilistically by a random vector (vector of random variables) which will be denoted by $X = (X_1, \dots, X_n)$. Each X_i represents the uncertainty at a_i . The uncertainties at \mathbf{a}_i 's are assumed to be independent, and hence the random variables X_1, \dots, X_n are mutually independent. The realizations of each random variable X_i are the uncertain values x_i supplied to F that are supposed to be equal to \mathbf{a}_i . These realizations are collected in a set denoted by Ω_i . Then the collection of the realizations of the random vector x is the set $\Omega = \Omega_1 \times \cdots \times \Omega_n$. To clarify this notation of uncertainty consider the following example. Let

$$F(x_1, x_2) = \pi x_1 x_2^2 \tag{1.2}$$

be the function that gives the volume of some liquid in a cylinder. The first input x_1 represents the height attained by the liquid in the cylinder in mm, and the second input x_2 represents the radius of the cylinder also in mm. Suppose that for a certain liquid the values of x_1 and x_2 are 9.762 and 3.91 respectively, but these true exact values are not known. Thus to get the volume of the liquid, measurements for x_1 and x_2 should be done. The measurement process is pictured in Fig. 1.2.

Note that with the measurements of Fig. 1.2 we can not be sure about the exact values of x_1 and x_2 for the given liquid. This implies that there is input uncertainty for both



Figure 1.2: The measurements of the height x_1 and the radius of the cylinder x_2 .

variables x_1 and x_2 . Let X_1 be the random variable representing the uncertainty at x_1 , and let X_2 be the random variable representing the uncertainty at x_2 . Then the input uncertainty of F at the point (9.762, 3.91), which we suppose is not known, is represented by the random vector (X_1, X_2) . Note that the realizations of the random vector X_1 are all the possible true values for x_1 and they are collected in a set Ω_1 . Similarly for X_2 , its realizations are all the possible true values of x_2 and they are collected in a set Ω_2 . From Fig. 1.2, one can define the sets Ω_1 and Ω_2 by $\Omega_1 = [9.5, 10]$ and $\Omega_2 = [3.5, 4]$. We associate here intervals to the sets Ω_1 and Ω_2 since x_1 and x_2 take real values. So any real value between 9.5 and 10 is a possible true value for x_1 , and this gives an interval, and similarly for x_2 its possible true values are collected in an interval.

Actually what we present here is a very simple example of uncertainty that one may face. However in big problems, uncertainty could be much more complicated and it cannot be eliminated even with highly accurate measurements.

Now we continue with the probabilistic representation of the input uncertainty. Each random variable X_i , as a representation of the input uncertainty, is associated with a probability distribution which specifies the probability of each possible value x_i to be the true value \mathbf{a}_i . Here we distinguish two cases:

1. If Ω_i is not finite, X_i is a continuous random variable and its probability distribution is characterized by a probability density function. A simple example of this continuous case, is the uncertainty presented in the inputs of the example of Fig. 1.2. Realizations in this example are real numbers taken between two limits and Ω_i is an interval, thus it is not finite. In this case each X_i is characterized by a probability density function. Fig. 1.3(a) shows the probability density function of the height presented in the example above.

2. If Ω_i is finite, X_i is a discrete random variable and its probability distribution is characterized by a probability mass function. An example of this discrete case, is an uncertainty in an input which represents the number of items sold by a store per year. Realizations in this example are natural numbers and could not be real numbers, and so the Ω_i is for sure finite. In this case the random variable is characterized by a mass function (see Fig. 1.3(b)).



Figure 1.3: Probabilistic presentation of input uncertainty: (a) continuous distribution, (b) discrete distribution.

Usually input uncertainty is represented by a discrete random variable if the input itself represents a number of something, like items, so that the input takes only natural numbers (or integer values). In this case, the realizations of the associated random variable are integer values and hence the associated set of possible values is definitely finite. However continuous random variables are used to represent the input uncertainty for inputs taken from measurement or experiments. In this case, the possible true values are real numbers forming an infinite set, and in fact this is the most popular case.

In this work, we assume that the random variables X_1, \dots, X_n are continuous, however

the techniques presented are equally applicable for discrete distributions. The probability density functions of X_1, \dots, X_n are denoted by $p_1(x_1), \dots, p_n(x_n)$. Accordingly, the probability distribution of the random vector X is $p_X(x) = \prod_{i=1}^n p_i(x_i)$.

Usually, the probability distributions of the random variables are selected based on either prior data or subjective judgments of experts. In [Hammonds *et al.*, 1994], the authors proposed some simple guidelines to derive the appropriate continuous distribution. These guidelines state that when the data are limited and the uncertainty range is relatively small, a uniform distribution can be used and the associated support interval is characterized by the uncertainty range. If there is more knowledge about a most likely value or midpoint, in addition to the range of the uncertainty, a triangular distribution may be assigned. When the range of the uncertainty is very large, a log-uniform or log-triangular distribution may be more appropriate than the uniform or the triangular distribution. The assumption of normal, log-normal, or empirical distributions usually depends on the availability of the relevant data, where a fitting process is usually used to guess such probability density functions. In addition to this, the authors in [Hammonds *et al.*, 1994] indicated that other continuous distributions can be also used such as Gamma, Beta, and Poisson. Note that, analogous guidelines can be derived for the discrete case.

With this probabilistic representation of the input uncertainty at **a**, the corresponding output uncertainty at $F(\mathbf{a})$ is represented by a random variable denoted by Y. This random variable is defined as $Y = F(X_1, \dots, X_n)$, and its probability density function is denoted by p_Y . Note that the random variable Y and the random variables X_1, \dots, X_n are dependent, as y is a function of the other random variables.

The best estimate of the true value of **a** is given by the mean of X which will be denoted by $\mu_X = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n)$. Similarly, the best estimate of the true value of $F(\mathbf{a})$ is given by the mean of Y which will be denoted by μ_Y .

Concerning the quantity of uncertainty at **a**, it is usually represented by the variance of X, denoted by $V = (V_1, \dots, V_n)$. However, for some specific distributions, other statistical parameters can be used to represent the quantity of uncertainty. For instance, for a uniformly distributed random variable, the radius of the support vector could be used to represent the quantity of uncertainty since it gives the dispersion of the values around the expected value. Similarly, the quantity of the output uncertainty is usually

represented by the variance, which will be denoted by Var(Y). However, the quantity of the output uncertainty can also be represented by other statistical parameters depending on the associated distribution. In the following, whenever the probabilistic point of view is used to represent uncertainty, the representative of the quantity of the uncertainty will be stated explicitly.

1.5 Forward uncertainty propagation

Forward Uncertainty Propagation is performed to investigate the uncertainty in the model's output that is generated from the uncertainty in the model's input [Marino *et al.*, 2008]. The idea is to associate a representation for the input uncertainty, then accordingly try to find the output uncertainty in the same representation type. Methods in this group are classified as either probabilistic and non probabilistic, according to the way the input uncertainty is represented. Probabilistic methods use the probabilistic point of view to represent the input uncertainty (see section 1.4). Then through propagation, the probabilistic presentation of the model output is to be determined. Mainly, we seek the mean μ_y and the variance Var(Y) of the the random variable Y which represents the output uncertainty. Then, according to the used form, the associated output representation is to be determined. In the following two subsections, classical methods from both categories are presented.

1.5.1 Probabilistic methods

In the probabilistic uncertainty propagation methods, each uncertain input is represented by a random variable and it is specified by a probability density function. Then, model output, as a function of the model input, is also a random variable whose statistical moments are to be determined. Fig. 1.4 illustrates the probabilistic mode of the forward propagation of uncertainty.

The main concern is to find the first and the second moments of the output i.e. the mean and the variance. This task is devoted mainly to the propagation techniques. Dif-



Figure 1.4: Probabilistic propagation of input uncertainty.

ferent techniques are widely known in this manner, and the following is a summarized explanation of three of them. The first is called Monte Carlo, which is a simulation based technique. The second, generally known as Spectral Method, is based on functional expansion. The last one is the Perturbation Method, which is a local expansion based method.

Monte Carlo

Monte Carlo is one of the oldest and most popular simulation based methods in uncertainty propagation. It is used in order to estimate the mean value μ_Y and the variance Var(Y) as well as the probability density function of Y. First, M samples of input data values $\{x^k = (x_1^{(k)}, \dots, x_n^{(k)})\}_{k=1\dots M}$ are drawn randomly from the distributions of X_i , according to their probability density functions. These sample points are then run by the model F to obtain their corresponding output values. The obtained values of the output are then collected to find its statistical characteristics. For instance, the computation of the expectation and variance of the output Y is done using the approximation formulas:

$$\mu_Y = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{k=1}^M F(X^{(k)}) \tag{1.3}$$

$$Var(Y) = \frac{1}{M-1} \sum_{k=1}^{M} (F(X^{(k)}) - \mu_Y)^2$$
(1.4)

On the other hand, the distribution of Y can also be derived simply by using the obtained output data in a fitting process.

As it can be seen, the method is simple from a theoretical point of view, universally

applicable and does not require any assumptions on the model form as linearity or continuity. Moreover, the number of sample points M needed in the simulation is generally independent of n, the size of the input vector x [Helton et Davis, 2002]. However, it is important to note that the method converges to the exact stochastic solution as the number of samples goes to infinity, so thousands or millions of samples may be required to obtain accurate estimations [Iaccarino, 2009]. This could be problematic in the case of computationally expensive models and/or in the case of important size of input vector. Several methods have been developed to accelerate the convergence of the Monte Carlo approach. Indeed, in the basic Monte Carlo simulation, random sampling is used. However by using other sampling techniques, a faster convergence can be achieved. Examples of such sampling techniques are: stratified sampling, Latin Hyper cube sampling, sampling based on Sobol's sequences [Burhenne et al., 2011]. For instance, in Latin Hyper cube sampling the range of each input random variable X_i is divided into M equiprobable intervals. Then, M random samples are drawn, by collecting for each sample one element from each of the equiprobable intervals. Thus each sampled point is associated with one of the rows and one of the columns. This ensures more coverage of the range of the inputs than the case of just random sampling. Fig. 1.5 shows the difference between the random sampling (basic Monte Carlo) and the Latin Hyper cube sampling for eight samples for two inputs.



Figure 1.5: Scatter plot of sampling techniques: (a) Random sampling, (b) Latin Hyper cube sampling.

In Fig. 1.5, the Latin Hyper cube sampling shows some gaps and clusters like the random sampling because the sample size is too small. Note that as the number of samples in-

creases, the number of rows and columns increases, and hence there will be more coverage of the range of inputs.

To conclude, the Monte Carlo method is a practical method for propagating uncertainty, however its performance depends on the number of samples available. With the development of high performance software, computation of big samples becomes more easy. However it remains a problem for the models with high computation cost.

Spectral Methods

Spectral methods represent an alternative strategy for uncertainty propagation. Their basic idea is to write the model as an infinite sum of some basis functions. Indeed, this expansion eases the derivation of the moments (mean and variance) of the output random variable Y. Different basis functions have been used for such expansion, depending on the distribution of the input random variables X_1, \dots, X_n . However the most used basis are polynomials. Several approaches with different polynomial basis have been used [Gilli, 2013]. The most known one in this manner is the Polynomial Chaos Expansion (PCE), defined using multidimensional orthogonal polynomials as representative basis. Here, we give a general overview about the Polynomial Chaos Expansion, considering it as a typical illustration of the expansions of the spectral methods.

The first proposed Polynomial Chaos expansion employed the Hermite polynomials in terms of Gaussian random variables to generate the expanded series. According to [Lee et Chen, 2009], its expression is:

$$u = a_0 H_0 + \sum_{i_1=1}^{\infty} a_{i_1} H_1(\phi_{i_1}) + \sum_{i_1=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i_2=1}^{i_1} a_{i_1 i_2} H_2(\phi_{i_1}, \phi_{i_2}) + \sum_{i_1=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i_2=1}^{i_1} \sum_{i_3=1}^{i_2} a_{i_1 i_2 i_3} H_3(\phi_{i_1}, \phi_{i_2}, \phi_{i_3}) + \dots$$
(1.5)

for an arbitrary random variable u, where $\{\phi_{i_1}\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ is a set of standard normal variables, H_i is a generic element in the set of multidimensional Hermite polynomials of order i, and a_i are coefficients to be determined. For convenience, the expression was rewritten in a more compact way:

$$u = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} b_i \Psi_i(\phi) \tag{1.6}$$

where b_i and $\Psi_i(\phi)$ correspond to $a_{i_1i_2...i_p}$ and $H_p(\phi_{i_1}, \phi_{i_2}, ..., \phi_{i_p})$ respectively. Note that the orthogonality property with respect to the standard normal probability density function of the Hermite polynomials implies that

$$E[\Psi_i \Psi_j] = E[\Psi_i^2] \delta_{ij} \quad and \quad E[\Psi_i] = 0 \quad for \ i \neq 0$$
(1.7)

where E represents the expectation. Hence, the set $\{\Psi_i\}$ forms an orthogonal basis of the space of functions having normally distributed variables.

In practice, when there are n uncertain inputs standard normally distributed, the output response can be approximated by n-dimensional PCE, truncated at some order p [Lee et Chen, 2009]. In this case, the number of terms in PCE becomes P + 1 where P is given as

$$P = \sum_{s=1}^{p} \frac{(n+s-1)!}{s!(n-1)!}$$
(1.8)

Thus, the model output approximation is given by

$$\tilde{Y} = \sum_{i=0}^{P} b_i \Psi_i(X) \tag{1.9}$$

with $X = (X_1, X_2, ..., X_n)$. The derivation of the coefficients can be carried out analytically [Schick, 2011], otherwise by utilizing sampling or projection techniques [Le Maître et Knio, 2010].

Since the above procedures are only compatible with standard normal variables, the way of treating other random variables became an important issue. To cope with this problem, a generalized PCE was proposed based on different polynomial basis, where each corresponded to a set of orthogonal polynomials related to the underlying probability density function of the random vector. With the generalized PCE, non-normal distributions such as beta, gamma, and uniform distributions could be used as a standard input vector [Lee et Chen, 2009]. Accordingly, Gaussian variables ware best approximated by Hermite polynomials. Legendre polynomials accounted for the best approximation of a uniformed distributed variable, whereas Jacobi polynomials should be used for Beta distributions [Sepahvand *et al.*, 2010].

Unfortunately, this generalization maintained the property that only identical random

variables can be involved in the same expansion. Thus, later, the approach was extended by assuming that the input vector components are independent distinct random variables, where a multi-dimensional basis is constructed as a simple product of the corresponding constructed one dimensional orthogonal polynomials.

Once the expansion of the model function is obtained, the moments (mean and variance) of the output can be derived. While the accuracy of the generalized PC approach can be improved by increasing the polynomial order of truncation, it should also be noted that as the number of inputs and the expansion order increase, the number of unknown coefficients to be determined increases exponentially, thereby increasing the computational costs [Kewlani *et al.*, 2012]. Thus this method is suitable for models with a small number of uncertain inputs.

Perturbation Method

The Perturbation method is an alternative way for uncertainty propagation, based on local expansion of the model function [Sudret, 2007]. The idea is to consider the truncated Taylor expansion of the model F in the neighborhood of μ_X the mean of the input random vector X:

$$F(X) = F(\mu_X) + \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial F}{\partial X_i} \Big|_{X=\mu} (X_i - \mu_i)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial X_i \partial X_j} \Big|_{X=\mu} (X_i - \mu_i) (X_j - \mu_j) + o(||X - \mu_X||^2)$$
(1.10)

Then the expectation of Y is:

$$\mu_Y = E[Y] = E[F(X)] \approx F(\mu) + \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial F}{\partial X_i} \Big|_{X=\mu} E[(X_i - \mu_i)] + \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^N \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial X_i \partial X_j} \Big|_{X=\mu} E[(X_i - \mu_i)(X_j - \mu_j)]$$
(1.11)

Note that $E[(X_i - \mu_i)] = 0$ for every *i*, and $E[(X_i - \mu_i)(X_j - \mu_j)] = Cov(X_i, X_j)$. However, the assumption of independence between the inputs uncertainties implies that $Cov(X_i, X_j) = 0$ for all $i \neq j$. Hence, the expectation of Y is simplified into:

$$\mu_Y = E[F(X)] \approx F(\mu) + \sum_{i=1}^n \left. \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial^2 X_i} \right|_{X=\mu} V_i \tag{1.12}$$

As it can be seen, the expectation of the uncertain output is approximated by two terms. The first term is $F(\mu_X)$, the value of the model F at the mean of the uncertain input, which is called the first order approximation of μ_Y . The second term is a second order correcting term which depends on the variances of the inputs and the partial derivatives of the model form F. In a similar manner, the variance of Y can be approximated. So starting from the formula:

$$Var(Y) = E[(Y - E(Y))^2] \approx E[(Y - F(\mu))^2]$$
 (1.13)

Using the Taylor expansion, then Var(Y) is approximated by:

$$Var(Y) \approx E\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial F}{\partial X_{i}}\Big|_{X=\mu} (X_{i} - \mu_{i})\right)^{2}\right]$$

$$\approx \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial F}{\partial X_{i}}\Big|_{X=\mu} \frac{\partial F}{\partial X_{j}}\Big|_{X=\mu} E[(X_{i} - \mu_{i})(X_{j} - \mu_{j})]$$
(1.14)

As $E[(X_i - \mu_i)(X_j - \mu_j)] = 0$ for all $i \neq j$, Var(Y) ends up with:

$$Var(Y) \approx \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial X_i} \Big|_{X=\mu} \right)^2 V_i$$
 (1.15)

An interpretation of this approximation implies that the variance of the response is the sum of contributions of each input, where each contribution is a mix of the variance of this input and the gradient of the response with respect to this input.

This method appears quite general and it is applied at a low computational cost, especially if the gradient of the model response is available. However, it can be applied only for models with small uncertainties, due to the local nature of the Taylor expansion approximation.

Note that the choosing between spectral method and perturbation method for uncer-

tainty propagation, is the same as choosing between high accuracy and less cost. Spectral methods rely on complete expansion of the model while the perturbation method relies on the local expansion of the model. The first costs more, but give more accurate results than the second. Thus in applications one should compromise between cost and accuracy.

In this subsection, three different uncertainty propagation methods were revised. The common point between these methods is that they rely on the probabilistic representation of uncertainty. Their main goal is to find the probabilistic moments of the output uncertainty. This is done either numerically by simulation (Monte Carlo method) or by using an expansion of the output formula (spectral and perturbation methods). In general, these methods are considered simple from a theoretical point of view. In the next section, non probabilistic methods for uncertainty propagation are presented. The concept of some of these methods may be considered as generalization of the probabilistic approach, however some other methods have completely different notions.

1.5.2 Non-Probabilistic methods

As discussed in the previous section, the probabilistic uncertainty propagation methods are usually applied when the information about the uncertain inputs are sufficient to construct a probabilistic distribution. However, if the information of the uncertain element is insufficient, the non-probabilistic approaches can be used [Gao *et al.*, 2011]. Below, alternative approaches to the probabilistic approach of uncertainty presentation are discussed, including Interval theory, Fuzzy theory, Possibility theory, and Evidence theory. The way the uncertainty is propagated using these uncertainty presentation approaches is also discussed.

Interval Analysis

Interval analysis [Moore *et al.*, 2009] is one of the simplest ways to propagate uncertainty in data-poor situations. In interval analysis, it is assumed that nothing is known about the uncertain input except that it lies within certain bounds. Each uncertain input is represented by an interval. An interval here refers to a close set in \mathbb{R} , which includes the possible values of a number. An interval is usually expressed as $[\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b}] = \{c \in \mathbb{R}, \mathfrak{a} \leq c \leq \mathfrak{b}\}$,
where the real numbers \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} are the lower and upper limits of the interval. According to the author of [P Swiler *et al.*, 2009], the problem of uncertainty propagation can be turned into an interval analysis problem: given the inputs' uncertainties represented by intervals, what is the corresponding interval of the output uncertainty?

The interval of the output uncertainty is determined by finding the infimum and supremum attained by the model when the uncertain inputs vary entirely over their associated intervals. When the model is a simple expression with simple arithmetic operations $(+, -, \times, \div)$, then the output interval is determined by extending these elementary arithmetic operations to intervals. Such extension is as follows

$$I \quad op \quad J = \{c \quad op \quad d \text{ such that } c \in I, d \in J\}$$
(1.16)

where I and J are two intervals, and op refers to one of the arithmetic operations. However, the determination of the output interval becomes much more complicated if the model has a complex form. Non linear optimization problems might be used to determine the upper and the lower limits of the output interval. This probably requires a large number of model evaluations. Furthermore, most optimization solvers are local, and thus the global optima is not guaranteed. Which means that it is not easy to find the infimum and supremum. Hence, to solve interval analysis problems properly, global methods must be used, and usually these approaches can be very expensive.

In brief, interval analysis is suitable for propagating uncertainty in problems where the model has an elementary form, with a small number of inputs.

Fuzzy Set Theory

Another approach to represent the uncertainty of the input is the Fuzzy Set Theory. In the Fuzzy Set Theory, an uncertain input is treated as fuzzy number, and its corresponding uncertainty is characterized by membership functions. Such membership functions associate a weight between 0 and 1 to every possible value of the uncertain input. Then, to propagate the input uncertainty and find the output uncertainty, the output membership function is to be determined. To this end, some procedures are carried. Here, we give a quick review of the notions of the Fuzzy Set theory as it is used in uncertainty propagation. The starting point will be the definition of the widely used term "Fuzzy Set". Let \mathfrak{U} be a universe set of τ values (elements), set A is called a fuzzy set if it is composed of ordered pairs in the following form:

$$A = \{(\tau, \Phi_A(\tau)) \mid \tau \in \mathfrak{U}, \ \Phi_A(\tau) \in [0, 1]\}$$

$$(1.17)$$

where $\Phi_A(\tau)$ is the degree of membership of τ in A. The function Φ_A is called the *membership function of* A.

A special case of fuzzy sets are the so-called fuzzy numbers. According to [Schulz et Huwe, 1999], a Fuzzy number A is a fuzzy set satisfying the following :

1. The membership function Φ_A is piecewise continuous, and the elements τ are real numbers, i.e. $A = \{(\tau, \Phi_A(\tau)) \mid \tau \in \mathfrak{U} \subseteq \mathbb{R}, \ \Phi_A(\tau) \in [0, 1] \}.$

2. A is normal, i.e. there exists at least one $(\tau, \Phi_A(\tau)) \in A$ such that $\Phi_A(\tau) = 1$.

3. A is a convex set, i.e. for any $(\tau_1, \Phi_A(\tau_1)), (\tau_2, \Phi_A(\tau_2))$, and $(\tau_3, \Phi_A(\tau_3)) \in A$, the following implication holds:

$$\tau_1 < \tau_3 < \tau_2 \Rightarrow \Phi_A(\tau_3) \ge \min\{\Phi_A(\tau_1), \Phi_A(\tau_2)\}$$

$$(1.18)$$

This simple concept of fuzzy numbers permits its application in the domain of uncertainty propagation. Indeed, an uncertainty at one real valued input point \mathbf{a}_i of point $\mathbf{a} = (\mathbf{a}_1, \dots, \mathbf{a}_n)$ is represented by a fuzzy number A_i with a specific membership function Φ_i . The elements τ of A_i are the uncertain values supplied to F that are supposed to be equal to \mathbf{a}_i . The membership function Φ_i is usually constructed based on the available information about the uncertain input. In this manner, a general followed guidance is: the closer $\Phi_i(\tau)$ is to 1, the more the element τ is accepted as a true value for \mathbf{a}_i , and the closer it is to 0, the less it is accepted. Several forms of the membership function of a fuzzy numbers has been developed and used in the domain of uncertainty [Wierman, 2010], including triangular and trapezoidal shaped membership functions. Illustrations of such membership functions are given in Fig. 1.6 to represent the uncertainty of a measured quantity around the value 10.



Figure 1.6: Fuzzy membership functions: (a) Triangular, (b) Trapezoidal.

After associating to each uncertain input a fuzzy number, the propagation of uncertainty is performed using the extended principle of fuzzy set theory [Maskey *et al.*, 2004]. According to this principle, the membership function of the output y is given by:

$$\Phi_{y}(y) = \begin{cases} \sup\{\min(\Phi_{1}(x_{1}), \cdots, \Phi_{n}(x_{n})) & y = f(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \\ 0 & \text{if no } (x_{1}, \cdots, x_{n}) \text{ exist such that } f(x_{1}, \cdots, x_{N}) = y \end{cases}$$
(1.19)

Thus, the uncertain output is represented by a fuzzy number $\{(y, \Phi_y(y))\}$. Its membership function is determined at each possible value y of $F(\mathbf{a})$ by applying the formula (1.19). This indicates the spread of the output uncertainty as well as the most probable true value $F(\mathbf{a})$.

This method of uncertainty propagation has been applied in various domains, examples are in [Schulz et Huwe, 1999; Maskey *et al.*, 2004], where usually the number of uncertain parameters is small, or the model form is monotone with respect to the inputs. In cases where more complex models have to operate on fuzzy numbers, the above procedure results in nonlinear numerical optimization problems at each possible value of the output, and hence this would be computationally expensive.

The Dempster-Shafer Theory

The Dempster-Shafer Theory(DST), also known as evidence theory, is an uncertainty propagation method used when the available information is mostly provided by experts.

Unlike probability theory, in DST there are two measures of likelihood and not a single probability distribution function. These two measures are called *belief* and *plausibility*. The following paragraph is a description of the derivation of such measures as well as their role in uncertainty propagation. Readers interested in more details about DST are referred to [Baraldi et Zio, 2010].

As a first step for quantifying the input uncertainty in DST, a finite set Ω_i is assigned to each uncertain input x_i at the uncertain point \mathbf{a}_i consisting of all the uncertain values supplied to F that are supposed to be equal to \mathbf{a}_i . Then a mass function is associated with each set Ω_i , called the *Basic Belief Assignment* (BBA) and denoted by B_i . The BBA is a mapping $B_i : \mathbb{P}(\Omega_i) \longrightarrow [0, 1]$ satisfying:

$$B_i(\phi) = 0$$
 and $\sum_{A \subset \Omega_i} B_i(A) = 1$ (1.20)

where $\mathbb{P}(\Omega_i)$ is the power-set of Ω_i i.e. the set of all subsets of Ω_i . For every $A \subset \Omega_i$, the value $B_i(A)$ indicates how likely the true value of the uncertain input falls within the subset A. Each $A \subset \Omega_i$ with $B_i(A) > 0$ is called a focal element of B_i . Note that, as $\sum_{A \subset \Omega_i} B_i(A) = 1$, the BBA function has a finite number of focal elements. Moreover, a BBA function is completely defined by these focal elements and their associated masses according to [Limbourg, 2008].

In DST, the function B_i is not the fundamental measure of likelihood. Rather, this BBA is used to derive the two measures of likelihood: the belief and the plausibility. According to [Helton *et al.*, 2004], the belief, Bel(A), and the plausibility, Pl(A), for a subset $A \subset \Omega_i$ are defined by:

$$Bel_i(A) = \sum_{C \subseteq A} B_i(C) \tag{1.21}$$

and

$$Pl_i(A) = \sum_{C \cap A \neq \emptyset} B_i(C) \tag{1.22}$$

Observe that these two summations can be simply computed since B_i has a finite number of focal elements. Further more, the belief $Bel_i(A)$ is commonly considered as a lower bound of the probability that the true value of x_i is within A. On the other hand, the plausibility $Pl_i(A)$ is considered as an upper bound for this probability. Thus, together, belief and plausibility define an interval-valued probability distribution $[Bel_i(A), Pl_i(A)]$, and not a single probability distribution [Giunta et Swiler, 2007].

Now, as the uncertainty of each input x_i is characterized by Bel_i and Pl_i , it is now the question about the uncertainty of the output. In fact, to propagate the uncertainty using DST theory, it is required to find the belief and plausibility functions of y, denoted Bel_y and Pl_y respectively. In [Helton *et al.*, 2004], the author indicated a practical way to find both Bel_y and Pl_y . First a generalization of the BBA denoted by B_x is defined on $\Omega = \Omega_1 \times \cdots \times \Omega_n$ by:

$$B_x(A) = \prod_{i=1}^n B_i(A_i)$$
 (1.23)

where $A = A_1 \times \cdots \times A_n \subseteq \Omega$ and each $A_i \subseteq \Omega_i$. Then, the image of Ω by the model function F is by definition

$$F(\Omega) = \{F(x), \text{ for every } x = (x_1, \cdots, x_N) \in \Omega_1 \times \Omega_2 \dots \times \Omega_N\}$$
(1.24)

This $F(\Omega)$ represents the set of all possible values of the uncertain output y. Accordingly, for every $A \subseteq F(\Omega)$, the two measure functions of its belief and plausibility are defined as follows:

$$Bel_y(A) = Bel_y(F^{-1}(A)) = \sum_{C \subseteq F^{-1}(A)} B_x(C)$$
 (1.25)

and

$$Pl_y(A) = Pl_y(F^{-1}(A)) = \sum_{C \cap F^{-1}(A) \neq \emptyset} B_x(C)$$
 (1.26)

where $F^{-1}(A) = \{x \in \Omega; F(x) \in A\}$. These functions Bel_y and Pl_y characterize the uncertainty in the output y.

Despite the simplicity of the concept of this method, its application in practice depends on the number of the uncertain inputs involved in the analysis. In addition, it depends on the number of possible values of each uncertain element. Moreover, the evaluation of Ω , its image by F, and then the two measures become more complex as the number of uncertain inputs increase.

Possibility Theory

Possibility theory provides another alternative to probability theory for uncertainty rep-

resentation. As Dempster-Shafer Theory, possibility theory involves two measures for likelihood, a *necessity* and a *possibility*. The following is a summary of how necessity and possibility are derived, and their contribution in uncertainty propagation.

In any modeling process, where the available data is incomplete to assign a random variable for an uncertain input x_i at an input point \mathbf{a}_i in a probabilistic mode, possibility theory can be used instead of probability theory. A possibility function Pos_i is defined on Ω_i , the set of all possible values x_i . This function assigns to each element ξ in Ω_i a degree in the interval [0, 1]. Such a function specifies which values are possible to be the true ones and which are less possible. It also differentiates between the values that are surprising to be true and the values that are expected to be true. More precisely, if for some $\xi \in \Omega_i$, $Pos_i(\xi) = 0$, this means that ξ is impossible and totally surprising to be true. On the other hand, if $Pos_i(\xi) = 1$, then ξ is considered as totally possible and unsurprising to be true, however it could not be true at all. Indeed, $Pos_i(\xi) = 1$ is a much weaker property than saying probability is 1 [Ripamonti *et al.*, 2013]. Analogously to the Dempster-Shafer Theory, possibility theory introduces two likelihood measures, possibility and necessity. For any $A \subseteq \Omega_i$, the possibility and necessity for A are defined as follows [Ripamonti *et al.*, 2013]:

$$\mathcal{P}_i(A) = \sup_{\xi \in A} Pos_i(\xi) \tag{1.27}$$

and

$$\mathcal{N}_i(A) = 1 - \mathcal{P}_i(A^c) = 1 - \sup_{\xi \notin A} Pos_i(\xi)$$
(1.28)

where $A^c = \Omega_i \setminus A$. After finding the \mathcal{P}_i and \mathcal{N}_i of each uncertain input, then, in a similar way to Dempster-Shafer method, the possibility and necessity of y are derived. These two measures \mathcal{P}_y and \mathcal{N}_y characterize the possibility of each of the possible values of the outcome. Moreover, as the number of the inputs increase, it become more expensive to compute such measures.

In this section several non probabilistic approaches for forward uncertainty propagation were presented. The idea is first to find a representation of the input uncertainty and then find output uncertainty according to this representation. In this manner, some methods adopt simple representations like interval theory, and other methods use more complicated concepts like fuzzy set theory. In addition, some non probabilistic methods use a generalization of the probabilistic representation to propagate uncertainty. Nevertheless the probabilistic approaches are still considered to be more practical than the non probabilistic methods, for that, probabilistic representation is more preferred in applications. In the next section we give the state of art of the backward propagation of uncertainty and see how it differs from the forward propagation.

1.6 Backward uncertainty propagation

The basic idea of the Backward uncertainty propagation is to start from some output data in order to quantify the input uncertainty [Chantrasmi et Iaccarino, 2012]. Due to confusion, it should be noted that backward propagation differs from the well known topics *Parameter Calibration* and *Inverse Problem*. Indeed, *Parameter Calibration* and *Inverse Problem* are concerned in estimating the parameters of a model, and not the uncertainty, starting from output data. Methods for backward propagation are the least developed among the methods that are derived to study uncertainty [Chen *et al.*, 2015]. Even more, there are no clear guidelines in literature for the applications done in this manner. Maybe this is because the backward propagation problem can be an ill posed problem in some cases, since different partitions of the input uncertainties may give the same output uncertainty. This makes the problem more challenging.

The first attempt for a backward propagation method was to find an inverse of the model and then apply a forward propagation procedure. In this way the input uncertainty can be derived by propagating the output uncertainty as in [Chen *et al.*, 2015]. One of the big obstacles for this approach is that most models cannot be easily inverted, especially complicated black box models. In some applications, modelers try to find a meta model of the initial model, in which this meta model can be inverted. For instance, in [Baumgärtel *et al.*, 2014] the model is approximated by a Gaussian process. Then using this Gaussian process the mean and the variance of the input uncertainty are computed. Another example in [Chantrasmi et Iaccarino, 2012], where a non continuous model is approximated by a fraction of polynomials. Then using this approximation, the backward propagation is done. Unfortunately, not all models can be easily approximated into simpler ones and get their inverse and then apply a forward propagation of uncertainty. Thus a backward propagation method adapted to deal with the model itself, not its inverse, is really needed.

In the few other applications done in backward propagation domain, the main concept that is used is the Bayesian Inference. In statistics, inference refers to the process of deducing the properties of a probability distribution by the analysis of data [Keeping, 1962]. Bayesian inference, which is one of the approaches of statistical inference, is used to quantify the input uncertainties in a probabilistic framework based on the available output data. However, it is also required to have at least a basic idea about the input uncertainty. In the following paragraphs, we give the general formalism of the Bayesian inference used in the backward uncertainty propagation.

Bayesian Inference

The basic idea of the Bayesian inference is to use the output data and prior information about the input uncertainty in order to give a probabilistic characterization of the input uncertainty. In this method, quantification of the input uncertainty is done as an update of the already acquired information.

First, the prior information of the input uncertainty is used to drive a probabilistic distribution of the random variable X called *prior distribution*. This prior distribution represents the probability distribution of the input uncertainty before any output data is collected. Usually, this distribution is extracted from physical constraints, expert knowledge, and previous experimental data [Nagel, 2017]. For instance, uniform distributions are often chosen for inputs that can be bounded from above and below, as having some physical constraints. Gaussian or lognormal distributions are often used for parameters that are unbounded or strictly positive. Alternatively, the Principle of Maximum Entropy [Jaynes, 1957] provides an objective method to determine suitable prior distributions that yield optimal representation of the uncertainty given the available information.

The backward propagation of uncertainty is done by updating the prior distribution using the output data. The new updated distribution is called the *Posterior distribution*. It is defined as the probability distribution of X conditioned to the given data represented by Y. Its formula is given by the well known Bay's Law:

$$p_X(x|y) = \frac{P_{XY}(x,y)}{p_Y(y)} = \frac{p_Y(y|x)p_X(x)}{p_Y(y)}$$
(1.29)

In the above equation, $p_Y(y|x)$ is known as *likelihood function*. This function is considered as the connection between the output and the input uncertainty. $p_Y(y)$ is the distribution of Y, and it can be computed using the following formula:

$$p_Y(y) = \int p_Y(y|x) p_X(x) dx \tag{1.30}$$

where dp refers to integration over the probability space of X. An illustration of this backward propagation method is given in Fig. 1.7 :



Figure 1.7: Bayesian inference for backward uncertainty propagation: prior distribution and output data are used to derive a posterior distribution.

In Fig. 1.7, both the prior and the posterior distributions are normal distributions. However in reality the posterior is a complex probability distribution even if the prior distribution is a simple one [Nagel, 2017]. Moreover, the posterior and the prior distributions need not to be of the same family. If the prior and the posterior distributions are in the same family, then they are are called conjugate distributions.

Note that the posterior probability density function holds all the information of the input uncertainty. So for instance, the mean value which represents the best estimate of the uncertain input is computed by :

$$E[X|y] = \int x p_X(x|y) dx \tag{1.31}$$

Even the covariance matrix of $X = (X_1, \dots, X_n)$ can be computed using the formula:

$$Cov(X|y) = \int (x - E[X|y])(x - E[X|y])^T p_X(x|y) dx$$
(1.32)

where $(x - E[X|y])^T$ refers to the transpose of the vector (x - E[X|y]). By the assumption that the X_i 's are mutually independent, the covariance matrix is a diagonal matrix, where the diagonal elements are the associated variances representing the quantity of the input uncertainty. Even though formulae (1.31) and (1.32) are used in the derivation of input uncertainty, the computation is usually done numerically without finding the explicit formula of the posterior distribution.

As it can be seen, Bayesian inference for backward propagation depends mainly on the prior distribution. This initial guess of the input uncertainty cannot be easily established. In chapter 2, we introduce a new backward propagation method that does not rely on the prior distribution of the input uncertainty. Instead the input uncertainty is computed by decomposing the variance of Y in terms of the statistical moments of the X_i 's. Note that the problem of backward propagation becomes more difficult as the number of inputs increases. In such a case, sensitivity analysis is used in order to detect the most important inputs and hence involve them in the uncertainty study. In the next section we give the general idea of sensitivity analysis and then we detail the most common sensitivity methods. The focus will be on the Sobol method, which constitutes the cornerstone of the work of chapter 3 and 4.

1.7 Sensitivity analysis

The modeling of complex systems usually requires a large number of inputs. Carrying an uncertainty analysis involving all these inputs would be a real burden. However, in most real world problems, only a limited number of inputs happens to influence the response significantly [Sudret, 2007]. Thus, it is essential to determine which inputs contribute most to the output variability and which of them are insignificant so that they can be ignored during investigation. In this manner, sensitivity analysis has gained considerable attention, as it assesses how variations in the model output can be apportioned to different input sources [Marino *et al.*, 2008]. So, sensitivity analysis indicates how much

each uncertain input contributes to the output uncertainty. This helps in detecting the essential inputs.

Sensitivity analysis was firstly performed qualitatively [Gan *et al.*, 2015], in which a statement of confidence as "low", "moderate", "high" was given to describe the impact of an uncertain input on the output. Unfortunately, such statements are difficult to be interpreted practically. Later, quantitative methods appeared substantially, giving a new form for the sensitivity analysis. In quantitative sensitivity analysis methods, an index is assigned to each input, reporting how much the output responds to the changes in the values of this input. In fact, these methods enable analysts to rank the inputs according to their impact on the output, and thus improving the state of knowledge in order to reduce output uncertainty more effectively.

Quantitative sensitivity analysis methods are divided into two main categories: local and global [Saltelli *et al.*, 2000]. Local sensitivity analysis methods derive the sensitivity index of each input by computing or approximating the partial derivative of the model function in a specific neighborhood of the input. On the other hand, global sensitivity analysis methods derive the sensitivity indexes by allowing inputs to vary over the whole range of their possible values [Tong, 2007]. In the next two subsections, methods from both categories are represented. Recall that the model is assumed to be deterministic, i.e. it gives identical results when it is run with exactly the same set of input values.

1.7.1 Local sensitivity analysis

Local sensitivity analysis concentrates on the local impact of the inputs on the model's output [Cacuci, 2003]. It is based on the computation of the partial derivatives of the model with respect to each input at some specific value of the input. Here we will assign the value at which the partial derivative is computed by \mathbf{a} , so this is to say the sensitivity of the model F is studied locally at \mathbf{a} . The idea behind using the partial derivative to study sensitivity comes from the fact that: varying a single input x_i in the vicinity of \mathbf{a}_i , while keeping other inputs fixed, will provide a comprehensive assessment of the effect of x_i on the model's output. The partial derivative then is called the sensitivity index of

F at \mathbf{a}_i . Numerous techniques have been developed to compute the gradient of a model efficiently, here the main ideas of the direct method, indirect method, and the automatic differentiation methods will be represented consecutively.

When the considered model is expressed as an explicit algebraic equation, a symbolic computation of the partial derivatives of this equation can produce the sensitivity index. Such a method is usually referred to as the direct method. Moreover, to ensure a more comparable concept, normalized sensitivity coefficients can be computed instead. The idea is just to multiply the partial derivative by the ratio of the value of an input over the value of the output. So the normalized sensitivity index of F at \mathbf{a}_i is:

$$S_i = \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_i}(\mathbf{a}) \times \frac{\mathbf{a}_i}{F(\mathbf{a})} \tag{1.33}$$

The advantage of the normalized sensitivity coefficients is that they are dimensionless, this facilitates identifying the most sensitive inputs. Note that these methods cannot be applied to models with non specified mathematical equations, like computer codes. In addition, it may become troublesome when having models with complicated expressions. In such situations, symbolic computation of the partial derivatives becomes inefficient even with the use of the modern computer algebra systems such as *Mathematica* and *Maple*. In these cases, numerical methods are much preferred.

One of the most applicable numerical methods for deriving partial derivatives is the finite difference method, also known as the indirect method or the Brute Force method. The model is solved first at the specified value of the inputs, then a perturbation is added just to one input element and the model is resolved. This generates sensitivity indexes in the following form

$$S_i = \frac{F(\mathbf{a}_1, \cdots, \mathbf{a}_i + \Delta x_i, \cdots, \mathbf{a}_n) - F(\mathbf{a}_1, \cdots, \mathbf{a}_i, \cdots, \mathbf{a}_n)}{\Delta x_i}$$
(1.34)

Thus for computing sensitivity indexes for n inputs, this method requires at least n + 1 model evaluations. Hence, one should be cautious in the case when n is large.

Despite the large applicability of the indirect method, it is usually associated with the challenge of selecting the input step size Δx_i . As the indirect finite difference method intended a local investigation of sensitivity, then by choosing a large step size this aim will

not be satisfied. On the other hand, if the step size is too small, the difference between the original and perturbed solutions can be so small, leading to serious numerical errors in the solution.

To overcome such limitations of the numerical methods, more sophisticated techniques have been instituted, named under Automatic Differentiation (AD) [Sandu, 1997]. In general, AD is a way to give numerical values of the derivatives while using algebraic manipulation steps for the computation, thus giving more accurate values than the numerical methods. Moreover, unlike the direct method which uses symbolic computation just for models formulated under explicit mathematical expressions, AD techniques differentiate computer codes. Indeed, in AD a compiler analyses the code of the model, then adds some instructions to the code, which are needed to compute derivatives, in a manner that reduces complexity and saves computational time. Then, the new expanded code can automatically evaluate the partial derivatives of the output with respect to the inputs with minimum human effort. The basic idea of such a process lies within the fact that any computer program, no matter how complicated, performs a sequence of binary (+, -) $-, \times, \div$) or/and unitary (sin, power, square root, log) operations. Thus, by applying the chain rule successively to these operations, derivatives of arbitrary order can be computed automatically, exactly up to machine error, and using more arithmetic operations than the original program.

Two main modes are usually used in the AD techniques, the forward mode and the backward mode. In the forward mode, chain rule is applied from inside to outside while in the backward mode, chain rule is applied from outside to inside. So for example, if some function $\Upsilon(t) = g(h(t))$, then by chain rule $\frac{\partial \Upsilon}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial g}{\partial h} \frac{\partial h}{\partial t}$, thus in the forward mode $\frac{\partial h}{\partial t}$ is computed first, while $\frac{\partial g}{\partial h}$ is firstly computed in the backward mode. Although, this method is much more effective than other differentiation methods, it is given less attention. This is mostly because it is poorly understood, plus it is frequently confused with the better known symbolic and numerical differentiation methods.

In addition to the above three differentiation techniques, several alternative methods exist to find local sensitivity indexes, such as the Green function methods and polynomial approximation. However all such methods only investigate the behavior of the model in a small neighborhood of \mathbf{a}_i , which may not take into account all the possible values of the uncertain input \mathbf{a}_i . In addition, these methods do not taking into consideration the effect of inputs' interactions on the output. In order to generalize the concept of sensitivity analysis and overcome the limitation of local sensitivity analysis, the notion of global sensitivity analysis methods were developed. The next section details thid notion for better investigation of sensitivity analysis.

1.7.2 Global sensitivity analysis

In global sensitivity analysis methods, inputs are varied simultaneously over their entire range of possible values [Bokov, 2012]. The effects on the output of both individual inputs and interactions between them are assessed in terms of sensitivity indexes. Several approaches have been dedicated to derive such indexes, each based on different concepts. In general, all these approaches are based on the probabilistic framework in representing uncertainty. So the uncertain output is represented by Y random variable, and each uncertain input is represented by random variable X_i .

The elementary techniques for global sensitivity analysis are specified for the linear case. For instance, if the studied model depends linearly on its input, then Correlation coefficients (CC), Partial correlation coefficients (PCC), or Standardized Regression coefficients (SRC) are used as sensitivity indexes. Note that such linearity can be easily detected by examining scatter plots, in which two dimensional graphics are plotted representing the variation of Y with respect to X_i . Actually, these plots give a full understanding of the relationship between y and each x_i including monotonicity and dependency.

The Correlation Coefficient (CC), also called Pearson Correlation Coefficient, provides a measure of the strength of the linear relationship between X_i and Y [Helton *et al.*, 2006]. According to [Marino *et al.*, 2008], it is defined as follows:

$$C(X_i, Y) = \frac{Cov(X_i, Y)}{\sqrt{Var(X_i)}\sqrt{Var(Y)}}$$
(1.35)

The CC has a value between -1 and +1. A positive value of CC indicates that X_i and Y either increase together or decrease together. However, a negative value of CC indicates that X_i and Y tend to move in opposite directions [Helton *et al.*, 2006]. On the other

hand, values of CC close to 0 indicate a weak (linear) relationship between X_i and Y whereas values close to -1/1 indicate the relationship is strong. Thus, taking the absolute value of the CC would be an appropriate indication of the effect of X_i on Y_i , and hence the sensitivity of Y with respect to X_i .

Although CC considers the effect of X_i on Y, it does not take into account the possible effects on Y due to other uncertain inputs. A more thorough representation is the Partial correlation coefficients (PCC) [Marino *et al.*, 2008]. The Partial correlation characterizes the linear relationship between the input X_i and the output Y after the linear effects of the remaining inputs on Y are discounted. This is done using a sequence of regression models. First, the following two regression models are introduced:

$$\hat{X}_{i} = a_{0} + \sum_{\substack{p=1\\p \neq i}}^{n} a_{p}X_{p}$$
 and $\hat{Y} = c_{0} + \sum_{\substack{p=1\\p \neq i}}^{n} c_{p}X_{p}$ (1.36)

Then the CC between the two residuals $X_i - \hat{X}_i$ and $Y - \hat{Y}$ is the PCC of X_i . Indeed these two residuals remove the linear effect of the other inputs on Y. So PCC represents the sensitivity of Y due to only X_i .

Another convenient indication for sensitivity assuming linearity is the Standardized Regression Coefficient (SRC) [Saltelli *et al.*, 1993]. Practically, a least square procedure is usually used to construct a regression model describing the relation between the output and the inputs:

$$Y = b_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i X_i \tag{1.37}$$

Then the regression coefficients b_0, \dots, b_n can characterize the influence of each input on Y. However, a drawback of these coefficients is that they depend on the units in which the X_i 's and Y are expressed. To cope with this problem, a normalized form of the regression is adopted, having the following expression :

$$\frac{Y - \mu_Y}{Var(Y)} = \sum_{i=1}^n (b_i \frac{V_i}{Var(Y)}) \frac{X_i - \mu_i}{V_i}$$
(1.38)

where μ_i and μ_Y are the means (averages) of the X_i and Y values respectively, Var(Y)and V_i are the variances of the Y and X_i respectively. The coefficient $b_i \frac{V_i}{Var(Y)}$ is called the Standardized Regression Coefficient (SRC) of X_i . According to the author of [Helton et Davis, 2002], the absolute values of the SRCs can be used to provide a measure of the inputs' importance.

While the above three coefficients CC, PCC, and SRC are well behaved sensitivity indexes in the linearity case, they perform poorly in the nonlinear case [Helton et Davis, 2002]. However, if the relationship between the input and the output is still monotone, a rank transformation can be used to reduce the effect of non linearity [Helton et Davis, 2002]. In rank transformation, the sampled data are replaced by their corresponding ranks, and then the usual regression and correlation procedures are performed on these ranks. Specifically, the smallest value of each variable is ranked by 1, the next smallest value is ranked by 2, and so on up to the largest value, which is ranked by the value of the sample size. To clarify this, consider the following example. A model with two inputs X_1 and X_2 , having samples { $(\alpha_1, \beta_1), (\alpha_2, \beta_2), (\alpha_3, \beta_3), (\alpha_4, \beta_4)$ }, such that $\alpha_4 < \alpha_1 < \alpha_3 < \alpha_2$ and $\beta_3 < \beta_2 < \beta_4 < \beta_1$. Then, their corresponding ranking is {(2, 4), (4, 2), (3, 1), (1, 3)}. Considering the corresponding outcomes :

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_1 & \beta_1 \\ \alpha_2 & \beta_2 \\ \alpha_3 & \beta_3 \\ \alpha_4 & \beta_4 \end{bmatrix} \longrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} F(\alpha_1, \beta_1) = Y_1 \\ F(\alpha_2, \beta_2) = Y_2 \\ F(\alpha_3, \beta_3) = Y_3 \\ F(\alpha_4, \beta_4) = Y_4 \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.39)

such that $Y_3 < Y_1 < Y_4 < Y_2$, the new ranked data is

$$\begin{bmatrix} 2 & 4 \\ 4 & 2 \\ 3 & 1 \\ 1 & 3 \end{bmatrix} \longrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} 2 \\ 4 \\ 1 \\ 3 \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.40)

The analysis is then performed with these ranks used as the values for the input and output variables. The sensitivity indexes of such analysis are the Ranked Correlation Coefficients (RCCs), the Partial Ranked Correlation Coefficients (PRCCs), and the Standardized Ranked Regression Coefficients (SRRCs) instead of CCs, PCCs, and SRCs, respectively [Pereira et Broed, 2006]. As for the linear case, the absolute values of such coefficients may give a convenient degree of the importance of each input. Note that, the

use of rank transformed data results in an analysis based on the strength of monotonic relationships rather than on the strength of linear relationships [Helton et Davis, 2002]. Since linearity and monotonicity are specific for a limited number of models, more sophisticated methods have been investigated to derive sensitivity indexes for general cases. The most popular approaches in this manner are the ANOVA methods, an abbreviation of Analysis of Variance methods. The basic idea of such methods is to decompose the total variance of the output into a sum of partial variances. Each partial variance corresponds to an input or group of inputs. Such decomposition indicates the contributions of each input variable or group of inputs in the output variance. The sensitivity indexes are derived as the ratios of the partial variances over the total variance of the output. In the following subsection, one of the main ANOVA methods, called Sobol method, is presented in detail, as it is a cornerstone in the applications presented in chapters 3 and 4.

1.7.3 Sobol Method

A very powerful sensitivity analysis technique that is gaining popularity in many fields is the Sobol method [Sobol, 1993]. It is based on the decomposition of the variance of the output into a sum of partial variances, each contributing either to an individual input or a group of inputs. Then sensitivity indexes, called Sobol indexes, are introduced as the fraction of each of these partial variances over the total variance. The following paragraphs form a detailed description of the concept behind the formulation of Sobol indexes, as well as the strategies applied to compute them.

Consider the random variable $Y = F(X_1, \dots, X_n)$, where $X = (X_1, X_2, \dots, X_n)$ is a random vector of independent inputs. Each random variable X_i is characterized by probability density function $p_i(x_i)$. In the sequel, and for simplicity, the notation dp_i will be adopted instead of $p_i(x_i)dx_i$ when integrating over the probability space associated to X_i . Moreover, dp will represent the product of all the density measures $\prod_{i=1}^n dp_i$, and the notation $dp_{\sim i}$ will refer to the product of all density measures accept dp_i .

A starting point for the Sobol method was to consider the ANOVA decomposition of

F [Sobol, 1993]. Indeed, whenever F is integrable, it can be written as summands of increasing dimensions as:

$$F(X_1, X_2, ..., X_n) = F_0 + \sum_{i=1}^n F_i(X_i) + \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n}^n F_{ij}(X_i, X_j) + \dots + F_{1 \cdots n}(X)$$
(1.41)

where F_0 is a constant, and

$$\int F_{i_1 \cdots i_s}(X_{i_1}, X_{i_2}, \dots, X_{i_s}) dp_{i_k} = 0 \qquad \text{for } 1 \le k \le s \qquad (1.42)$$

The classical properties for this decomposition, as stated in [Sudret, 2007], are: 1. The constant F_0 is equal to the mean of Y:

$$F_0 = \int F(X)dp \tag{1.43}$$

2. The summands are orthogonal to each other in the following sense: for $\{i_1, i_2, ..., i_s\} \neq \{j_1, j_2, ..., j_t\},\$

$$\int F_{i_1 i_2 \dots i_s}(X_{i_1}, X_{i_2}, \dots, X_{i_s}) F_{j_1 j_2 \dots j_t}(X_{j_1}, X_{j_2}, \dots, X_{j_t}) dp = 0$$
(1.44)

Accordingly, the terms of the above decomposition can be determined as follows:

$$F_0 = \int F(X)dp = E[Y] \tag{1.45}$$

$$F_i(X_i) = \int F(X)dp_{\sim i} - F_0$$

= $E[Y/X_i] - E[Y]$ (1.46)

$$F_{ij}(X_i, X_j) = \int F(X) dp_{\sim i,j} - F_i(X_i) - F_j(X_j) - F_0$$

= $E[Y/X_i, X_j] - E[Y/X_i] - E[Y/X_j] + E[Y]$ (1.47)

Analogously one can proceed for the higher order terms.

Now, squaring both sides of the decomposition formula (1.41), and then integrating over

all the input spaces and by the orthogonality property, one ends up by:

$$\int F^{2}(X)dp = F_{0}^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int F_{i}^{2}(X_{i})dp_{i} + \sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq n}^{n} \int F_{ij}^{2}(X_{i}, X_{j})dp_{i}dp_{j} + \cdots + \int F_{12\cdots n}^{2}(X)dp_{1}dp_{2}\cdots dp_{n}$$
(1.48)

Note that

$$\int F^2(X)dp - F_0^2$$
 (1.49)

is the variance Y, denoted Var(Y). Moreover $\int F_i^2(X_i)dp_i$ is the variance of $F_i(X_i)$ and it is denoted by $Var(F_i)$. Also, $\int F_{ij}^2(X_i, X_j)dp_idp_j$ is the variance of $Var(F_{ij}(X_i, X_j))$ and it is denoted by $Var(F_{ij})$, and so follows for the higher order terms.

Thus the variance of Y, can be written as a sum of partial variances:

$$Var(Y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} Var(F_i) + \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n}^{n} Var(F_{ij}) + \dots + Var(F_{1\dots n})$$
(1.50)

According to this variance decomposition, the author in [Sobol, 1993] defined Sobol indexes as:

$$S_{i_1\cdots i_s} = \frac{Var(F_{i_1\cdots i_s})}{Var(Y)} \tag{1.51}$$

The First-order Sobol index, S_i , estimates the main effect of X_i on Y. On the other hand, the Higher-order Sobol indexes, $S_{i_1\cdots i_s}$, estimate the corresponding effect of interaction between the inputs X_{i_1}, \cdots, X_{i_s} on Y. Note that, by dividing both sides in (1.50) by Var(Y), we find that the sum of the all first and higher order Sobol indexes is equal to 1. Fig. 1.8 is an illustration of the Sobol indexes for model with two variables.

To illustrate Sobol's point of view of using variance decomposition to get the impact of each input on the output, consider the following clarification. If one predicted the influence of a certain input X_i on Y, he could measure the variation of Y while fixing X_i at a specific possible value a and keeping the other inputs to vary randomly. If the variation of Y stays the same as when all inputs vary, this means that X_i has no influence on the output. However if the variation is smaller than that when all inputs vary, this means that X_i is influencing the output. Note that, the scientific description of the variation of Y while fixing X_i at a specific possible value a is nothing but $Var(Y/X_i = a)$.



Figure 1.8: Output variance decomposition for model of two variables representing the concept of the Sobol's method for the derivation of the sensitivity indexes.

Due to uncertainty, no special value can be given for X_i . Thus it is preferable to take the mean of this variance over the whole space of possible values of X_i to get better understanding of the influence of X_i . In other words, $E[Var(Y/X_i)]$ represent a reference of the sensitivity of Y to X_i . Indeed, comparing with the values of Var(Y), small values of $E[Var(Y/X_i)]$ indicates that X_i highly affects Y, while large values indicates that X_i has no strong effect on Y.

Knowing that:

$$Var(Y) = E[Var(Y|X_i)] + Var(E[Y|X_i])$$
(1.52)

then $Var(E[Y/X_i])$ can be also a reference of the sensitivity of Y with respect to X_i , where Var(Y) is a constant quantity. So large values $Var(E[Y/X_i])$ indicate high sensitivity, and small values indicate much less sensitivity. In fact, first order Sobol indexes are the indirect translation of this notion. Enough to see that $Var(F_i)$ is exactly $Var(E[Y/X_i])$, as $F_i(X_i)$ is $E[Y/X_i] - E[Y]$. Similar deduction can be done for the higher order terms.

In addition to the above effective indication for sensitivity, other proposed interesting sensitivity indexes are the Total Sobol indexes S_T [Homma et Saltelli, 1996]. Such indexes describe the total contribution of an input X_i , including all its interactions, on the output Y. So for the input X_i , the total Sobol index S_{Ti} is defined as the sum of all Sobol sensitivity indexes involving X_i , and it can be written as:

$$S_{Ti} = \frac{Var(F_i) + \sum_{j \neq i} Var(F_{ij}) + \dots + Var(F_{1\dots n})}{V} = \sum_{\{i\} \subset J} S_J$$
(1.53)

where this last sum is overall $J \subseteq \{1, \dots, n\}$ such that $i \in J$. The advantage of this Total Sobol index is that it can be numerically computed with no need to compute all second and higher order Sobol indexes.

In general, in applications where Sobol indexes are applied to study sensitivity, the understudy models may have complex forms. Thus, computing Sobol indexes, which requires, as we see, integrating the model function, may be a hard mission. In fact, practically, only numerical methods are used. More precisely, according to the distribution each input, a sampling is done to end up with a sample space $\{X^{(k)} = (X_1^{(k)}, \dots, X_n^{(k)})\}_{k=1,\dots,M}$. Then using this sample, different formulae can be used to approximate the the Sobol indexes [Saltelli *et al.*, 2010]. For example, if the mean of Y is estimated by:

$$\bar{F}_0 \approx E[Y] = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{k=1}^M F(X^{(k)})$$
 (1.54)

then, the total variance V can be estimated by:

$$Var(Y) \approx \frac{1}{M} \sum_{k=1}^{M} F^2(X^{(k)}) - \bar{F_0}^2$$
 (1.55)

On the other hand, the partial variances are usually approximated by another set of formulas. Noting that, in most applications the analyst often computes the first-order Sobol indexes, and sometimes the second order ones corresponding to the interaction of every two inputs. The following is one of the approximating formulas mentioned in [Saltelli *et al.*, 2010], it depends on approximating the partial variances using two different samples:

$$\{X^{(k)} = (X_1^{(k)}, X_2^{(k)}, \cdots, X_n^{(k)})\}_{k=1,\cdots,M}, \{\tilde{X}^{(k)} = (\tilde{X}_1^{(k)}, \tilde{X}_2^{(k)}, \cdots, \tilde{X}_n^{(k)})\}_{k=1,\cdots,M}$$
(1.56)

Considering $Var(F_i) = Var(E[Y/X_i])$, one may write

$$Var(F_i) = \int E^2[Y/X_i]dp_i - \left(\int E[Y/X_i]dp_i\right)^2$$
(1.57)

But

$$\int E[Y/X_i]dp_i = \int \left(\int F(X)dp_{\sim i}\right)dp_i = \int F(X)dp = F_0$$
(1.58)

and so this part can be approximated by \overline{F}_0 in (1.54). On the other hand, $E[Y/X_i]$ can also be written as

$$\int F(X)dp_{\sim i} \tag{1.59}$$

where X_i is considered in this integral as a constant and integrating is over the dummy variable $X_{\sim i}$. Thus, it is possible to write:

$$\int E^2[Y/X_i]dp_i = \int \left(\int F(X_i, X_{\sim i})dp_{\sim i} \int F(X_i, \tilde{X}_{\sim i})dp_{\sim i}\right)dp_i$$
(1.60)

Rearranging this formula gives:

$$\int E^2[Y/X_i]dp_i = \int \int F(X_i, X_{\sim i})F(X_i, \tilde{X}_{\sim i})dpdp_{\sim i}$$
(1.61)

Hence, the proposed estimator for $Var(F_i)$ is written as:

$$Var(F_i) \approx \frac{1}{M} \sum_{k=1}^{M} F(X_i^{(k)}, X_{\sim i}^{(k)}) F(X_i^{(k)}, \tilde{X}_{\sim i}^{(k)}) - \bar{F_0}^2$$
(1.62)

where $X_i, X_{\sim i}, \tilde{X}_{\sim i}$ are taken from the two different samples defined above. Similar approximation formulas are also defined to any higher order Sobol indexes as well as to the total order Sobol indexes.

Thus, with these numerical approximations, Sobol indexes can be efficiently computed. However, one should pay attention to the computational cost of such approximations, especially for models with a large number of inputs.

In this section the concepts of sensitivity analysis and some common sensitivity methods were revised. Two main groups of sensitivity methods were considered: the local methods and the global methods. The local sensitivity methods use mainly the partial derivative as an indication of the sensitivity of the output with respect to each input. Thus this kind of methods provides information only at the base point where the partial derivative is computed and do not take into account the rest of the variation ranges of the model inputs. On the other hand, global sensitivity methods give a more thorough comprehension of the sensitivity of the output with respect to the inputs, as they take into account the interaction and the global ranges of variation of the inputs. These global methods rely on the probabilistic point of view to describe the variation of each input. In this manner, the ANOVA method, Sobol method is considered as one of the strongest methods, and we rely mainly on it in our applications where we develop its usage. Note that all sensitivity analysis methods aim to detect the influence of the inputs of a model on its output. This in fact plays an important role in an uncertainty analysis, since it restricts the study to the significant inputs and this simplifies the uncertainty study. In particular this helps a lot in the backward propagation of uncertainty, since as the number of the uncertain inputs increases the complexity of the problem increases.

1.8 Conclusion

In this chapter, several methods that deal with uncertainty during modeling are revised. First the concepts of the structural uncertainty assessment methods are briefly reviewed. Then different methods for forward uncertainty propagation are described in detail. Then, the state of art of the backward propagation methods is presented. A little consideration of these methods has been taken in account in literature. Actually, this was our main motivation for deriving a new backward propagation method which is presented in chapter 2. In addition, various sensitivity analysis techniques have been reported and discussed in this chapter. The main focus was on the Sobol method, which is the main method used in our work presented in chapters 3 and 4.

CHAPTER 2 Backward Propagation method: Variance Partitioning

Contents

2.1 Introduction		
2.2 Problem definition and notation		
2.3 Bac	kward propagation: Variance Partitioning 50	
2.3.1	Step 1: Output variance in terms of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R}	
2.3.2	Step 2: Solving nonlinear least square problem	
2.4 Applications		
2.4.1	First example	
2.4.2	Second example	
2.5 Conclusion		

2.1 Introduction

One of the remaining challenges in modeling under uncertainty is the inability to quantify the input uncertainty given the output uncertainty. In most problems which rely on simulations and experiments, different outcomes are obtained even when the experiment is carried out at a supposed same value of the input. This is usually due to a hidden disturbance in the values of the input, which is indeed an unknown input uncertainty. So given the data of the obtained uncertain output, how the input uncertainty, that causes this output uncertainty, can be quantified and apportioned between different elements of the input. This type of problems has been rarely tackled in the domain of studying uncertainty, one cause for that would be the difficulty of such problems. Another reason could be the inability to guarantee solutions for such problems that can be ill posed in some cases since several solutions for the input uncertainty may correspond to the same output uncertainty. In this chapter we present a new backward uncertainty propagation method, concerned with finding the input uncertainty starting from the data of the uncertain output.

The method uses the probabilistic point of view to represent uncertainty. In addition, it consists of two main steps. Its basic idea is to solve a nonlinear least square problem whose residues are defined using the formula that expresses the variance of the output in terms of the statistical moments of the inputs. The solution of this problem gives directly the quantification of the input uncertainty. Unlike most previously proposed backward propagation methods, this method does not rely on any prior data or information about the input uncertainty. In addition, it is applied for both cases, whether the input uncertainty is represented by a normal distribution or a uniform distribution. Even more it is applied in the case when the uncertain inputs are not represented by the same distribution.

In following paragraphs, we first introduce again the problem of the backward propagation using the probabilistic notation. Then the two main steps of the method are presented. After that some numerical examples are described to prove the validity of the method. The chapter ends with the derived conclusions as well as the obtained notes.

2.2 Problem definition and notation

Let $\mathbf{a} = (\mathbf{a}_1, \cdots, \mathbf{a}_n)$ be an input point in \mathcal{D} the domain of F. Given the data of several samples of the output, coming from some experiments or measurements, in which unequal outcome values correspond to the input point \mathbf{a} . This variety in the outcomes indicates that the output is uncertain, i.e. we are not sure what the true value of $F(\mathbf{a})$ is. Since the model is assumed to be deterministic, this implies that the only source of this output uncertainty is the input. It is to say that the values given to F to produce $F(\mathbf{a})$ are not surely equal to \mathbf{a} . Therefore, there is an input uncertainty at \mathbf{a} causing an output uncertainty at $F(\mathbf{a})$. The aim of our new method is to find this input uncertainty using the given output data.

In this work, the probabilistic point of view is used to represent the uncertainty, as

described in section 1.4 of chapter 1. The input uncertainty at \mathbf{a} is represented by the random vector $X = (X_1, \dots, X_n)$ and the output uncertainty at $F(\mathbf{a})$ is represented by the random variable Y. The expectation of X, denoted by $\mu_X = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n)$, is equal to the best estimate of the true input value. Since the runs of the model are supposed to be performed at the same input point (\mathbf{a}) then we take $\mu_X = \mathbf{a}$. On the other hand, the expectation of Y, denoted by μ_Y , which represents the best estimate of $F(\mathbf{a})$ is computed from the given data. The quantity of the output uncertainty at $F(\mathbf{a})$ is represented here by the variance of Y which is denoted by Var(Y) and it is computed from the given output data.

Concerning the quantity of the input uncertainty, the representation is more specific. Indeed, in uncertainty analysis, the uncertain inputs are mostly considered as either normally distributed or uniformly distributed, depending on the way measurements and experiments are done. For that we restrict our method here to these two types of distributions. Accordingly, if X_i has a normal distribution, the quantity of the uncertainty is best represented by the variance of X_i denoted by V_i . However, if X_i has a uniform distribution, then X_i is associated by a support interval centered at its mean μ_i . So let $[\mu_i - r_i, \mu_i + r_i]$ be the support interval of X_i if it is uniformly distributed. In this case, the quantity of uncertainty is best represented by the radius of the support interval r_i , which indicates the dispersion of the values around μ_i .

For that we consider the two sets I_1 and I_2 defined by:

$$I_1 = \{i \in \mathbb{N} \mid 1 \le i \le n \text{ and } X_i \text{ has normal distribution}\}$$
(2.1)

$$I_2 = \{ i \in \mathbb{N} \mid 1 \le i \le n \text{ and } X_i \text{ has uniform distribution} \}$$
(2.2)

Let $\mathcal{V} = \{V_i\}_{i \in I_1}$ be the set of the variances of all normally distributed X_i 's and let $\mathcal{R} = \{r_i\}_{i \in I_2}$ be the set of the radii of the support intervals of all uniformly distributed X_i 's. Thus the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} represent the quantity of the input uncertainty. In our study case, the input uncertainty is unknown, and so the elements of the two sets \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} are unknown.

So to do a backward propagation of uncertainty, we should start with the given data of the uncertain output in order to quantify the input uncertainty. Using the notation defined in this section, the backward propagation problem can be defined as follow: starting from the values of μ_X , μ_Y and Var(Y) the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} are to be determined.

2.3 Backward propagation: Variance Partitioning

The idea of the presented backward propagation method is to consider the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} as unknowns. Then, we solve a nonlinear least square problem to find these unknowns. The residues of the least square problem are generated using the formula of Var(Y). The execution of this method is done in two main steps. The first step is to write the output variance Var(Y) in terms of the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} . The second step is to generate the least square problem using the derived expression of Var(Y).

2.3.1 Step 1: Output variance in terms of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R}

To derive an explicit expression of the output variance Var(Y) in terms of the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} the formula of the model F is used. In this manner, two different cases are distinguished: F is a multivariate polynomial in x_1, \dots, x_n and F is a smooth non polynomial function.

CASE 1:

If F is a multivariate polynomial in x_1, \dots, x_n , then it can be written in the following form:

$$F(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{\mathcal{K}} q_j \, Q_j(x_1, \cdots, x_n)$$
(2.3)

where each of $Q_1, \dots, Q_{\mathcal{K}}$ is a monomial in x_1, \dots, x_n and \mathcal{K} is the number of terms of F. In addition, the q_j 's are the coefficients associated with the monomials Q_j 's. To clarify this notation, consider an example of F a polynomial of three inputs defined by $F(x_1, x_2, x_3) = x_1^2 + 4x_1x_2 + x_2x_3^2$. Then $\mathcal{K} = 3$ and $q_1 = 1$, $q_2 = 4$ and $q_3 = 1$. Furthermore, the monomials are $Q_1 = x_1^2$, $Q_2 = x_1x_2$, $Q_3 = x_2x_3^2$.

According to the formulation of F in (2.3), the expression of the random variable Y in

terms of the random vector X is given by:

$$Y = F(X) = \sum_{j=1}^{\mathcal{K}} q_j Q_j(X_1, \cdots, X_n)$$
 (2.4)

So Y is the sum of \mathcal{K} different random variables each of the form $Q_j(X_1, \dots, X_n)$, where Q_j is a monomial of X_1, \dots, X_n . Note that these \mathcal{K} random variables are obtained from various multiplications of the random variables X_1, \dots, X_n . For simplicity, each random variable $Q_j(X_1, \dots, X_n)$ is used in the sequel as Q_j . Recall that, the variance of the sum of different random variables is the sum of the covariances of each couple of these random variables. Applying this to the Y in (2.4), then Var(Y) is written as:

$$Var(Y) = Var\left(\sum_{j=1}^{\mathcal{K}} q_j Q_j\right) = \sum_{j,k=1}^{\mathcal{K}} q_j q_k \mathbf{Cov}(Q_j, Q_k)$$
(2.5)

However, according to the simplified formula, each covariance is decomposed into:

$$\mathbf{Cov}(Q_j, Q_k) = E[Q_j * Q_k] - E[Q_j]E[Q_k]$$
(2.6)

where E[.] stands for the expected value of a random variable. Note that, since X_1, \dots, X_n are mutually independent, then Q_j and Q_k are independent if they have no X_i in common with any degree. But if Q_j and Q_k are independent, the product of their expectation is equal to the expectation of their product, and so their covariance is equal to zero. However, if Q_j and Q_k have at least one of the variables X_1, \dots, X_n in common with any degree, they are dependent. In addition, their covariance is expressed in terms of the non central moments of the variables X_1, \dots, X_n . To explain how this is done, consider a generic case of two dependent random variables Q_k and Q_j such that $Q_k = X_l^u X_i^v$ and $Q_j = X_h^s X_i^t$, where $u, v, s, t \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Q_k and Q_j are dependent since X_i is a common random variable in their expressions. Using the fact that X_1, \dots, X_n are mutually independent, the expectations of $Q_k * Q_j$, Q_k , and Q_j are decomposed into:

$$E[Q_{j} * Q_{k}] = E[X_{l}^{u}X_{i}^{v} * X_{h}^{s}X_{i}^{t}] = E[X_{i}^{v+t}] * E[X_{l}^{u}] * E[X_{h}^{s}]$$

$$E[Q_{j}] = E[X_{l}^{u}X_{i}^{v}] = E[X_{i}^{v}] * E[X_{l}^{u}]$$

$$E[Q_{k}] = E[X_{h}^{s}X_{i}^{t}] = E[X_{i}^{t}] * E[X_{h}^{s}]$$
(2.7)

Recall that any expectation of the form $E[Z^{\mathfrak{z}}]$, where Z is a random variable, is called the non central moment of Z of order \mathfrak{z} . We say non central because the random variable is not centered by its mean, so the central moment of Z of order \mathfrak{z} has the form $E[(Z - E[Z])^{\mathfrak{z}}]$. So the expectations which appeared on the right hand side in (2.7) are the non central moments of the random variables X_l, X_h and X_i with different orders.

Substituting the expectation decomposition of (2.7) in the formula (2.6) implies that the covariance of the two dependent random variables Q_k and Q_j is written in terms of the non central moments of X_1, \dots, X_n . Hence, any non zero covariance in (2.5), which is in fact the covariance of two dependent random variables, is written in terms of the non central moments of X_1, \dots, X_n . Consequently, Var(Y) is expressed in terms of the non central moments of X_1, \dots, X_n .

Note that, for any X_i , the first order non central moment is the expected value μ_i . Furthermore, the higher order moments are defined as follows:

• If X_i has a normal distribution: the non central moments are expressed as polynomials in terms of the first and second moments, the mean μ_i and the variance V_i , using the Moment Generating Function. See Appendix A for details.

• If X_i has a uniform distribution: the *t*-th non central moment of X_i is defined by the following formula:

$$E[X_i^t] = \frac{1}{2r_i} \int_{\mu_i - r_i}^{\mu_i + r_i} x_i^t dp_i = \frac{1}{t+1} \left(\frac{(\mu_i + r_i)^{t+1} - (\mu_i - r_i)^{t+1}}{2r_i} \right)$$
(2.8)

This expression of $E[X_i^t]$ can be simplified into:

$$E[X_i^t] = \frac{1}{t+1} \left(\sum_{k=0}^t (\mu_i + r_i)^k (\mu_i - r_i)^{t-k} \right)$$
(2.9)

So the moments of a uniformly distributed X_i are expressed in terms of μ_i and r_i .

Accordingly, the moments of X_1, \dots, X_n are expressed in terms of the elements of $\mu_X = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n)$, \mathcal{V} , and \mathcal{R} .

So to sum up, the non zero covariances in (2.5) are written in terms of the non central moments of X_1, \dots, X_n . In addition, the moments of X_1, \dots, X_n are expressed in terms of the elements of μ_X, \mathcal{V} , and \mathcal{R} . Thus Var(Y), which is known, is expressed in terms of

 μ_X and the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} that we are searching for.

CASE 2:

If F is not a multivariate polynomial, then by Weierstrass Theorem F can be approximated by a multivariate polynomial [Reimer, 2012]. This well known theorem states that any continuous function on a closed and bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n is approximated by a multivariate polynomial. So whenever the model F is continuous, we may select a bounded and closed subset of \mathcal{D} and approximate F to a polynomial on this set. In our method, a bounded and closed subset of \mathcal{D} is sufficient to do a backward propagation, since we are using a finite number of input points of F.

So theoretically, F can be approximated by a polynomial, however it is important to see how this is done practically. One of the simplest ways is to use the multivariate version of Taylor's expansion. However such polynomial expansion is done locally, in a small neighborhood of an input point. In addition, it requires the computation of the partial derivatives of F, which are used as the coefficients of the polynomial. More sophisticated and general approximations are the multivariate polynomial interpolation methods. These methods use a finite set of points of the model to construct a polynomial approximation that matches the model at the given points. They mainly rely on some polynomial basis to construct the approximations. For instance the Lagrangian interpolation, which is initially defined for the case of one variable, is generalized to the multivariate case. In [Sauer et Xu, 1995], the algorithms of two methods to find the coefficients of the polynomial approximation using multivariate Lagrangian interpolation are presented. In [Duchoň, 2011] a multivariate polynomial approximation using the Bernstein basis is proposed as a generalization of the univariate case.

Note that approximating a function by a polynomial in the univariate case is much simpler than the multivariate case. For that most methods are first developed for the univariate case, and then generalized to the multivariate case.

Thus, whenever the model F is continuous, it is approximated by a polynomial, and so we are again in case 1.

Therefore as a conclusion of the above two cases, whenever F is a continuous function, the variance of the output can be expressed in terms of μ_X , \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} as

$$Var(Y) = G(\mu_X, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{R})$$
(2.10)

for some algebraic function G. μ_X which is the best estimate of the input point is actually the input point **a**. However the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} are unknown. The expression (2.10) is the key point in generating the residues of the least square problem that is solved in step 2. Figure 2.1 is a flowchart that summarizes all the procedures of Step 1. In the flowchart, the term poly(.) refers to a polynomial of the inside indicated variables, and M_i refers to the moments of the random variable X_i of any order.

2.3.2 Step 2: Solving nonlinear least square problem

In order to do a backward propagation of uncertainty we should find the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} . So here we have *n* unknowns. However, we just have one equation involving these unknowns which is (2.10). To cope with this problem we consider the uncertainty at different input points in \mathcal{D} .

Note that, input uncertainty usually comes from some inaccurate measurement instruments or improper experimental procedures. So the uncertainty at different input points is due to carrying the same experiments and procedures with different configurations. Thus, it can be assumed that the input uncertainty is a function of the input point. To clarify the idea of taking the input uncertainty as a function of the input point consider the following simple example:

Consider a balance that measures the human's weight, labeled by $\pm 0.01 W_m$, where W_m here refers to the measured weight. This label means that this balance has an uncertainty defined by the interval $[-0.01, \pm 0.01] \times W_m$. Clearly, one can see that this uncertainty is a function of the measured weight W_m . So for a man weighing 70 kg on this balance, his real weight is a value in the interval $[70 - 0.7, 70 \pm 0.7]$ and not exactly 70. Thus the uncertainty here is 0.7kg. However, for a man weighing 100 kg, the real weight is in the interval [100-1, 100+1], and so the uncertainty here is 1kg. This evolution of uncertainty is illustrated graphically in Fig. 2.2.



Figure 2.1: Flowchart that summarizes Step 1.



Figure 2.2: Uncertain real weight (W_R) in terms of the measured weight (W_m) .

As it can be seen in this example the input uncertainty is a linear function of the input value W_m . So with this example it is clear how input uncertainty can be expressed as a function of the input point. Accordingly, we define the input uncertainty at any point $x = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathcal{D}$ as a functions of x:

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{V}(x) = \{ V_i(x_i) \mid i \in I_1 \} \\ \mathcal{R}(x) = \{ r_i(x_i) \mid i \in I_2 \} \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

So to find the input uncertainty at all the input points, we should find the function representations V_i 's and r_i 's.

In this manner, a first approximation of these functions can be derived, by assuming these functions as constant. This means that the quantities of the uncertainty at different input points are equal and independent of the chosen input point i.e. $\mathcal{V}(x) = \mathcal{V}$ and $\mathcal{R}(x) = \mathcal{R}$. It is to say that the same quantity of uncertainty arises whenever the measurements or the experiments are carried out. So to find the input uncertainty we should find the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} , which are *n* constant quantities corresponding to the input uncertainty for any $x \in \mathcal{D}$. For that we select *n* different points in \mathcal{D} denoted $\mathbf{a}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{a}^{(n)}$. Then by step 1, the corresponding output variances of the selected points are decomposed into :

$$\begin{cases} Var(Y_{\mathbf{a}^{(1)}}) = G\left(\mathbf{a}^{(1)}, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{R}\right) \\ \vdots \\ Var(Y_{\mathbf{a}^{(n)}}) = G\left(\mathbf{a}^{(n)}, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{R}\right) \end{cases}$$
(2.12)

This is a system of n unknowns, and its solution gives the values of the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} . To solve (2.12) we consider the least square problem:

$$\min_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{R}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\nabla_i\|^2 \tag{2.13}$$

whose residues that should be minimized are

$$\nabla_i = Var(Y_{\mathbf{a}^{(i)}}) - G(\mathbf{a}^{(i)}, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{R})$$
(2.14)

By solving this least square problem we obtain the values of the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} , and hence the values of the input uncertainty. Note that the problem (2.13) is non linear, thus it is best to be solved numerically.

To be satisfied by this first approximation of the input uncertainty, which is represented by the obtained values of the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} , we use the following test. We select new points from \mathcal{D} the domain of F and a tolerance, $\varepsilon = 10^{-6}$ for instance. Then we compute the residues of the new points using the obtained values of the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} and the formula: $\nabla_x = Var(Y_x) - G(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{R})$. If for any $x \in \mathcal{D}, \nabla_x \leq \varepsilon$, then we are done and the quantity of the input uncertainty is the obtained values of the elements of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{R} .

If for some $x \in \mathcal{D}$, we get $\nabla > \varepsilon$, then the obtained uncertainty is not promising. For that we resolve a least square problem, however this time we relax the assumption that the uncertainty at different input points is constant. We assume that the uncertainty is a linear function of the input point. So for an arbitrary input point $x = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathcal{D}$ the corresponding input uncertainty is defined by:

$$\begin{cases} V_i(x_i) = \mathcal{A}_i x_i + \mathcal{B}_i & \text{if } i \in I_1 \\ r_i(x_i) = \mathcal{A}_i x_i + \mathcal{B}_i & \text{if } i \in I_2 \end{cases}$$
(2.15)

where I_1 and I_2 are as defined in 2.1, and $\mathcal{A}_1, \dots, \mathcal{A}_n, \mathcal{B}_1, \dots, \mathcal{B}_n$ are constants to be determined. Thus the expression of the output variance at the input point x becomes a function of $\mathcal{A}_1, \dots, \mathcal{A}_n, \mathcal{B}_1, \dots, \mathcal{B}_n$, and it can be written as:

$$Var(Y_x) = H\left(x, \mathcal{A}_1, \cdots, \mathcal{A}_n, \mathcal{B}_1, \cdots, \mathcal{B}_n\right)$$
(2.16)

So, to determine the input uncertainty it is enough to find $\mathcal{A}_1, \dots, \mathcal{A}_n, \mathcal{B}_1, \dots, \mathcal{B}_n$, which are 2n unknowns. For that we select different 2n points $\mathbf{a}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{a}^{(2n)}$ from \mathcal{D} , and we define new residues by:

$$\nabla_{i} = Var(Y_{\mathbf{a}^{(i)}}) - H\left(\mathbf{a}^{(i)}, \mathcal{A}_{1}, \cdots, \mathcal{A}_{n}, \mathcal{B}_{1}, \cdots, \mathcal{B}_{n}\right)$$
(2.17)

Then by solving the associated least square problem with the new residues, we get the values of $\mathcal{A}_1, \dots, \mathcal{A}_n, \mathcal{B}_1, \dots, \mathcal{B}$. This gives the input uncertainty as a linear function of the input point using the expressions in (2.15). In fact this can be considered as a first order approximation of the uncertainty of the inputs. However, for most experimental instruments the uncertainty presented can be assumed to take constant values or at most linear since the manufacturing error of the instruments is usually constant or linear.

In the following section, three different examples for the application of our method are presented. In the first example the model is a polynomial function with mixed distributions of the uncertain inputs. In the second example, we consider a model presented ??, where the input uncertainty is computed by inverting the model. The results obtained by our method are compatible with the results presented in the above reference.
2.4 Applications

In each of the following two examples we perform a reverse computation of the input uncertainty. So we take the model F, which has in both cases two variables, and we specify the input uncertainty by the associated random variable of each input. Then we run a Monte Carlo simulation in order to get the data of the uncertain output. After that, our method is applied on the obtained data to find again the input uncertainty. The results obtained are then compared to the initially chosen values of the inputs uncertainty. In addition, we present the convergence of the results as a function of the number of the generated data points used in the Monte Carlo simulation.

2.4.1 First example

Consider the model F to be a polynomial of two variables defined as:

$$F(x_1, x_2) = x_1 * x_2 \tag{2.18}$$

The input uncertainty of x_1 is assumed to have a normal distribution with variance V = 0.7, and the input uncertainty of x_2 is assumed to have a uniform distribution such that the radius of its support interval is r = 0.25. Then, using these assigned values the output data is generated at two input points a = (0, -2) and b = (3, 6). Then, based on the obtained data $Var(Y_a)$ and $Var(Y_b)$ are computed. To perform step 1 of the method, we use the expression of F to derive an expression of the output variance. Indeed, the output variance is written as:

$$Var(Y) = Var(X_1 * X_2) = E[X_1^2 * X_2^2] - E[X_1]^2 * E[X_2]^2 = E[X_1^2] * E[X_2^2] - \mu_1^2 * \mu_2^2 \quad (2.19)$$

Using the moments of the normal and the uniform distributions, and with some computations, Var(Y) becomes:

$$Var(Y) = \frac{1}{3}(V+x_1)(3x_2^2+r^2) - x_1^2 * x_2^2$$
(2.20)

In step 2 of the method, we use the expression of the output variance to derive the residues of the least square problem. Thus, here we first assume that the uncertainty is constant over the input range. Then we derive the residues ∇_a and ∇_b using equation (2.20):

$$\nabla_{a} = Var(Y_{a}) - \frac{1}{3}(V)(3(-2)^{2} + r^{2}) - 0$$

$$\nabla_{b} = Var(Y_{b}) - \frac{1}{3}(V+3)(3(6)^{2} + r^{2}) - (3)^{2} * (6)^{2}$$
(2.21)

Then we solve the least square problem using these two residues. The results obtained for V and r as a function of the number of sample points are presented in Fig. 2.3.



Figure 2.3: The obtained values of V and r as a function of the number of sample points used.

As it can be seen from Fig. 2.3, the method detects the input uncertainty as we get very near values. However as the number of the data points increases the accuracy of the obtained values increases.

In the following we consider another example which is already considered in a previous publication to compare the results of our method to already existing methods.

2.4.2 Second example

In this example we consider a model presented in [Chen *et al.*, 2015], that is defined by:

$$\begin{cases}
F_1(x_1, x_2) = x_1^2 + e^{x_2} \\
F_2(x_1, x_2) = \sin(x_1) + x_2
\end{cases}$$
(2.22)

So this model takes two inputs x_1 and x_2 and gives two outputs. According to [Chen *et al.*, 2015], the uncertainties of both inputs are considered to be uniformly distributed and it is given that at the point a = (1, 0.7) the radii of the associated intervals of distributions are $r_1 = 0.867$ and $r_2 = 0.6922$. Starting from this, we generate the data of the uncertain output, and then this data is used by our method to find again r_1 and r_2 . In [Chen *et al.*, 2015] the method used to detect the input uncertainty is the reversal workflow solver,

which is restricted to models assembled as a computational workflow.

Concerning the first step of our method, we find a polynomial approximation of order 4 for each of e^{x_2} and $sin(x_1)$. Then using these approximations we decompose the output variance in terms of x_1 , x_2 , r_1 and r_2 .

Concerning the second step of our method, we consider only the input point a given above. This is because we have two outputs, giving two equations, with two unknowns r_1 and r_2 . Thus substituting one point in the decomposition is enough to find the solution.

The following plots represent the values obtained of r_1 and r_2 as a function of the number of samples of the output data used:



Figure 2.4: The obtained values of r_1 and r_2 as a function of the number of sample points used.

So our method detects the input uncertainty by giving very near values for r_1 and r_2 . The results obtained validate the efficiency of our method, however the accuracy depends on the number of sample points used.

2.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, we establish a new method for the backward propagation of uncertainty. The method aims at quantifying the input uncertainty starting from the data of the uncertain output. We use the probabilistic representation in order to derive the input uncertainty. To clarify the concepts of the method we split it into two steps. In a first step we derive an expression of the variance of the output in terms of the statistical moments of the inputs. Then using this expression, in a second step, we construct a system of equations whose unknowns are the uncertainties of the inputs. The obtained system is nonlinear and it is solved numerically as a least square problem giving a quantification of the input uncertainty. Two applications were considered to validate the method, and the results showed that the method gives the values of the input uncertainty. However, the accuracy of the results depends on the number of the sample points used in the data of the uncertain output. In general, the method is considered as simple as it relies on some concepts from probability theory, however the decomposition of the output variance becomes more difficult as the number of the variables increase. In such a case, sensitivity analysis can be used in order to detect the most important inputs and hence involve them in the uncertainty study. In the next two chapters we consider one of the most important sensitivity analysis methods, called Sobol method, and we develop the way it is applied.

CHAPTER 3 Sobol Indexes in the Discrete Case

Contents

3.1 Introduction	
3.2 What is an EFDC	
3.2.1 The AFM process	
3.2.2 Acquiring the EFDC	
3.3 The model inputs 69	
3.4 Experimental procedures	
3.5 EFDC as a logistic law 72	
3.6 Sobol indexes of the logistic parameters	
3.6.1 First order Sobol indexes	
3.6.2 Second order Sobol indexes	
3.7 Design Of Experiment (DOE)	
3.7.1 The basics of DOE	
3.7.2 The main effect plots $\ldots \ldots $ 81	
3.7.3 The interaction effect plots	
3.8 Matrix Model	
3.8.1 First order matrix model	
3.8.2 Second order matrix model	
3.9 Conclusion	

3.1 Introduction

Sensitivity analysis methods are mainly used to detect the impact of the inputs on the output in a model. This assists in detecting the most influencing inputs. Accordingly it is possible to determine whether an uncertain input will cause a significant uncertainty in the output or not. Thus in an uncertainty analysis one may restrict the study to only the most influencing uncertain inputs. Several sensitivity analysis methods were revised in chapter 1, in which the Sobol method is considered as the strongest among them.

The Sobol method is based on the derivation of sensitivity indexes, called Sobol indexes, that indicate the impact of the inputs on the output. The computation of these indexes is done either symbolically according to the formula (1.51) or numerically using a simulation technique. To compute the indexes symbolically the expression of the model F should be given, and to compute them numerically many data samples of the model are needed. The goal of this chapter is to examine the performance of the Sobol method in case of having no evidence about the expression of the model F plus having a limited number of data points coming from experiments.

To reach our goal we apply the Sobol method to study the sensitivity of an experimental curve, called Electrostatic Force Distance Curve (EFDC) [Villeneuve-Faure et al., 2014], with respect to some experimental factors. The following sections present in detail this sensitivity study. First, we introduce the concept of the EFDC and how it is obtained. After that, in section 3.3 we indicate the experimental factors that are considered as the input of the model and that their impact on the EFDC is studied by the Sobol method. Then in section 3.4, we describe the experimental procedures and materials that are used to acquire the data of the EFDCs. This is important in order to understand the sensitivity results from a physics point of view. In order to apply the Sobol method, the output of the considered model should be a scalar. For that, the EFDC is fitted by a 4 parameter logistic law in section 3.5. This enables us to investigate the sensitivity of the EFDC by studying the sensitivity of the associated four logistic parameters and the sensitivity results obtained are presented in section 3.6. Then, to validate the results we present an effect detecting technique used in experiments called Design of Experiment (DOE) which is introduced in section 3.7. Lastly in section 3.8, we construct an approximation model, called the matrix model, for the four logistic parameters giving an approximating formula for the electrostatic force.

3.2 What is an EFDC

To best describe EFDCs, it is important to know first how these curves are traced. Indeed, the main technique used in this manner is the Atomic Force Microscopy(AFM). AFM is a kind of Scanning Probe Microscopes (SPM), which are microscopic techniques designed to detect the local properties of materials, at a microscopic scale, by scanning with a probe. AFM has been initially developed as an imaging technique to study the topography of surfaces and materials. However, its ability to detect and measure the interaction forces between the probe and the sample surface makes it a powerful tool to disclose much more than just the chemical and mechanical properties of the sample. In this manner, AFM is used to find the electrostatic force caused by charge accumulation in dielectrics. In this section we explain how AFM is used to compute the electrostatic force and how the EFDCs are extracted, readers interested in more details about the general procedures of AFM are referred to [Cappella et Dietler, 1999].

3.2.1 The AFM process

The AFM operator consists of three main parts: a probe, a detector, and a scanner (see Fig. 3.1):

- The probe is formed of a very sharp thin tip (typically less than $5 \mu m$ tall and often less than 10nm in diameter at the apex [Cappella et Dietler, 1999]) attached to the free-swinging end of a small spring-like cantilever that is usually $100 - 500\mu m \log n$.
- The detector records the deflection and the motion of the cantilever as the tip scans the sample. Usually, a laser beam with a photo-detecto are used as a detector (as in Fig. 3.1), however other deflection detecting methods can be used as Piezoelectric detection [Giessibl, 1998], Optical Interferometry [Rugar *et al.*, 1989], and Scanning Tunneling Microscope [Binnig *et al.*, 1986].
- The scanner controls the probe-sample displacement both vertically and laterally, in order to allow the probe to scan the sample in all directions. As illustrated in Fig. 3.1, the drive is attached to the sample, however it can be also attached to the cantilever while keeping the sample fixed.

There are two principle modes in which AFM operates: the contact mode and the dynamic mode [Binnig *et al.*, 1986]. This depends on how the probe scans the sample. For acquiring the EFDCs, the contact mode is used, in which the tip makes a soft contact with the sample at a particular location of the sample surface.



Figure 3.1: Schematic of the AFM parts: **1**.Piezoscanner **2**.Sample **3**.Tip **4**.Cantilever **5**. Laser emitter **6**.Photo-detector.

In this mode, the process starts by the tip and the sample at a rest state in which a large distance separates them so that no interaction forces are presented (Fig. 3.2(a)). Then the scanner starts to move vertically upward, bringing the sample very close to the tip. As the sample approaches the tip, the cantilever remains at an equilibrium state, until the sample comes close enough to the tip so that the tip experiences the attractive Van der Waals force. So the tip snaps into surface forming the *jump to contact* point (Fig. 3.2(b)), and the cantilever bends slightly towards the surface. As the scanner continues to move upward, the cantilever deflects away from the surface (Fig. 3.2(c)). Whenever the Van der Waals force force is detected, implying that the tip is in contact with the surface, the scanner begins to retract. However, the interaction forces between the tip and the sample hamper the retraction, making a gradual withdrawal of the tip from the sample (Fig. 3.2(d)). Lastly, the tip withdraws and loses its contact with the sample (Fig. 3.2(e)). These different phases of the AFM are illustrated in the Fig. 3.2.

During all these phases, the deflection of the cantilever is recorded by the detector. Note



Figure 3.2: The tip-sample positioning during the different phases of AFM.

that this deflection is due to the net vertical forces acting on the tip, which are in fact the interaction forces between the tip and the sample. So the quantity of these forces at each moment can be computed using the Hooke's law:

$$\mathcal{F} = k \, \delta_c$$

where k is the spring constant of the cantilever defined by the manufacturer, and δ_c is the deflection of the cantilever from its equilibrium position calculated using the records of the detector. Plotting \mathcal{F} as a variation of the sample-tip distance gives the well known *Force Distance Curve* (FDC). Fig. 3.3 shows a typical FDC illustrated with the associated phases of the tip-sample positioning.



Figure 3.3: A typical AFM Force Distance Curve showing the approach stage, the contact stage, and the retract stage. The labels (a), (b), (c), (d), and (e) refer to the phases of the tip-sample positioning of Fig. 3.2.

The FDC provides direct measurement of interaction forces between the AFM tip and the sample surface. Note that the tip sample interaction forces may include other forces than just the Van der Waals force. This depends on the materials used as well as the supplement settings added to the AFM setup. For instance, if the tip is grounded, and a dielectric sample is scanned by the tip, in which charges are injected on the surface of the sample or an electrode is buried in the sample, which induces an electrostatic force. Indeed, in the case of a buried electrode, when a voltage is supplied to the electrode, the electrical potential difference between the electrode and the tip induces an electrostatic force. However in the case of injected charges, the charge density is trapped in the dielectric layers, and this charge density induces electrostatic force on the tip. This induction of the electrostatic force in both cases affects the tip-sample interaction during the different phases of the AFM operation. This idea plays a basic role in deriving the EFDC, which is our concern in this work.

3.2.2 Acquiring the EFDC

In fact, EFDCs are obtained by two steps. The first step is to record the FDC over the considered sample. The second step is to record the FDC again after either injecting some charges in the sample or supplying a buried electrode in the sample by a potential. Then the EFDC is obtained as the difference between the two obtained FDCs in the approach and contact stage [Villeneuve-Faure *et al.*, 2014]. This implies that the EFDC represents only the action of the electrostatic force on the tip-sample position, without the consideration of the other forces. Fig. 3.4 shows the two obtained FDCs while scanning an oxy-nitride dielectric. The black curve corresponds to a blank FDC, however the gray one corresponds to the FDC after injecting charges on the surface of the oxy-nitride sample. Charges are injected on the surface of this dielectric for obtaining the second FDC. The insert in the graph is the difference between the two FDCs curves which represents the EFDC. So as we see the EFDC is based on the measurements of the electrostatic force between the AFM tip and the sample. In the next section we indicate the motivation for studying the sensitivity of the EFDC from the physics point of view. This enables us to indicate the experimental factors that are of scientific interest in this manner. These factors will be the inputs of our considered model, in which their impact is to be studied using the Sobol method.



Figure 3.4: The FDCs while scanning an oxy-nitride dielectric (before and after the effect of the electrostatic force). Their difference produces the EFDC. This figure is extracted from [Villeneuve-Faure *et al.*, 2014].

3.3 The model inputs

All solid dielectrics have the property of being able to accumulate electrical charges under electrical stress beyond an electric field threshold [Villeneuve-Faure *et al.*, 2014]. The accumulation of electrical charges induces a local increase of the electric field, and this may lead to a failure of the system containing the dielectric and/or a premature of dielectric breakdown [Normand *et al.*, 2003]. Consequently, it is important to quantify the density of accumulated charges and their localization in dielectric layers to improve the reliability of devices and systems.

Several methods for charge detection in insulators have been proposed; see [Rezende et al., 2009] for a review of these methods. In the same manner, in [Villeneuve-Faure et al., 2014] a recent method has been proposed that totally relies on the Electrostatic Force Distance Curve (EFDC), from which the method takes its name as it is also called the *EFDC method*. This method aims to detect the 3D localization of charges across dielectrics [Boularas et al., 2016]. It is specialized for thin dielectric films with a thickness of less than 200 nm.

It has been demonstrated experimentally that EFDCs are sensitive to charge localization in three dimensions [Villeneuve-Faure *et al.*, 2016]. So studying their sensitivity can be a first step in detecting the charge spatial localization in dielectrics. For that, we study the sensitivity of the EFDC with respect to the charge position and density in dielectrics using the global sensitivity analysis method of the Sobol method.

In our case study, the considered EFDCs are obtained by AFM scanning a dielectric with a buried electrode. Indeed, from an experimental point of view the potential is easier to be controlled than charge distribution. Accordingly, the electrical potential localization and density can be represented by three elements: the width of the electrode w, the depth of electrode d, which in turn represents the electrode's position, and v the potential applied on the electrode. So the inputs of our model are w, v and d of which we study the impact on the EFDC using Sobol method. In the next section, we give more details about the experimental procedures and the materials used to derive the EFDCs that we use in our sensitivity study.

3.4 Experimental procedures

As stated in the previous section, the considered EFDCs are obtained by AFM scanning a dielectric with buried electrodes. In detail, the sample structure of the considered dielectric consists of aluminum electrodes embedded in a SiN_x layer as shown in Fig. 3.5. Since the considered inputs are w, v and d, different samples are designed by varying w, v and d, then their EFDCs are recorded.



Figure 3.5: Sample scheme (electrode is represented in black).

To manufacture these samples, a 270nm-thick SiN_x dielectric layer was deposited using High Frequency Plasma Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition [Zaghloul *et al.*, 2010] over a highly doped silicon substrate. For the embedded aluminum electrode fabrication, a lift-off process was used. First, a 2.5μ m-thick N-LOF photoresist was deposited and patterned by photolithography. After this step, SiN_x was chemically etched to a depth of 70nm and filled with aluminum. The combination of etching and electrode deposition with the same photoresist layer ensures an intimate metal/dielectric contact and a small surface roughness. Finally, the electrodes were embedded at different depths d depositing a SiN_x cover layer of different thickness.

The AFM measurements were done using a Bruker Multimode 8 apparatus. To avoid capillarity parasitic effect all measurements were done under N₂ atmosphere after drying the samples at 100°C for 15 min to remove the water layer. In addition, these measurements were done using a Pt-coated silicon tip provided by Bruker (SCM-PIT) for which the spring constant of the cantilever was calibrated combining photodiode sensitivity measurement and thermal tune mode. Moreover, all measurements were performed at the middle of the electrode width. Moreover, during the experiments the cantilever remains parallel to electrode to minimize parasitic effect [Negoescu et Axinte, 2007a]. The different values taken by w, v and d to obtain the samples are:

- $w = 6 \,\mu m, \, 20 \,\mu m, \, 40 \,\mu m.$
- v = 4 V, 6 V, 8 V, 10 V, 15 V.
- d = 10 nm, 50 nm, 100 nm.

Accordingly, 45 different samples were scanned. Implying that 45 different EFDCs were obtained. These EFDC are used in our sensitivity study.

Fig. 3.6 shows some EFDCs obtained for different configurations according to the above explained experimental procedures. In general, these curves start from their negative initial values and then undergo a logarithmic growth. There is rapid progress at the beginning, but continue to progress slowly until they approach their horizontal asymptotes. Fig. 3.6(a) displays EFDCs for different values of the electrode's width w. However Fig. 3.6(b) displays EFDCs for different values of the electrode's depth d.

As it can be seen from these two figures, the variation of d and w, respectively, leads to an apparent modification in the plot of the EFDC. Even though this influence is clearly visible from these plots, its quantification is not straightforward. So quantifying this



Figure 3.6: Evolution of EFDC as function of electrodes parameters: (a) Width w (bias v and depth d are fixed at 15v and 100nm respectively) and (b) Depth d (bias v and width w are fixed at 15v and $20\mu m$ respectively).

influence could be a key point in using the EFDC for detecting the charge position in 3D [Palleau *et al.*, 2010]. With this in mind, we use the Sobol sensitivity method to thoroughly understand and quantify this influence. However, to apply the Sobol sensitivity method, the output should be a scalar. For that, in the next section a representative model of the EFDC is introduced, in order to prepare the requirements for applying the Sobol sensitivity method.

3.5 EFDC as a logistic law

Recall that from chapter 1, the Sobol method is a global sensitivity analysis applied to study the sensitivity of a model with respect to its input variable. In this manner, the output of the studied model should be a scalar. So for studying the sensitivity of the EFDC with respect to d, v, and w, it is needed to find a representative model that takes d, v, and w and link them to the EFDC, while giving a scalar output.

Since we are dealing with graphs, at first sight one would think of consulting analytical geometry to find the link between the graphical features of the curve and the values of d, v, and w, for instance take the curvature as an output. However, the data of the curves is derived from experimental procedures, and hence it is surely infected by random noise. This leads to EFDCs with almost perturbed plots, and so it would be problematic to carry a geometric procedure directly. For that, a more systematic way to deal with such

noisy curves is used.

The clue here is that these curves have a sigmoid shape compatible with the logistic law curves. So, according to [Villeneuve-Faure *et al.*, 2014], the best experimental data fitting for an EFDC matches a 4 parameter logistic law (or 4PL for short), which is defined by the following expression:

$$f(z) = D + \frac{A - D}{1 + \left(\frac{z}{C}\right)^B}$$
(3.1)

where the four parameters A, B, C, and D characterize the curve's sigmoid shape. As shown in Fig. 3.7, parameters A and D are the curve's minimum and maximum value respectively, either taken at some values of z or attained asymptotically by the curve. The parameter B is called the *Hill slope*, which is responsible for the steepness of the bending of the curve. C is called the *mean response point*, it is the z value at which the curve is at its midway between the min and max. Note that if $B \leq 1$ the first bending of the curve almost disappears. In fact, this is the case of the EFDC as shown in Fig. 3.6.



Figure 3.7: The illustration of the logistic curve f(z).

The main advantage of fitting by the 4PL law compared to more general laws (like polynomials) is that the 4PL fits accurately the EFDC over a large distance range. The plots in 3.8 compare the regression residues of fitting the EFDC by 4PL and by a polynomial for different degrees. In the ordinate, we have the residuals after fitting (using least-square) the experimental EFDCs with polynomial expression and 4PL. In the abscissa, we have the degree of the polynomial used in the fitting.

Residuals coming from polynomial regression are always higher than those coming from logistic Law regression. This demonstrates that the logistic Law is better than polynomial expression to fit the EFDCs. Regression using polynomial order higher than 13 has



Figure 3.8: Residuals of the polynomial and logistic regressions.

not been performed since the fitting algorithm was not able to converge. Moreover, using polynomial expression of order more than 13 to fit the EFDCs curves does not make sense physically. For that, we choose the 4PL as a representative formula for the EFDC.

After fitting the experimental EFDCs by 4PL curves, for each value of the triplet variables (d, v, w), there will be corresponding values for the logistic parameters A, B, C, and D. Hence, studying the effects of the d, v, w on the EFDCs can be exchanged by studying the effect of (d, v, w) on each of logistic parameters A, B, C, and D, which are scalars. Starting from this point, the mission is to study the sensitivity of the logistic parameters (A, B, C, D) with respect to (d, v, w). For that we consider the model whose inputs are d, v, and w, and outputs are A, B, C, and D. This model is called a **Fitted-4PL** and it is schematized in Fig. 3.9.



Figure 3.9: The model Fitted-4PL

Note that the model **Fitted-4PL** is not defined explicitly, however by the fitting of the EFDC by 4PL, data points of **Fitted-4PL** can be acquired. Thus the 45 EFDCs corresponding to the different values of d, v, and w defined in Section 3.4, give 45 different values for A, B, C, and D. Hence, we have 45 data points to be used in the the sensitivity study.

3.6 Sobol indexes of the logistic parameters

Recall that sensitivity analysis studies how the variation in the output can be apportioned to the variation of the inputs. This leads to the determination of how the output is dependent on each of the inputs. Thus, sensitivity analysis allows the identification of the input (or set of inputs) that has the greatest influence on the output. In this manner, our aim is to find qualitative information about the influence of each of d, v, and w on the logistic parameters A, B, C, and D. In this application we use the Sobol sensitivity method. As explained in chapter 1 this method assigns a sensitivity index to each input d, v, and w. These indexes, called Sobol indexes, indicate quantitatively how much each input affects the output. Here we have several outputs: A, B, C, and D, so the sensitivity of each one is studied separately.

Note that, the forms of A, B, C, and D in terms of d, v, and w are unknown. This implies that the Sobol indexes should be found numerically. However only 45 different samples are given from the experiments, which is a small number for a sampling. For that, in this case, we consider the following: in fact d, v, and w take only discrete values in the experiments (see section 3.4) even though they are considered as continuous variables. Thus the expectation and variance formulas of discrete random variables can be used to derive the Sobol indexes. Practically, formulae (1.45)-(1.47) are computed according to a discrete random variable and then substituted in (1.51) to get the Sobol indexes. In the next paragraph we present the obtained first order Sobol indexes d, v, and w concerning the outputs A, B, C, and D.

3.6.1 First order Sobol indexes

The general formula of the first order Sobol index of an arbitrary input x_i is given by:

$$S_i = \frac{Var(F_i)}{Var(Y)} \tag{3.2}$$

where $Var(F_i)$ is defined by:

$$F_i(X_i) = E[Y/X_i] - E[Y]$$
(3.3)

For each output A, B, C, and D and for each of the inputs d, v, and w, the first order Sobol indexes are computed by substituting the above formulas according to a discrete random variables. So for instance, for the output A and the input d we have:

$$S_d = \frac{Var(A_d)}{Var(A)} \tag{3.4}$$

where

$$Var(A_d) = Var(E[A/d] - E[A]) = Var(E[A/d])$$

= $Var(E[A/d = 10], E[A/d = 50], E[A/d = 100])$
= $\frac{1}{3} \left(\left(E[A/d = 10] - E[A] \right)^2 + \left(E[A/d = 50] - E[A] \right)^2 + \left(E[A/d = 100] - E[A] \right)^2 \right)$
(3.5)

Analogously the other first order Sobol indexes are computed. The results obtained are represented as a bar diagram in Fig. 3.10. For each output A, B, C, and D there are three bars representing the values of the first order Sobol indexes of the three inputs d, v, and w. As depicted in Fig. 3.10, A (i.e. maximum electrostatic force) is mainly influenced by applied bias v and electrode depth d. Contrary to A, D (i.e. electrostatic long range force) is influenced mainly by the electrode width w and equally in the same amount by the applied bias v and the electrode depth d. Moreover, B and C (i.e. curve bending and shape) are more influenced by the applied bias v, however as less influence is by the electrode depth d on B and electrode width w on C. According to these first results, the applied bias v seems to be the main influence for the parameters on of EFDC curve [Alhossen *et al.*, 2016]. This highlights the Sobol method interest in this sensitivity study



Figure 3.10: The first order Sobol indexes of d, v, and w. The indexes S_d , S_v , and S_w represent the influence of d, v, and w, respectively, on A, B, C, and D.

because this effect was not highlighted in preliminary experimental studies [Villeneuve-Faure *et al.*, 2014].

However, although the first order Sobol indexes show that that B and C are poorly influenced by w, the experimental results [Villeneuve-Faure *et al.*, 2014] tend to demonstrate that B is strongly influenced by w. This can be justified by the fact that B could be affected by an interaction of w with another factor d or v, and B is not directly affected by w. For that, the effect of w did not appear in the first order Sobol indexes. This encourages the computation of the second order Sobol indexes of d, v, and w concerning all the outputs A, B, C, and D. Similarly as in for the first order, the formulas of discrete random variable are used, and with only the 45 acquired data points. The results of the second order Sobol indexes are presented in the next subsection.

3.6.2 Second order Sobol indexes

The general formula of the first order Sobol index of an arbitrary input x_i is given by:

$$S_{ij} = \frac{Var(F_{ij})}{Var(Y)} \tag{3.6}$$

where $Var(F_{ij})$ is the defined by:

$$F_{ij}(X_i, X_j) = E[Y/X_i, X_j] - E[Y/X_i] - E[Y/X_j] + E[Y]$$
(3.7)

For each output A, B, C, and D and for each of the inputs d, v, and w, the second order Sobol indexes are computed by substituting the above formulas according to a discrete random variables. So for instance for the output A and the second order Sobol index of the inputs d and w is:

$$S_{dw} = \frac{Var(A_{dw})}{Var(A)} \tag{3.8}$$

where

$$Var(A_{dw}) = Var(E[A/d, w] - E[A/d] - E[A/w] + E[A]) = Var(E[A/d, w] - E[A/d] - E[A/w])$$

$$= Var((E[A/d = 10, w = 6] - E[A/10] - E[A/6]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 10, w = 20] - E[A/10] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 50, w = 6] - E[A/50] - E[A/6]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 50, w = 20] - E[A/50] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 50, w = 40] - E[A/50] - E[A/40]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 6] - E[A/100] - E[A/40]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 20] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/100] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/20] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/20] - E[A/20]),$$

$$(E[A/d = 100, w = 40] - E[A/20] - E[A/20]),$$

Analogously the other second order Sobol indexes are computed. The results obtained are represented as a bar diagram in Fig. 3.11. For each output A, B, C, and D there are three bars representing the values of the second order Sobol indexes of the inputs d, v, and w. As depicted in Fig. 3.10, most second order Sobol indexes have very small quantities. Apparent effect is for the interaction between v and w on D, its associated second order Sobol index is about 0.4. The output C is slightly affected by the interaction between the inputs where its associated second order Sobol indexes are all about 0.2. Similarly the output B is slightly affected by the interaction between the inputs where its associated second order Sobol indexes are all about 0.07. The interaction between the inputs appears



Figure 3.11: The second order Sobol indexes of d, v, and w. The indexes S_{dw} , S_{dv} , and S_{vw} represent the influence of the interactions between d and w, d and v, and v and w, respectively, on A, B, C, and D.

to have no effect on A as all second order Sobol indexes are approximately zero.

To confirm the results of the Sobol indexes as computed by the formulas of the discrete random variables, we use Design of Experiment (DOE) that is an influence detecting method specialized for experimental model. In the next section we introduce briefly the notion of DOE, then we present the results obtained by using DOE to detect the effects of d, v, and w on A, B, C, and D as stated in [Alhossen *et al.*, 2016].

3.7 Design Of Experiment (DOE)

To validate the results obtained above using Sobol method we use a graphical way from Design Of Experiments (DOE). In general, DOE is an effective strategy to examine the behavior of a simulation model when changing its input values in order to detect their effect [Wakeland *et al.*, 2004]. This helps in understanding the input-output relationship and in identifying the relative importance of the inputs. DOE has a property of expressing the results graphically, which allows scientists to directly analyze of the effect of each input. Hence, applying a DOE technique to the present case study, allows the identification of the impact of each of the inputs d, v, and w on the logistic parameters (outputs) A, B, C, and D.

3.7.1 The basics of DOE

To start, first we introduce some fundamental terms used when dealing with DOE techniques as mentioned in [Telford, 2007]. The *Factors* are the inputs of the experimental model, they are the elements that are varied when the experiment is conducted. A factor may assume at least two distinct values during an experiment, such values are called *Levels*. So, *Levels* are the different possible taken values of the factors. The *Response* is the output of the experimental model; it describes how the system responds under a certain configuration of the input factors. Thus, concerning our study case, the factors are the three inputs d, v, and w. According to the conducted EFDC measurements, the levels of w are $6 \mu m$, $20 \mu m$ and $40 \mu m$, the levels of v are 4 V, 6 V, 8 V, V10 V and 15 V, and lastly the levels of d are 10 nm, 50 nm and 100 nm. In addition, the response in this case is the four logistic parameters A, B, C, and D.

To proceed in studying the factor-response model with DOE, one should select a DOE technique that holds behind the procedures in which the experimental data is collected, as well as the tests required to analyze this data.

Several techniques of DOE have been developed [Cavazzuti, 2012], each is applied to some particular problems depending on the required purpose of the experiment. Among those, Factorial Design is considered as one of the most efficient experimental designs for assessing the effects of the experimental factors on the response. In particular, a Full Factorial Design of experiment allows not only the detection the individual effects of the factors on the response (\simeq first order Sobol indexes), but also the interaction between the factors and its effect on the response (\simeq second order Sobol indexes). By this DOE technique, all the possible combinations of the selected levels of the factors are taken in account. Although this collection could be costly for complex experiments, however it enables the broad investigation of the effects of the factors as well as their interactions. Thus, results obtained by Full Factorial DOE are expected to be more robust than the results obtained by any fraction Factorial DOE, in which a fractional number of combinations of the factor levels is taken.

The data executed from the full Factorial DOE is usually interpreted graphically using the *Factorial Plots*. These plots mainly depend on showing the contrasts of the averages of the response at different configurations of the factors to derive conclusions. The two frequently used factorial plots are the *Main Effect Plots* and the *Interaction Plots*. The main effect plots are the factorial plots responsible for visualizing the individual effects of the factors on the response. The interaction plots are the factorial plots responsible for visualizing the effects of the interaction of the factors on the response. In the next subsections we detail how these plots are done and the associated factorial plots of our study case.

3.7.2 The main effect plots

The main effect plots are formed by plotting the different averages of the response while fixing one of the factors at a certain level. To see this practically, consider the Fig. 3.12 which displays the main effect plots of the logistic parameters A, B, C, and D with respect to the factors d, v, and w.

Fig. 3.12 represents the mean of A, B, C, and D as function of the levels of d, v, and w. At each level, the corresponding factor is fixed, and then the mean of the response is computed and plotted as a dot. After performing this at all the levels of the factors, the plotted points of each factor (d, v, and w) are joined by a line. Then accordingly, the dependence of A, B, C, and D (linear, quadratic, \cdots) to each of d, v, and w is derived. Analyzing the main effect plots of Fig. 3.12 we see:

- Fig. 3.12(a) shows that parameter A (i.e. the minimum value of the electrostatic force) (i) increases as the depth d increases, (ii) decreases quadratically as the bias v increases and (iii) decreases slowly as the width w increases.
- Fig. 3.12(b) shows that parameter *B* (curve bending): (i) increases slowly as the depth *d* increases, (ii) decreases with as the bias *v* increases and (iii) is quite constant with respect to the width *w*.
- Fig. 3.12(c) shows that parameter C increases slightly as the depth d increases and the applied voltage v increases. However C seems to vary as the the width w



Figure 3.12: The main effect plots of depth d, width w and applied voltage v for each of the 4PL parameters: (a) A, (b) B, (c) C and (d) D.

increases. But it is important to notice that the variation of C remains small until the voltage reaches around 12v.

• Fig. 3.12(d) shows that parameter D (the maximum value of the electrostatic force) increases as the depth d increases, and decreases as the bias v and the electrode width w increase.

In general, these results validate the results obtained by Sobol sensitivity method. As it appears, A is mostly affected by d and v, and this is compatible with the bar diagram 3.10. Also, compatible results obtained for D as it approximately equally affected by d, v, and w. Moreover, the main plots shows that B is mostly affected by v and this is in agreement with the obtained Sobol index of v which is around 0.8. Similarly for C, which appears to be mostly affected by v. Now we proceed to check the compatibility between the interaction plots and the second order Sobol indexes.

3.7.3 The interaction effect plots

The interaction effect plots indicate whether the effect of a factor on the response changes depending on the setting of another factor. These plots display by lines all the main effect plots of one factor at every level of another factor. The connecting lines in every plot lead to the understanding of how the interactions between the factors affect the response. If the lines are parallel, this means that the effect of the indicated factor on the response is identical across all the levels of the other factor. Hence, the effect does not depend on the level of the other factor, and so no interaction occurs. However, when the lines are not parallel, the effect of one factor depends on the setting of the other factor, and so in this case there is an interaction effect.

To see this practically, consider the matrix plot in Fig 3.13 which represents the interaction effects matrix plot of the parameter A. This is a multi-plot per figure, displaying the original main effect plots of A on the diagonals, and all of the two-factor interaction effect plots of A on the off-diagonal positions. For instance, the first plot in the first row presents the main effect plot of d on A. On the other hand, the second plot in the first row presents six traces for the effect of d on A, each trace corresponds to a level of v. Analogously the other plots can be seen.

In general, despite the slight non parallelism in some interaction plots of A, most traces possess approximately parallel lines. This shows that no serious interaction between d, v, and w affects the parameter A. As a conclusion, all the contributions of d, v, and w in the formula of A are individual contributions, where the multiplied ones can be neglected. This confirms the results of the second order Sobol indexes, where the indexes associated to a are all about zero.

Note that the interpretation of d-v plot (first raw second trace in Fig 3.13) or v-d plot (second raw first trace in Fig 3.13) provides the same results. For that, only one-way interaction plots are presented in Fig. 3.14 for the parameters B, C, and D (d-v plots, d-w plots and v-w plots).

Fig. 3.14(a) shows the interaction effects plots of the parameter B. Contrary to A, more crossed lines appear especially in the d-v plot and in the v-w plot. Nevertheless these lines possess a slight non parallelism. For the d-w plot, all the lines are quite similar



Figure 3.13: The Interaction Effects Matrix plot of the parameter A.

indicating poor influence of the interaction of d and w on B. Recall that all second order Sobol indexes corresponding to B have a value about 0.07, which is compatible with the obtained interaction plots of B.

Fig. 3.14(b) shows the interaction effects plots of the parameter C. Crossed lines appear especially in the d-w plot and in the v-w plot. For the d-v plot, all the lines are quite similar indicating a poor influence of their interaction on B. This is also compatible with obtained second order Sobol indexes associated to C, where $S_{dv} \approx 0.1$ and $S_{dw} \approx S_{vw} \approx 0.2$.

Fig. 3.14(c) shows the interaction effect plots of the parameter D. In this plot the crossed lines appear much more clearly than the interaction plots of B and C, which indicates that the influence of d, v and w on D is cross-linked. Consequently, D which



Figure 3.14: one-way interaction plots for the parameters: (a) B, (b) C, and (d) D, in the order : d-w plots, d-v plots and v-w plots.

represents the minimum electrostatic force is the most strongly influenced parameter by the interaction effects, as obtained by the second order Sobol indexes.

These results, as the second order Sobol indexes, show that the influence of electrode depth d, width w and applied bias v on the logistic parameters B, C, and D is not straightforward and the interaction effects present a contribution in this manner. Indeed, as some effects are cross-linked, A, B, C, and D cannot be simply interpreted by additive formula of the individual contributions of d, v and w, but they need a model to be interpreted thoroughly. For that we propose as a continuation of our work a representative model, called matrix Model, for the logistic parameters A, B, C, and D in terms of d, v and w. The next section presents the details of this representative model.

3.8 Matrix Model

To continue investigating the relationship between the logistic parameters A, B, C, and D and the experimental variables d, v and w, we proceed in finding an approximation formula of each of A, B, C, and D in terms of d, v and w. This helps also in finding an approximating expression of the electrostatic force in terms of d, v and w by substituting A, B, C, and D in the formula of the logistic law (3.1). The proposed model that we use is known as the matrix Model [Negoescu et Axinte, 2007b] that allows us to find a multivariate polynomial approximation using little experimental data. This is favorable in our case since we have a limited number of data points for A, B, C, and D (only 45). In addition, the coefficients in this model are computed by formulas similar to those that express the mean average in the discrete case, which we have acquired from the computation of the Sobol indexes and the effects in DOE.

The matrix model is expressed with different orders, depending on how many contributions of the inputs are needed in the approximation formula. So for instance, the first order matrix model considers only the individual contributions of the inputs and it is formed of the sum of univariate polynomials of the inputs. Second order Matricidal model includes the second order interaction of the inputs and it is formed of the first order matrix formula plus bivariate polynomials of the inputs. Analogously higher order matrix models are defined.

Since three factors are involved in the experiments of our study case (d, v, and w) then a general response symbolized by y is considered, written as $y = \mathcal{M}(d, v, w)$ for some unknown formula \mathcal{M} . \mathcal{M} here represents the unknown expression of the model to be approximated which is in our case the logistic parameters A, B, C, and D.

The following subsections represent the results obtained when applying a first and a second order matrix approximations for A, B, C, and D in terms d, v and w [Alhossen *et al.*, 2016]. This includes a confirmation of the results obtained by DOE and Sobol method.

3.8.1 First order matrix model

The First order matrix Model $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_1$ which approximates \mathcal{M} is defined by:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{1}(d, v, w) = \overline{y} + \begin{bmatrix} I_{d_{1}}(d) & I_{d_{2}}(d) & \cdots & I_{d_{l}}(d) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} E_{d_{1}} \\ E_{d_{2}} \\ \vdots \\ E_{d_{l}} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{bmatrix} I_{v_{1}}(v) & I_{v_{2}}(v) & \cdots & I_{v_{m}}(v) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} E_{v_{1}} \\ E_{v_{2}} \\ \vdots \\ E_{v_{m}} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} I_{w_{1}}(w) & I_{w_{2}}(w) & \cdots & I_{w_{n}}(w) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} E_{w_{1}} \\ E_{w_{2}} \\ \vdots \\ E_{w_{n}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.10)

where \bar{y} is the total average of the response, and l, m, and n are the number of levels of d, v, and w respectively. I_d , I_v , and I_w are polynomials associated to the levels of the factors and called indicators. For instance, the indicator of the factor d at level i, denoted by $I_{d_i}(d)$, is a polynomial in d and it is given by:

$$I_{d_i}(d) = \prod_{k \neq i} \frac{\left(d - d_k\right)}{\left(d_i - d_k\right)} \tag{3.11}$$

where d_k is the *k*th level of *d* in the given data. Moreover, in formula (3.10) E_d , E_v , and E_w are constants associated to the levels of the factors and called the first order effects. Practically, the first order effect of the factor *d* at the *i*th level, denoted by E_{d_i} , can be easily computed using the following formula:

$$E_{d_i}$$
 = Mean of y when d is fixed at d_i – Total mean (3.12)

According to [Pillet, 1997] the expression $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ in equation (3.10) is a first order approximation of \mathcal{M} , since it contains only the first order effects of the factors. In several study cases, the first order matrix Model is sufficient to get a good approximation of the initial model. Thus, to check this in the case of the logistic parameters, each of A, B, C, and D is written as a First order matrix approximation in terms of the factors d, v, and w. Then, these approximations are plugged in the logistic curve formula (3.1), and thus forming an approximation expression for the electrostatic force in terms of d, v, and w. Then we compare the EFDCs that are obtained experimentally to those obtained using the matrix approximation of A, B, C, and D. Fig. 3.15 presents the comparison between the plot of EFDCs and the approximated model for the values of the triplets (d, v, w): (a) $(10 nm, 6v, 6 \mu m)$, (b) $(100 nm, 8v, 40 \mu m)$, (c) $(50 nm, 6v, 6 \mu m)$, and (d) $(10 nm, 15v, 40 \mu m)$.



Figure 3.15: The difference between the EFDCs obtained experimentally (blue) and the EFDCs obtained using the first order matrix approximation models of A, B, C, and D (red). Different values of (d, v, w) are considered: (a) $(10 nm, 6v, 6\mu m)$, (b) $(100 nm, 8v, 40 \mu m)$, (c) $(50 nm, 6v, 6 \mu m)$, and (d) $(10 nm, 15v, 40 \mu m)$.

As it can be seen in Fig.3.15, a good agreement between the two plots of the EFDCs is found but not for all cases. Indeed, disagreement is observed for the maximum attained asymptotic (Fig. 3.15(c)) or at the bending of the curve (Figure 7.d). These two discrepancies are related directly to D and the couple B-C respectively. They show that the approximation model is missing some information. By referring to the results of the interaction plots of DOE (Fig. 3.14) and the second order Sobol indexes (Fig. 3.11), this defect can be justified. Indeed, the interaction plots demonstrate the importance of the interaction between d, v, and w and its influence on the logistic parameters especially B and D. Thus, to avoid this drawback in the approximation, the interaction factors should be involved in the formula. This is done by considering a second order matrix model.

3.8.2 Second order matrix model

The second order matrix model add second order interactions of the inputs to the first order matrix model. This is done by adding to formula (3.10) new terms of the following form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} I_{d_1}(d) & I_{d_2}(d) & \cdots & I_{d_l}(d) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} E_{d_1v_1} & E_{d_1v_2} & \cdots & E_{d_1v_m} \\ E_{d_2v_1} & \cdots & & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ E_{d_lv_1} & E_{d_lv_2} & \cdots & E_{d_lv_m} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I_{v_1}(v) \\ I_{v_2}(v) \\ \vdots \\ I_{v_m}(v) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.13)

where $E_{d_iv_j}$ is the interaction effect between d and v at levels i and j respectively. Its formula is given by:

 $E_{d_i v_j}$ = Mean of y when d and v are fixed at d_i and v_j - Total mean - $E_{d_i} - E_{v_j}$ (3.14)

Analogously to equation (3.14), the interaction effects $E_{d_iw_i}$ and $E_{v_iw_i}$ are defined.

Fig. 3.16 represents the EFDCs computed using the second order matrix model for approximating the parameters A, B, C, and D of the logistic law curve, compared to the experimental EFDCs for the same values of (d, v, w) used in Fig. 3.15.

As it can be seen from Fig. 3.16, the approximated EFDCs computed when using the second order model exhibit a very good agreement with the experimental EFDCs. These results are promising as they are compatible with what obtained suing DOE and Sobol method.

Usually in approximating expressions, attention should be paid to the cost of each interaction term added to formula (3.10). So compensation usually is taken between the efficiency of the constructed model and the computational cost. For the EFDC measurements, the price of getting the 45 trials, compared to the results of the second order matrix Model, is acceptable according to the experts. The second order Matricidal model permits a precise computation of EFDCs for whatever values of (d, v, w), which will be



Figure 3.16: The difference between the EFDCs obtained experimentally (blue) and the EFDCs obtained using the second order matrix approximation models of A, B, C, and D (red). Different values of (d, v, w) are considered: (a) $(10 nm, 6v, 6 \mu m)$, (b) $(100 nm, 8v, 40 \mu m)$, (c) $(50 nm, 6v, 6 \mu m)$, and (d) $(10 nm, 15v, 40 \mu m)$.

powerful for charges localization investigation in thin dielectric film [Boularas et al., 2016].

3.9 Conclusion

In this chapter we check the use of Sobol indexes if they are computed using the formulas of discrete random variables. Usually when the Sobol method is applied, Sobol indexes are computed numerically and the sampling is taken according to continuous random variables (normal, uniform, \cdots). In this chapter we show that the Sobol method may give robust results even for sampling of discrete random variables.

To this end, we study the sensitivity of the experimental curve EFDC from the domain of force spectroscopy. The inputs of the model are the experimental factors d, v, and w. The output of the model considered should be scalar to allow the application of the Sobol method. For that, the EFDC is fitted by 4PL logistic law, which allows the EFDC to be represented exclusively by the four logistic parameters A, B, C, and D. Then the sensitivity of each of A, B, C, and D with respect to d, v, and w is studied by deriving the corresponding Sobol index.

By definition, the inputs d, v, and w can take continuous values, however due to the cost of each experiment run, limited data is given corresponding to the limited discrete values taken by d, v, and w. This gives only 45 different combinations. So we deal with the inputs d, v, and w as discrete variables and we compute the corresponding Sobol indexes using the formulas of discrete random variables. Two kinds of Sobol indexes are considered as the first order Sobol indexes and the second order Sobol indexes. The results are then validated using the factorial plots of Design Of Experiments (DOE). The main effect plots of DOE confirm the results obtained by the first order Sobol indexes. In addition, the interaction effect plots also confirm the results obtained by the second order Sobol indexes.

Moreover, we propose an approximation model, called matrix model, of the logistic parameters of A, B, C, and D in terms of d, v, and w. Using this approximation we show the importance of taking into account the interaction between the inputs, while comparing a first order approximation by a second order one relative to the experimental results.

The final words concerning the application done in this chapter are to take advantage of the obtained results in the domain of force spectroscopy. According to experts, the constructed matrix model can be used to characterize the charge localization as it includes the three main variables: the depth d and the width w, hence the position and volume of the charge, and the voltage v, meaning the density of the charge.

In the next chapter we will continue with the Sobol method, but we extend its basic application into studying the variation of the Sobol indexes with respect to some active factors or experimental conditions. Accordingly, new conclusions and scientific consequences will be derived.

CHAPTER 4 The Variation of Sobol indexes and its Significance

Contents

4.1 Introduction	93
4.2 Image formation: from 3D into 2D	95
4.3 Shape-from-Template: 3D reconstruction	
4.3.1 Problem definition	100
4.3.2 First reformulation	103
4.3.3 Second reformulation	103
4.3.4 Change of variable	104
4.3.5 Analytical solution	106
4.3.6 Numerical solution	106
4.4 The model inputs	108
4.5 The model ZfT_SfT	108
4.6 Imitating reality by adding noise	111
4.7 Sensitivity analysis of SfT	
4.8 Charge transport model as a black box	$\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots 121$
4.9 Sensitivity analysis of charge transport model	122
4.9.1 The variation protocols	
4.9.2 Sensitivity analysis of the barrier height for inje	$\frac{\text{ction}}{2} \dots \dots$
4.9.3 Sensitivity analysis of the mobility	
4.9.4 Sensitivity analysis of the de-trapping barrier he	eight 126
4.9.5 Sensitivity analysis of the trapping coefficient .	
4.10 Parameter optimization	
4.11 Conclusion	130

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter we continue with the Sobol sensitivity analysis method and we present a new framework for its application. In the previous chapter we consider the Sobol method in a particular manner and we examine its performance in the discrete case. However here we consider it in a general manner and we study the variation of the Sobol indexes with respect to some external factors or experimental conditions. The aim of studying this variation is to reveal the optimal settings at which conclusions and information about the inputs can be derived. This helps in the case of uncertainty study as it indicates the best configurations for analyzing and quantifying of the input uncertainty. In this manner, we consider two different models and we study the evolution of their corresponding Sobol indexes with respect to some factors, in order to see how conclusions about the inputs can be derived.

The first considered model is from the domain of computer vision. It represents mainly the functioning of a 3D reconstruction method called Shape-From-Template (SfT) [Bartoli et al., 2015]. This method uses a single 2D image and a 3D template to reconstruct a 3D deformed surface. An important factor in the 3D reconstruction process is the depth of the 3D deformed surface in front of the camera, so for that we study the evolution of the Sobol indexes concerning the SfT method as a function of the depth. To keep the concepts clear, we start by recalling in section 4.2 the mathematical model of image formation by a camera and the parameters involved in this process. Then in section 4.3, we present the details of the 3D reconstruction method SfT. In section 4.4, we introduce the inputs of our considered model according to the concern of the SfT method. After that in section 4.5, we explain how we construct our model while including the numerical solution of the SfT method and getting a scalar output to be adapted to apply Sobol method. Keeping in mind that the solution of the SfT is theoretical and that in reality 3D reconstruction is always accompanied by noise, for that we modify the constructed model by adding noise to imitate reality. The procedures done are detailed in section 4.6. To conclude, we describe in section 4.7 how Sobol indexes are computed as a variation of the depth and the conclusions derived from these variations.

The second model considered in this chapter is a charge transport model for dielectrics. This model describes how a dielectric may conduct charges under the effect of high electric fields. We deal with it here as a black box, and we study the variation of its corresponding Sobol indexes as a function of time, temperature and the strength of the applied electric field. In section 4.9, we define the inputs and the outputs of the considered charge
transport model. In this manner, we will see how studying the variation of the Sobol indexes helps in deriving the best configuration for applying an optimization process to find the inputs.

4.2 Image formation: from 3D into 2D

In this section, we review the mathematical formulation of a camera in order to form the 2D image of a 3D object. First of all, it is important to note that the cameras used in our daily life are accompanied with lenses to focus light. However, all cameras follow the same concept as the pinhole camera in image formation. Thus the pinhole camera model is presented with the associated notations that are used throughout this manuscript.

A pinhole camera is a black box that is punctured from one side forming a small hole. The rays of light coming from the outside world pass through the hole and fall on the opposite side of the box, forming a 2D image of the 3D outside scene. Fig. 4.1 is an illustration of the pinhole camera.



Figure 4.1: The pinhole camera.

Observe that the real pinhole image is an upside down image of the scene. However the virtual image, which is usually seen on a photograph or on a computer screen, corresponds to the projection of the scene onto a hypothetical plane. This hypothetical plane is situated in front of the camera at the same distance from the hole to the opposite wall on which the image is actually formed (see Fig. 4.2).

The distance from the hole to the opposite wall on which the image is formed is called the *focal length* of the camera, and it is denoted throughout this manuscript by f. In addition, the 'hole' of the camera is called the *camera center* and it is denoted by C, whereas the



Figure 4.2: Real vs virtual image by a pinhole camera.

hypothetical plane in front of the camera is called the *image plane*.

To see geometrically how the 3D object is projected into the image plane, we follow the procedure explained in [Moons *et al.*, 2008]. Consider an orthogonal reference frame $\mathbb{I} = \{C; X, Y, Z\}$ centered at the camera center C, and whose positive Z axis is directed towards the scene. This frame induces another orthogonal frame $\mathbb{J} = \{O; U, V\}$ on the image plane as shown in Fig. 4.3. So any point in the image plane with coordinates (a, b)in \mathbb{J} , has (a, b, f) coordinates in the camera frame \mathbb{I} .



Figure 4.3: Geometric model of the 2D image formation by a pinhole camera.

Concerning the 2D image formulation, for any point M in the 3D object, having coordinates (X_M, Y_M, Z_M) in the frame I, let (D) denote the straight line passing through M and C. The equation of (D) is defined by

$$(D) = \{ (x = \mathsf{X}_M t, \, y = \mathsf{Y}_M t, \, z = \mathsf{Z}_M t) \mid t \in \mathbb{R} \}$$

$$(4.1)$$

In addition, (D) intersects the image plane, and let m be the point of intersection. As $m \in (D)$ then the coordinates of m in \mathbb{I} are $(\mathsf{X}_M t_m, \mathsf{Y}_M t_m, \mathsf{Z}_M t_m)$ for some $t_m \in \mathbb{R}$. But m also belongs to the image plane, thus its third coordinate should be equal to the focal length f, and so $\mathsf{Z}_M \cdot t_m = f$. This implies that $t_m = \frac{f}{\mathsf{Z}_M}$, and so the coordinates of m in \mathbb{I} are $(f\frac{\mathsf{X}_M}{\mathsf{Z}_M}, f\frac{\mathsf{Y}_M}{\mathsf{Z}_M})$, and the coordinates of m in \mathbb{J} are $(\frac{f}{\mathsf{Z}_M}\mathsf{X}_M, \frac{f}{\mathsf{Z}_M}\mathsf{Y}_M)$. Thus the image of the 3D point M is the 2D point m whose coordinates in the image plane are $(\frac{f}{\mathsf{Z}_M}\mathsf{X}_M, \frac{f}{\mathsf{Z}_M}\mathsf{Y}_M)$.

Applying this to all the points (X, Y, Z) in the 3D scene, the 2D image is formed on the image plane and the corresponding coordinates of the points are $(f \frac{X}{Z}, f \frac{Y}{Z})$. Accordingly, we define the projection function of a camera $\Pi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^2)$ defined for any M = (X, Y, Z) by:

$$\Pi(M) = \frac{f}{\mathsf{Z}}(\mathsf{X},\mathsf{Y}). \tag{4.2}$$

Usually, images we use in daily life have a common measurement unit called 'pixel'. However the unit used in the orthogonal frame $\mathbb{J} = \{O; \mathsf{U}, \mathsf{V}\}$ is millimeter (mm). For that, a new frame $\mathbb{P} = \{O_p; \mathsf{U}_p, \mathsf{V}_p\}$ is attached to the image plane with a new coordinate system called the pixel coordinate system.



Figure 4.4: The pixel coordinate system $\mathbb{P} = \{O_p; \mathsf{U}_p, \mathsf{V}_p\}$ vs the image plane frame $\mathbb{J} = \{O; \mathsf{U}, \mathsf{V}\}.$

The change of units between \mathbb{J} and \mathbb{P} is done according to the following transformation:

$$\begin{aligned}
1 \overrightarrow{\mathsf{U}} &= \alpha_u \overrightarrow{\mathsf{U}}_p^{\,\prime} \\
1 \overrightarrow{\mathsf{V}} &= \alpha_v \overrightarrow{\mathsf{V}}_p^{\,\prime}
\end{aligned} \tag{4.3}$$

for some positive values α_u and α_v . Let the coordinates of O in the pixel coordinate system \mathbb{P} be (U_{po}, V_{po}) , then a point m having coordinates $(f_{\overline{Z}}^{\mathsf{X}}, f_{\overline{Z}}^{\mathsf{Y}})$ in \mathbb{J} , its pixel coordinates are derived as follows:

$$\overrightarrow{O_{p}m} = \overrightarrow{O_{p}O} + \overrightarrow{Om} = \left(U_{po}\overrightarrow{U_{p}} + V_{po}\overrightarrow{V_{p}}\right) + \left(\frac{f}{Z}\overrightarrow{X}\overrightarrow{U} + \frac{f}{Z}\overrightarrow{Y}\overrightarrow{V}\right)$$

$$= \left(U_{po}\overrightarrow{U_{p}} + V_{po}\overrightarrow{V_{p}}\right) + \left(\frac{f}{Z}\overrightarrow{X}\alpha_{u}\overrightarrow{U_{p}} + \frac{f}{Z}\overrightarrow{Y}\alpha_{v}\overrightarrow{V_{p}}\right)$$

$$= \left(U_{po} + \alpha_{u}f\frac{\overrightarrow{X}}{Z}\right)\overrightarrow{U_{p}} + \left(V_{po} + \alpha_{v}f\frac{\overrightarrow{Y}}{Z}\right)\overrightarrow{V_{p}}$$

$$= m_{1}\overrightarrow{U_{p}} + m_{2}\overrightarrow{V_{p}}$$

$$(4.4)$$

So the coordinates of m in the frame \mathbb{P} are $U_{po} + \alpha_u f \frac{\mathsf{X}}{\mathsf{Z}}$ and $V_{po} + \alpha_v f \frac{\mathsf{Y}}{\mathsf{Z}}$. These coordinates can be derived in a compact way using a matrix expression:

$$\mathbf{Z}\begin{pmatrix} m_1\\m_2\\1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_u f & 0 & U_{po}\\ 0 & \alpha_v f & V_{po}\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathsf{X}\\\mathsf{Y}\\\mathsf{Z} \end{pmatrix} \tag{4.5}$$

The above matrix is called the characteristic matrix of a camera and it is usually denoted by K. In addition, $\alpha_u f$, $\alpha_v f$, U_{po} , and V_{po} are called the internal parameters of the camera.

In this section we see how a 2D image of a 3D object is formed using the camera parameters. Each point in the 3D object undergoes a simple geometric transformation to get its pixel coordinates in the 2D image:

$$M = (\mathsf{X}, \mathsf{Y}, \mathsf{Z})$$

$$\xrightarrow{3D \text{ camera frame}} m = (f_{\overline{\mathsf{Z}}}^{\mathsf{X}}, f_{\overline{\mathsf{Z}}}^{\mathsf{Y}})$$

$$\xrightarrow{2D \text{ image plane}} m = (U_{po} + \alpha_u f_{\overline{\mathsf{Z}}}^{\mathsf{X}}, V_{po} + \alpha_v f_{\overline{\mathsf{Z}}}^{\mathsf{Y}})$$

$$\xrightarrow{2D \text{ pixel frame}} m = (U_{po} + \alpha_u f_{\overline{\mathsf{Z}}}^{\mathsf{X}}, V_{po} + \alpha_v f_{\overline{\mathsf{Z}}}^{\mathsf{Y}})$$

In the next section, the reverse operation is considered i.e. we go from a 2D image into recovering the 3D object. This is a much more complicated process than the simple image formation.

4.3 Shape-from-Template: 3D reconstruction

3D reconstruction is the process of reproducing the shape and the appearance of a 3D object starting from acquired information. Mainly, the starting point is a given 2D image of the scene. So for a 2D point in the image plane having coordinates (a, b), 3D reconstruction is to recover its corresponding 3D point (X, Y, Z) in the scene. Note that if the focal length of the camera f and the depth of the scene Z are known, then the 3D reconstruction problem can be directly solved. This is because the remaining unknowns are X and Y, and they can be derived using f and Z by:

$$X = \frac{Z}{f} a \text{ and } Y = \frac{Z}{f} b$$
 (4.6)

So the 3D reconstruction problem can be defined as a problem of finding the focal length f and the depth Z. Note that, this is not an easy mission and it cannot be solved by a single 2D image. For that, this topic has occupied a broad research area in the domain of computer vision. Various methods exist in this manner [Moons *et al.*, 2008]. Simple methods start by using multiple 2D images (at least two) to drive the depth geometrically, while other methods use videos instead. In some problems, the used camera is calibrated, i.e. its intrinsics are known, and so its focal length is known. In this case, the 3D reconstruction problem is reduced to the problem of finding the depth Z only. In some other problems, the scene is a non rigid object, i.e. it deforms and changes its shape with time. This makes the problem more complicated in reconstructing the deformed object.

In this work our concern is the method Shape-from-Template (SfT for short) [Bartoli *et al.*, 2015; Salzmann et Urtasun, 2011; Moreno-Noguer et Porta, 2016; Agudo et Moreno-Noguer, 2017]. This method recovers a 3D deformed surface using one 2D image and a 3D template of the surface. This template is a 3D reference shape that under a specific deformation gives the 3D object. An example in this manner is the template

paper presented in Fig 4.5. This template, which is a 3D deformation, becomes a cylinder under enrollment.

The basic idea of the SfT method is to use the deformation constraint with the image



Figure 4.5: A paper template deformed into a cylinder.

projection formula in order to form a system of partial differential equations. Some reformulations and a change of variables are done to the system, allowing it to be solved locally. Then the obtained solution of the system is found analytically and it gives the depth of the deformed surface that is the main unknown in the 3D reconstruction problem. Both isometric and conformal deformations are treated by the SfT method, however we focus here on the method presented in [Bartoli *et al.*, 2015] which is an analytical, isometric, and local method. The following paragraphs give a detailed presentation of the concept of the SfT method in the case of an isometric deformation as described in [Bartoli *et al.*, 2015].

4.3.1 Problem definition

The reconstruction problem to be solved by SfT is summarized in Fig. 4.6 with the notation

In Fig. 4.6 the sketched forms are described in the following manner:

- $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ is the unknown 3D deformed surface.
- $\mathcal{J} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is the given 2D image of S.
- $\mathcal{T} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ is the given 3D template of S.



Figure 4.6: The 3D reconstruction model in SfT.

• $\mathcal{L} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is the known flattening of the 3D template \mathcal{T} into \mathbb{R}^2 .

In addition, the labeled arrows represent functions that are characterized as follows:

- $\Pi \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{R}^3, \mathcal{R}^2)$ is the known camera projection function.
- $\Psi \in C^1(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{R}^3)$ is the unknown isometric deformation function.
- Δ ∈ C¹(L, R³) is the known template embedding function, it is an invertible function that maps the 3D template to its flattening.
- $\Delta^{-1} \in C^1(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{R}^3)$ is the known flattening function of the 3D template.
- $\eta \in C^1(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{R}^2)$ is the known warp function mapping the flattened template into the 2D image.
- $\varphi \in C^1(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{R}^3)$ is the unknown embedding into the deformed surface.
- γ ∈ C¹(L, ℝ^{+*}) is the depth function, mapping each point in the flattened template to the depth of its point in the 3D deformed surface.

Remember that to do a reconstruction, the depth Z is to be determined. According to the notation provided in Fig. 4.6, the function γ is to be determined. The SfT method

reconstructs the 3D deformed surface based on a single image and a 3D template. This gives two constraints: the reprojection constraint and the deformation constraint. The reprojection constraint represents the compatibility of the projection of the deformed surface with the given image data. This is expressed by:

$$\Pi \circ \Psi \circ \Delta = \eta \tag{4.7}$$

The deformation constraint represents the restrictions of the deformation done on the 3D template. Here the focus is on isometric deformations, which means that the distance between any two points on the surface is preserved. This implies that:

$$\mathbf{J}_{\Psi}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\Psi} = \mathcal{I}_3 \tag{4.8}$$

where \mathbf{J}_{Ψ} is the Jacobian matrix of the unknown function Ψ and \mathcal{I}_3 is the identity matrix of size 3. The symbol \top raised on the Jacobian matrix refers to its transpose.

Note that the above two constraints form a first order system of partial differential equations whose main unknown is the function Ψ :

$$\begin{cases} \Pi \circ \Psi \circ \Delta = \eta & \text{(reprojection constraint)} \\ \mathbf{J}_{\Psi}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\Psi} = \mathcal{I}_{3} & \text{(deformation constraint)} \end{cases}$$
(4.9)

It is a first order system since it includes \mathbf{J}_{Ψ} the first derivative Ψ . In addition, system (4.9) is a system of nonlinear partial differential equations of dimension 5: two equations from the reconstruction constraint and three equations from the deformation constraint. This system is the starting point of the SfT method.

Indeed, the SfT method proceeds in finding the unknown depth function γ by reformulating system (4.9) two times, and then by doing a change of variable. The idea of these reformulations is to introduce γ as the unknown of the system instead of Ψ , and to get a simpler system with a lower dimension.

4.3.2 First reformulation

The first reformulation is done by using the equality:

$$\varphi = \Psi \circ \Delta \tag{4.10}$$

The idea is to introduce φ that is defined on the 2D parameterized space \mathcal{L} which is also the domain of the depth function γ . By (4.10) the reconstruction constraint becomes:

$$\Pi \circ \varphi = \eta \tag{4.11}$$

Now, differentiating both sides of (4.10) gives:

$$\mathbf{J}_{\varphi} = (\mathbf{J}_{\Psi} \circ \Delta) \mathbf{J}_{\Delta} \tag{4.12}$$

Then multiplying each side of equation (4.12) by its transpose and using the deformation constraint implies:

$$\mathbf{J}_{\varphi}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\varphi} = \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}(\mathbf{J}_{\Psi} \circ \Delta)^{\top}(\mathbf{J}_{\Psi} \circ \Delta)\mathbf{J}_{\Delta} = \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}\mathcal{I}_{3}\mathbf{J}_{\Delta} = \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}$$
(4.13)

Thus system (4.9) becomes:

$$\begin{cases} \Pi \circ \varphi = \eta & \text{(reprojection constraint)} \\ \mathbf{J}_{\varphi}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\varphi} = \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\Delta} & \text{(deformation constraint)} \end{cases}$$
(4.14)

This new system (4.14) is also a non linear system of partial differential equations however of dimension 4: two equations from the first equality and two equations from the second equality. In addition, its main unknown here is φ instead of Ψ .

4.3.3 Second reformulation

In the second reformulation the depth function γ is introduced. Note that, whenever a point in the 2D image is multiplied by $\frac{Z}{f}$, the first two coordinates of its corresponding 3D point, X and Y, are obtained. So if a point in the image of the function η is multiplied

by $\frac{Z}{f}$, the coordinates X and Y of the corresponding point in the deformed surface S are obtained. To express this symbolically, consider a new function $\tilde{\eta} \in C^1(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{J} \times \{f\})$ defined by:

$$\tilde{\eta} = [\eta, f] \tag{4.15}$$

where f is the known focal length of the camera. Then the depth function γ is introduced using φ by the equality:

$$\varphi = \frac{1}{f} \gamma \tilde{\eta} \tag{4.16}$$

To substitute this new formulation of φ in the system (4.14), equation (4.16) is differentiated on both sides:

$$\mathbf{J}_{\varphi} = \frac{1}{f} \left(\tilde{\eta} \mathbf{J}_{\gamma} + \gamma \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}} \right) \tag{4.17}$$

So multiplying each side of (4.17) by its transpose gives:

$$\frac{1}{f^2} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_2^2 \mathbf{J}_{\gamma}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\gamma} + \gamma^2 \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}} + \gamma (\mathbf{J}_{\gamma}^{\top} \tilde{\eta}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}} + \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}^{\top} \tilde{\eta} \mathbf{J}_{\gamma}) \right) = \mathbf{J}_{\varphi}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\varphi}$$
(4.18)

Using the deformation constraint of (4.14), a new system is obtained, defined by:

$$\left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{2}^{2}\mathbf{J}_{\gamma}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\gamma}+\gamma^{2}\mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}+\gamma(\mathbf{J}_{\gamma}^{\top}\tilde{\eta}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}+\mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}^{\top}\tilde{\eta}\mathbf{J}_{\gamma})\right)=f^{2}\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}$$
(4.19)

This system is of dimension three. In addition, its main unknown is the depth function γ . Solving this system gives the solution of the reconstruction problem. However, the non linearity presented in the system, appeared as γ multiplied by \mathbf{J}_{γ} , harden its solving. For that, a change of variable is done to eliminate the mixed terms of γ and \mathbf{J}_{γ} .

4.3.4 Change of variable

First, to reduce the form of the expression in (4.19), the authors in [Bartoli *et al.*, 2015] introduce $\rho = ||\tilde{\eta}||_2$. Note that $\rho \in C^1(\mathcal{L}, \mathbb{R}^{+*})$ since the third component of $\tilde{\eta}$ is the focal length $f \neq 0$. In addition the derivative of ρ is:

$$\mathbf{J}_{\rho} = \frac{1}{\rho} \tilde{\eta}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}} \tag{4.20}$$

This implies that:

$$\rho \mathbf{J}_{\rho} = \tilde{\eta}^{\dagger} \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}} \tag{4.21}$$

Substituting ρ in (4.19) gives:

$$\rho^{2} \mathbf{J}_{\gamma}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\gamma} + \gamma^{2} \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}} + \rho \gamma \left(\mathbf{J}_{\gamma}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\rho} + \mathbf{J}_{\rho}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\gamma} \right) = f^{2} \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}$$
(4.22)

Proceeding into the change of the variable, the unknown γ is substituted by $\lambda \in C^1(\mathcal{L}, \mathbb{R})$ defined by:

$$\lambda = \frac{\rho\gamma}{f} \tag{4.23}$$

This implies that:

$$\gamma = \frac{f\lambda}{\rho} \text{ and } \mathbf{J}_{\gamma} = \frac{f}{\rho^2} (\rho \mathbf{J}_{\lambda} - \lambda \mathbf{J}_{\rho})$$
 (4.24)

Substituting γ and \mathbf{J}_{γ} in terms of λ , ρ , \mathbf{J}_{λ} and \mathbf{J}_{ρ} in (4.22) gives:

$$\frac{f^{2}}{\rho^{2}} \left(\rho^{2} \mathbf{J}_{\lambda}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\lambda} + \lambda^{2} \mathbf{J}_{\rho}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\rho} - \lambda \rho (\mathbf{J}_{\lambda}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\rho} + \mathbf{J}_{\rho}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\lambda}) \right) + \frac{f^{2} \lambda^{2}}{\rho^{2}} \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}} + \frac{f^{2} \lambda}{\rho^{2}} \left(\rho \mathbf{J}_{\lambda}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\rho} - \lambda \mathbf{J}_{\rho}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\rho} + \rho \mathbf{J}_{\rho}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\lambda} - \lambda \mathbf{J}_{\rho}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\rho} \right) = f^{2} \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}$$

$$(4.25)$$

With simple symbolic computation, equation (4.25) is simplified into:

$$\mathbf{J}_{\lambda}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\lambda} + \frac{1}{\rho^{2}} \left(\mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}} - \mathbf{J}_{\rho}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\rho} \right) \lambda^{2} = \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}$$
(4.26)

Which is equivalent to the equation:

$$\mathbf{J}_{\lambda}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\lambda} + \xi\lambda^{2} = \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\Delta} \quad \text{where} \quad \xi = \frac{1}{\rho^{2}} \left(\mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}} - \mathbf{J}_{\rho}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\rho} \right)$$
(4.27)

The form of the equation in (4.27) is much simpler than the equation of (4.19). In addition, it has λ as the main unknown. But $\lambda = \frac{\rho\gamma}{f}$, so finding λ is equivalent to find the depth function γ as ρ is known. In the next paragraph, we give the solution of the equation in (4.27).

4.3.5 Analytical solution

The equation in (4.27) has a unique solution, and it can be obtained analytically. To this end first, \mathbf{J}_{λ} is substituted by an independent vector function β . So the equation (4.27) becomes:

$$\beta^{\top}\beta + \xi\lambda^2 = \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\Delta} \tag{4.28}$$

Rearrangement of the equation (4.28) gives:

$$\beta^{\top}\beta\xi^{-1} = \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}\xi^{-1} - \lambda^{2}\mathcal{I}_{2}$$
(4.29)

According to [Bartoli *et al.*, 2015], equation (4.29) has a unique solution for λ given by:

$$\lambda = \sqrt{\lambda_2 \left(\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\Delta} \xi^{-1} \right)} \tag{4.30}$$

where $\lambda_2(.)$ refers to the second eigenvalue of the associated matrix. Substituting λ in equation (4.28) gives two possible solutions for β :

$$\beta = \pm \sqrt{\lambda_1(\Lambda)} \mathbf{V}_1(\Lambda) \tag{4.31}$$

where $\lambda_1(.)$ and $\mathbf{v}_1(.)$ refer to the first eigenvalue and eigenvector of the associated matrix and

$$\Lambda = \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\Delta} - \lambda_2 \left(\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top} \mathbf{J}_{\Delta} \xi^{-1} \right) \boldsymbol{\xi}$$

$$(4.32)$$

4.3.6 Numerical solution

In [Bartoli *et al.*, 2015], a numerical algorithm is proposed to find directly the 3D reconstructed surface using the analytical solution obtained by the SfT method. Practically, a set of points in the 2D flattened template \mathcal{L} is selected. Then the depth of the corresponding 3D points in the deformed surface \mathcal{S} are computed. This is done point by point independently using the formula:

$$\gamma(p) = \sqrt{\lambda_2 \left(\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}(p) \mathbf{J}_{\Delta}(p) \left(\mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}^{\top}(p) \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}(p) - \frac{1}{||\tilde{\eta}(p)||_2^2} \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}^{\top}(p) \tilde{\eta}(p) \tilde{\eta}^{\top}(p) \mathbf{J}_{\tilde{\eta}}(p) \right)^{-1} \right)}$$
(4.33)

where p is a selected point in \mathcal{L} . So as it appears, the numerical solution depends mainly on the warp function η presented in $\tilde{\eta}$, its Jacobian matrix, and the Jacobian matrix of the embedding function Δ . Accordingly, a MATLAB algorithm called **SfT_BGCC12I** has been written to find the 3D reconstructed point $M \in \mathcal{S}$ corresponding to the 2D point $p \in \mathcal{L}$. This algorithm executes in the following manner:

The inputs:

- The coordinates of $\eta(p)$, which are the coordinates of some point m in the image \mathcal{J} .
- The 2 × 2 Jacobian matrix $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$.
- The 2 × 2 matrix $\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}(p)\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}(p)$. This matrix is taken by default as \mathcal{I}_2 , the identity matrix of dimension 2.
- The 3×3 matrix K^{-1}), which is the inverse of the characteristic matrix of the camera K. This input is needed if the considered image is taken in pixels and not in mm.

The output:

- The 3D reconstructed point $M \in \mathcal{S}$, which is in fact the image of p by φ .
- The two solutions of the 3 × 2 Jacobian matrix J_φ(p) denoted by J₁ and J₂. Two solutions exist for J_φ since β in (4.29) has two possible solutions as in (4.31). J₁ and J₂ represent the two possible tangents to the 3D deformed surface S at M.
- The two solutions of the normal vector to the deformed surface S at the reconstructed point M. These two vectors, denoted by N_1 and N_2 , are obtained by the cross-product of the two columns of \mathbf{J}_1 and \mathbf{J}_2 respectively, followed by normalization.

The MATLAB algorithm **SfT_BGCC12I**, presented schematically in Fig. 4.7, is the basic reference that we rely on to study the sensitivity of the SfT method. In the next sections we indicate the inputs that are considered in our sensitivity study and then we describe the model that we use to study its sensitivity. This model should take the indicated inputs and it should involve **SfT_BGCC12I** which represents the concept of the SfT method.



Figure 4.7: A scheme of the algorithm **SfT_BGCC12I**.

4.4 The model inputs

It was detected experimentally that the quality of the 3D reconstruction by the SfT method depends on the depth Z of the deformed surface in front of the camera. In addition, according to the [Chhatkuli *et al.*, 2017], two other parameters may also affect the results of the SfT reconstruction method: the focal length of the camera f and the orientation of the 3D deformed surface in front of the camera. The effect of these two parameters appears either as an independent defect or as an interaction with Z. For that, we select Z, f, and the orientation of the 3D deformed surface to be the inputs of our considered model.

In the next section we present how we construct this model, which is used to study the sensitivity of the SfT method with respect to these indicated inputs.

4.5 The model ZfT_SfT

The main inputs of the **SfT_BGCC12I** algorithm are the 2D point $\eta(p)$ and $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$, so at least the depth does not appear as an input, in fact as output. Since our interest is the sensitivity of the SfT method with respect to the depth, f, and the orientation, another model that takes these inputs should be constructed, while involving the concept of the SfT method. For that, we build a new model **ZfT_SfT** whose inputs are: the depth **Z**, the focal length f, and the orientation of the 3D surface.

The model **ZfT_SfT** is described in the following steps:

- 1. We fix as an initialization two coordinates (X_0, Y_0) of a 3D point M in the deformed surface. Then the given input depth denoted Z_G is the third coordinate of M, So $M = (X_0, Y_0, Z_G)$. This point is considered as a reference and it is the point to be recovered by the SfT reconstruction method.
- 2. The given focal length f is used to construct the intrinsic matrix K of the camera.
- 3. The orientation of the 3D deformed surface is given as an angle θ which is used to indicate the direction of the normal vector to the deformed surface at M. Indeed, the vector \vec{M} is rotated around the Z direction by the angle θ . The new obtained vector is normalized and then taken as the normal the normal vector \vec{N} at a point $M \in S$. This is illustrated in Fig. 4.8.



Figure 4.8: The normal at the point M determined by the angle θ .

4. In this step the 2D point $\eta(p)$ is determined, in which p is the image of M by φ . Indeed, $\eta = \Pi \circ \varphi$, so

$$\eta(p) = \Pi(\varphi(p)) = \Pi(M) \tag{4.34}$$

Let *m* denote the image of *M* by the camera derived using the characteristic matrix of the camera *K*, then $\eta(p) = m$.

5. In this step, $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$ is determined. As $\eta = \Pi \circ \varphi$, then

$$\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p) = \mathbf{J}_{\Pi}(\varphi(p))\mathbf{J}_{\varphi}(p) = \mathbf{J}_{\Pi}(M)\mathbf{J}_{\varphi}(p)$$
(4.35)

 $\mathbf{J}_{\Pi}(M)$ can be simply computed since the projection function of the camera Π is known. So we still have to find $\mathbf{J}_{\varphi}(p)$, which can be determined using the normal vector \vec{N} . Indeed, the Jacobian matrix $\mathbf{J}_{\varphi}(p)$ is a 3×2 matrix, whose two columns, denoted by U_1 and U_2 , are the generating vectors of the tangent plane at $\varphi(p) = M$ in \mathcal{S} . But \vec{N} is orthogonal to this tangent plane, so \vec{N} is orthogonal to U_1 and U_2 . Thus, by rotating \vec{N} by 90° we obtain U_1 . Then U_2 is obtained as the cross product of U_1 and \vec{N} , i.e. $U_2 = U_1 \wedge \vec{N}$. This implies that $\mathbf{J}_{\varphi}(p)$ is determined using \vec{N} , and consequently $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$ is found.

- 6. $\eta(p)$, $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$ and K are now ready, then the algorithm **SfT_BGCC12I** is run to reconstruct the point M. Note that in this model we take $\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}^{\top}(p)\mathbf{J}_{\Delta}(p) = \mathcal{I}_2$, the identity matrix of dimension 2, as the default case. Let M' denote the new reconstructed 3D point, and let $\vec{N_1}$ and $\vec{N_2}$ denote the two obtained normal vectors from the **SfT_BGCC12I** algorithm.
- In this last step the error which forms the output of the model ZfT_SfT is computed. Indeed, two errors are taken into² consideration:
 - The 3D reconstruction error defined by:

$$E_r = ||M - M'||_2 \tag{4.36}$$

• The normal error defined by:

$$E_N = \min\{\arccos(\vec{N} \cdot \vec{N_1}), \ \arccos(\vec{N} \cdot \vec{N_2})\}$$
(4.37)

The model **ZfT_SfT** defined by the above steps is summarized in the flow chart of Fig. 4.9.



The model ZfT_SfT presented matches our needs to study the sensitivity of the SfT

Figure 4.9: A scheme of the model **ZfT_SfT**.

method as it has a scalar output and it takes the indicated inputs. However, while doing simulations, the obtained errors are very small, and almost negligible. This is because all the steps and the procedures are a direct implementation of the theoretical concepts, and this does not reflect reality. Indeed, images taken in reality are exposed to noise whatever the focal length and the resolution are. For that, we propose a method to add a reasonable amount of noise on $\eta(p)$ and $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$ simultaneously while running the **ZfT_SfT** model. The method of adding noise is explained in the next section, and the modified model of **ZfT_SfT** that is associated with noise will be denoted by **ZfT_SfT**'. This model takes the same inputs as **ZfT_SfT** and gives the same outputs, so it is the one used in our sensitivity study.

4.6 Imitating reality by adding noise

To imitate reality while studying the sensitivity of the SfT method by the **ZfT_SfT** model, we add Gaussian noise on the computed $\eta(p)$ and $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$ in the body of the model before running the **SfT_BGCC12I** algorithm. This Gaussian noise should be added to $\eta(p)$ and $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$ simultaneously and in a compatible manner as it happens in reality. For that, we develop a method that derives a correspondence between the standard deviation of the Gaussian noise σ and the error in $\eta(p)$ and $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$. This correspondence appears as a plot of the variation of the error in $\eta(p)$ and $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$ as a function of σ . This helps in indicating the appropriate value of the σ according to a required amount of error in $\eta(p)$ and $\mathbf{J}_{\eta}(p)$. The following is a detailed description of the method used to derive the correspondence:

- 1. We create a 2D regular grid representing the pixel coordinates (U_{ref}, V_{ref}) of points in an initial 2D reference image \mathcal{I}_{ref} . Then, using the internal parameters of the camera, the grid is converted into mm. This obtained grid is considered as a 3D template \mathcal{T}_{ref} whose points have coordinates $(X_{ref}, Y_{ref}, 0)$.
- 2. A 3D transformation is done to \mathcal{T}_{ref} consisting of a rotation and a translation. Then the grid obtained formed a deformed surface \mathcal{S}_{def} , whose points have coordinates: $(X_{def}, Y_{def}, Z_{def})$. After that, using the camera internal parameters, the deformed surface is projected in to a pixel image \mathcal{I}_{def} defined by the points (U_{def}, V_{def})
- 3. According to [Faugeras *et al.*, 2004], a homography \mathcal{H} exists which maps the points of \mathcal{I}_{ref} into \mathcal{I}_{def} . Thus we compute the \mathcal{H} following the normalized direct linear transformation algorithm proposed in [Hartley et Zisserman, 2003].
- 4. For a selected value of σ , a Gaussian noise is inserted to the gray level of the two images \mathcal{I}_{ref} and \mathcal{I}_{def} . The obtained noisy images are called \mathcal{I}_{Nref} and \mathcal{I}_{Ndef} respectively.
- 5. To detect how much error is obtained on the warp function and its derivative due to the Gaussian noise associated with the selected σ , we derive an affine approximation \mathcal{H}_N of the warp function between \mathcal{I}_{Nref} and \mathcal{I}_{Ndef} . This derivation is done using the method *DIRT* explained in [Bartoli, 2008], which needs an initial guess of \mathcal{H}_N defined locally in \mathcal{I}_{ref} . For that, we select a point $q \in \mathcal{I}_{ref}$, and we define a rectangular patch $\mathfrak{D} \subset \mathcal{I}_{ref}$ around q. Then we derive a local affine transformation \mathcal{G} around q that matches \mathcal{H} on \mathfrak{D} . To find this \mathcal{G} we use the Taylor Expansion of \mathcal{H} around q which is defined by:

$$\mathcal{H}(q+h) = \mathcal{H}(q) + \mathbf{J}_{\mathcal{H}}(q)h \tag{4.38}$$

So we define \mathcal{G} for any $q' \in \mathfrak{D}$ by substituting h in (4.38) by q' - q, this implies that:

$$\mathcal{G}(q') = \mathbf{J}_{\mathcal{H}}(q)q' - \mathbf{J}_{\mathcal{H}}(q)q + \mathcal{H}(q)$$
(4.39)

Note that \mathcal{G} is well defined according to (4.39), since $\mathbf{J}_{\mathcal{H}}(q)$ is a 2 × 2 matrix and qand q' are in $\mathfrak{D} \subset \mathcal{I}_{ref} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$. Once \mathcal{G} is found, \mathcal{H}_N is computed using the *DIRT* method and the error of the warp and its derivative can be derived. Indeed, \mathcal{H}_N is an affine map between \mathcal{I}_{Nref} and \mathcal{I}_{Ndef} , approximating the warp function. Thus its formula consists of the value of the warp and its first derivative.

6. To derive the error of the warp function and its derivative we consider the point $q_N \in \mathcal{I}_{Nref}$ corresponding to the point $q \in \mathcal{I}_{ref}$. Then we select two different points in the neighborhood of q_N and denote them by q'_N and q''_N corresponding to the points q' and q'' in \mathcal{I}_{ref} . Then the error is taken as

$$RMS = \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}} \left(\left\| \mathcal{H}_N(q_N) - \mathcal{H}(q) \right\|_2^2 + \left\| \mathcal{H}_N(q'_N) - \mathcal{H}(q') \right\|_2^2 + \left\| \mathcal{H}_N(q''_N) - \mathcal{H}(q'') \right\|_2^2 \right)$$
(4.40)

Accordingly, the error associated to the selected σ is derived. Note that in the above procedure only one point q is selected to derive the local approximation, but in practice we choose a set of points of interest, and then for each point of interest we derive the associated RMS as above. Then totally we take the average of all the RMS obtained to get a reasonable value of the error of the warp function and its derivative.

With the above steps we derive a correspondence between the σ of the Gaussian noise added to the gray levels of the 2D image and the error obtained on η and \mathbf{J}_{η} . In our case study, the selected value of σ is 1.1155, since according to experts this value gives a reasonable error on η and \mathbf{J}_{η} . Accordingly, we update the model **ZfT_SfT**, to obtain a new model **ZfT_SfT**' whose sensitivity is to be studied. Fig. 4.10 represents a scheme of the model **ZfT_SfT**'.

In the following section we present the framework we follow when applying the Sobol sensitivity method.



Figure 4.10: A schematic of the model ZfT_SfT'.

4.7 Sensitivity analysis of SfT

Recall that our aim is to see how information about the inputs can be extracted by studying the variation of Sobol indexes of these inputs, with respect to some factors. For that, the sensitivity of the model $\mathbf{ZfT}_{\mathbf{SfT}}$ ' is not studied by just applying basic Sobol method. Indeed, we extend the application to study the evolution of the Sobol indexes of \mathbf{Z} , f, and θ as a function of the depth \mathbf{Z} . The reason behind choosing the variation factor to be the depth \mathbf{Z} is technical. Actually, a basic role of the depth has been detected experimentally when applying the SfT method, in which three different results obtained when varying \mathbf{Z} . So studying the variation of the Sobol indexes of \mathbf{Z} , f, and θ as a function of the sobol indexes of the depth \mathbf{Z} would give information about the three depth positions that are affecting the 3D reconstruction by the SfT method. In this way, we keep our study realistic and the conclusions are derived with scientific significance.

To this end, we first compute the Sobol indexes of Z, f, and θ corresponding to the output E_r . Then, in a next step, we compute the Sobol indexes of Z, f, and θ corresponding to the output E_N . Each of the inputs Z, f, and θ is considered to vary as a uniformly distributed random variable with a specified interval:

- For θ we consider three different cases with three different intervals: $[15^{\circ}, 30^{\circ}]$, $[30^{\circ}, 45^{\circ}]$, and $[45^{\circ}, 60^{\circ}]$. In each of these cases we consider:
 - The depth Z as uniformly distributed over the interval $[Z_0 5, Z_0 + 5]$ with Z_0 varying in the interval [44mm, 2040mm].

- The focal length f as uniformly distributed over the interval $[f_0 - 5, f_0 + 5]$ where $f_0 = Z_0 - 20mm$.

The computation of the Sobol indexes is done numerically using the formulas (1.54), (1.55), and (1.62) of chapter 1. We use the Monte Carlo simulation method with 4000 samples to compute each Sobol index.

We start by the computation of the first order Sobol indexes. Algorithm 1 represents the steps we follow in this computation.

Algorithm 1: First order Sobol indexes of Z, f, and θ as a function of Z with
$[15^{\circ}, 30^{\circ}]$ as a sampling space for θ
For $Z_0 = 40mm$ upto $2040mm$
$f_0 = Z_0 - 20mm$
sample spaces:
Z: $[Z_0 - 5, Z_0 + 5]$
$f: [f_0 - 5, f_0 + 5]$
θ : $[15^\circ, 30^\circ]$
$sample1 = \{(Z_k, f_k, \theta_k)\}_{k=1,\cdots,4000}$
$sample2 = \{(\mathbf{Z}_k, f_k, \theta_k)\}_{k=1, \cdots, 4000}$
$\overline{E} = \frac{1}{5} \sum_{i=1}^{4} 000 E (7 + 4)$
$E_r = \frac{1}{4000} \sum_{k=1} 000 E_r(\boldsymbol{Z}_k, \boldsymbol{J}_k, \boldsymbol{\theta}_k)$
$Var(E_r) = \frac{1}{4000} \sum_{k=1}^{4} 000 E_r^2(Z_k, f_k, \theta_k) - \bar{E}_r^2$
V (E) $1 \sum 4000 E$ (7 (0) E (7 \tilde{c} $\tilde{0}$) \bar{E}^2
$Var(E_{rZ}) = \frac{1}{4000} \sum_{k=1}^{1000} E_r(Z_k, f_k, \theta_k) E_r(Z_k, f_k, \theta_k) - E_r^2$
$Var(E_{rf}) = \frac{1}{4000} \sum_{k=1}^{4000} E_r(Z_k, f_k, \theta_k) E_r(\tilde{Z}_k, f_k, \tilde{\theta}_k) - \bar{E}_r^2$
$Var(E_{r\theta}) = \frac{1}{4000} \sum_{k=1}^{4000} E_r(Z_k, f_k, \theta_k) E_r(\tilde{Z}_k, \tilde{f}_k, \theta_k) - \bar{E}_r^2$
$S_{Z} = \frac{Var(E_{rZ})}{Var(E_{r})}$ (first order Sobol index of Z)
$S_f = \frac{Var(E_{rf})}{Var(E_r)}$ (first order Sobol index of f)
$S_N = \frac{Var(E_{r\theta})}{Var(E_r)}$ (first order Sobol index of θ)

Similarly, the first order Sobol indexes are computed for the cases of θ sampled on the intervals [30°, 45°], and [45°, 60°]. Also similarly, the computation is done concerning the output E_N . All the obtained first order Sobol indexes are plotted as a function of depth in Fig. 4.11. In the figure, the indexes are denoted by S_Z and S_f and S_N corresponding



to Z, f, and θ respectively.

Figure 4.11: The variation of the first order Sobol indexes S_Z and S_f and S_N as a function of the depth : (a) For E_r with $\theta \in [15^\circ, 30^\circ]$, (b) For E_r with $\theta \in [30^\circ, 45^\circ]$, (c) For E_r with $\theta \in [45^\circ, 60^\circ]$, (d) For E_N with $\theta \in [15^\circ, 30^\circ]$, (e) For E_N with $\theta \in [30^\circ, 45^\circ]$, (f) For E_N with $\theta \in [45^\circ, 60^\circ]$.

In Fig. 4.11, the plots (a), (b), and (c) display the first order Sobol indexes corresponding to the output E_r while the plots (d), (e), and (f) display the first order Sobol indexes corresponding to the output E_N . Each figure represents the evolution of the value of S_Z , S_N and S_f versus the depth (in mm). These indices determine, for each depth, how much the errors E_r and E_N are sensitive to Z, θ , and f. In other words, S_Z , S_N and S_f indicate, for each depth, how the variation in E_r and E_N can be apportioned to the variation of Z,

θ , and f.

For $\theta \in [15^{\circ}, 30^{\circ}]$, the reconstruction error E_r (Fig. 4.11(a)) is highly sensitive to Z for depth greater than 500 mm, but has very little sensitivity to θ . In addition, for all the values of the depth, the influence of the focal length f is constant with a small value of around 0.2. To conclude, it is possible to extract two separate phases:

- Depth less than 500 mm: in this range E_r is mostly affected by the variation of Z and θ , but the influence of Z increases while the influence of N decreases.
- Depth greater than 500 mm: in this range E_r is highly affected by the variation of Z while the effects of θ and f are almost negligible.

For $\theta \in [30^{\circ}, 45^{\circ}]$, the reconstruction error E_r (Fig. 4.11(b)) is also highly sensitive to Z especially for depth greater than 500 mm. In addition, the sensitivity of E_r with respect to the focal length f is very small (about 0.2%), however the sensitivity of E_r with respect to θ varies over the range of the depth. Indeed, S_N increases slightly for depth less than 200 mm, after that it decreases gradually to reach S_f at 700 mm, and then almost vanishes at depth 2000 mm. This enables us to extract three different phases:

- Depth less than 200 mm: in this range E_r is mostly affected by the variation of Z, but the influence of θ increases. The influence of f is negligible.
- Depth in [200 mm, 700 mm]: in this range E_r is affected by the variation of Z and N, but the influence of N decreases. The influence of f is negligible.
- Depth greater than 700 mm: in this range E_r is highly affected by the variation of Z. The effects of N and f are negligible.

For $\theta \in [45^{\circ}, 60^{\circ}]$, the variation of S_Z, S_f and S_N (Fig. 4.11(c)) is analogous to the previous case. Accordingly, three different phases can be extracted:

- Depth less than 250 mm: in this range E_r is mostly affected by the variation of Z, but the influence of θ increases. The influence of f is negligible.
- Depth in [250 mm, 1000 mm]: in this range E_r is affected by the variation of Z and N, but the influence of N decreases. The influence of f is negligible.

Depth greater than 1000 mm: in this range E_r is highly affected by the variation of Z. The effects of N and f are negligible.

Concerning E_N , for the different cases of θ (Fig. 4.11(d), (e), and (f)), the evolution of the Sobol indexes is approximately the same. All over the range of the depth, θ has the most influence on the E_N . The effects of S_Z and S_f are very small (around 0.15 mm), except for depth less than 250 mm where S_Z has a slightly more effect than S_f .

These results obtained from the first order Sobol indexes are compromising, however to check if there is an interaction between Z, f, and θ affecting E_r and E_N , we compute the Total Sobol indexes. We apply the same numerical procedures as for the First order indexes, with 4000 samples in a Monte Carlo simulation. We consider three different sampling intervals for θ : [15°, 30°], [30°, 45°], and [45°, 60°]. We use the numerical formula given in [Saltelli *et al.*, 2010] for the computation of the total Sobol indexes. Algorithm 2 gives the details of the computation in case of sampling interval [15°, 30°] for θ .

Similarly, the total Sobol indexes are computed for the other sampling intervals of θ and for the output E_N . Fig. 4.12 presents the results obtained.

As it can be seen, the total Sobol indexes are approximately equal to the first order Sobol indexes for both outputs E_R and E_r , this implies that the second order Sobol indexes are almost zero. Thus we conclude that there is no interaction between Z, f, and θ affecting E_r and E_N . So the effect of Z, f, and θ on the reconstruction error E_r and normal error E_N are only individual effects.

Accordingly, the three different ranges of the depth can be derived from the sensitivity reconstruction error E_r to the individual effects of Z, f and θ . So conclusions and information concerning the input Z are derived by considering the variation of the Sobol indexes of Z, f and θ concerning the SfT method. In the next section, we present another way in which conclusions about the inputs are detected by studying the variation of the Sobol indexes. We consider a new model corresponding to charge transport of dielectric and we study the variation of Sobol indexes of its input as a function of three different experimental factors.

Algorithm 2: Total order Sobol indexes of Z, f, and θ as a function of Z with [15°, 30°] as a sampling space for θ

```
For Z_0 = 40mm upto 2040mm
     f_0 = \mathsf{Z}_0 - 20mm
     sample spaces:
          Z: [Z_0 - 5, Z_0 + 5]
          f: [f_0 - 5, f_0 + 5]
          \theta: [15°, 30°]
          sample1 = \{(Z_k, f_k, \theta_k)\}_{k=1,\dots,4000}
          sample2 = {(\tilde{\mathsf{Z}}_k, \tilde{f}_k, \tilde{\theta}_k)}<sub>k=1,...,4000</sub>
          \bar{E}_r = \frac{1}{4000} \sum_{k=1}^4 000 E_r(\mathsf{Z}_k, f_k, \theta_k)
          Var(E_r) = \frac{1}{4000} \sum_{k=1}^{4} 000 E_r^2(\mathsf{Z}_k, f_k, \theta_k) - \bar{E}_r^2
          Var(E_{r\sim Z}) = \frac{1}{4000} \sum_{k=1}^{4000} E_r(Z_k, f_k, \theta_k) E_r(\tilde{Z}_k, f_k, \theta_k) - \bar{E}_r^2
          Var(E_{rf}) = \frac{1}{4000} \sum_{k=1}^{4000} E_r(\mathsf{Z}_k, f_k, \theta_k) E_r(\mathsf{Z}_k, \tilde{f}_k, \theta_k) - \bar{E}_r^2
          Var(E_{r\theta}) = \frac{1}{4000} \sum_{k=1}^{4000} E_r(\mathsf{Z}_k, f_k, \theta_k) E_r(\mathsf{Z}_k, f_k, \tilde{\theta}_k) - \bar{E}_r^2
          TS_{\mathsf{Z}} = \frac{Var(E_r) - Var(E_{r\mathsf{Z}})}{Var(E_r)} (total order Sobol index of \mathsf{Z})
          TS_f = \frac{Var(E_r) - Var(E_{rf})}{Var(E_r)} (total order Sobol index of f)
          TS_N = \frac{Var(E_r) - Var(E_{r\theta})}{Var(E_r)} (total order Sobol index of \theta)
```



Figure 4.12: The variation of the total order Sobol indexes TS_Z and TS_f and TS_N as a function of the depth : (a) For E_r with $\theta \in [15^\circ, 30^\circ]$, (b) For E_r with $\theta \in [30^\circ, 45^\circ]$, (c) For E_r with $\theta \in [45^\circ, 60^\circ]$, (d) For E_N with $\theta \in [15^\circ, 30^\circ]$, (e) For E_N with $\theta \in [30^\circ, 45^\circ]$, (f) For E_N with $\theta \in [45^\circ, 60^\circ]$.

4.8 Charge transport model as a black box

The charge transport model considered in our work is described in [Le Roy *et al.*, 2003]. Here the model is represented as a black box, having four inputs and two outputs (see Fig. 4.13). The inputs are the barrier height for injection w, mobility μ , the trapping



Figure 4.13: The charge transport model.

coefficient B and the de-trapping barrier height w_{tr} .

In order to estimate the Sobol indexes, it is necessary to provide the outputs as scalars. For that, the outputs considered for the charge transport model are the net carrier density Y_1 and the current density Y_2 . Concerning the output Y_1 , which is a net carrier density profile, function of the position in the insulation and of the time, it is obtained by integrating the total charge C_T over the space D and the time t_{pol} as follows:

$$Y_1 = \int_{t_{pol}} \int_D C_T \, dx \, dt \tag{4.41}$$

For the current density Y_2 , the output is obtained by integrating the total flux j over the time t_{pol} :

$$Y_2 = \int_{t_{pol}} j \, dt \tag{4.42}$$

Depending on these indicated configurations of the inputs and outputs the first order Sobol indexes are computed. Keeping in mind that we are applying Sobol method in a new framework, we study for this model the variation of the Sobol indexes of w, μ , the Band w_{tr} as a function of three experimental factors: the temperature T, strength of the applied electric field E, and the time of application t.

The scientific idea behind studying such variation is indicated as follows. Indeed, most of

the parameters (inputs) of a charge transport model cannot be determined by independent experiments and it is a heavy task to estimate their values that best fit the experimental data. In this manner, optimization algorithms play an important role in systematizing this part of the modeling activity. However, to facilitate the convergence of the optimization algorithms, it is important to quantify the effect of each input on the output in order to limit the optimization to the most influential inputs. Plus, it is important to know the best experimental configuration at which the data can be collected to be used in an optimization process. In the next, section we present in detail the sensitivity study carried out and the obtained results, and then discuss their significance.

4.9 Sensitivity analysis of charge transport model

To carry out a sensitivity study we consider each of the inputs as a uniformly distributed random variable on a given range. Then, accordingly, the first order Sobol indexes are computed according to the numerical method defined in chapter 1. The ranges of the inputs are defined by their lower and upper bound which are indicated in Table 4.1.

Inputs	Notation	Units	Lower bound	Upper bound
Barrier height for injection, w	X_1	eV	1.10	1.20
Mobility, μ	X_2	$m^2.V^{-1}.s^{-1}$	10^{-14}	10^{-12}
Trapping coefficient, B	X_3	s^{-1}	$5{ imes}10^{-4}$	10
De-trapping barrier height, w_{tr}	X_4	eV	0.73	1

Table 4.1: The range of variation of the four inputs.

According to experts, these ranges of variation are chosen for several reasons. Firstly, to be certain to keep the physical sense to the conditions. Secondly, to have a large range of inputs in order to assume a broad and consistent representation of the output data. Lastly to have tractable computation. The computation of the Sobol indexes is done under the variation of the three experimental factors: the temperature T, strength of the applied electric field E, and the time of application t. The way this variation is applied is described in the next paragraph.

4.9.1 The variation protocols

Three different protocols are applied to the dielectric material used in order to drive the data used in the computation of the Sobol indexes:

- First protocol (red curve): Sobol indexes are estimated using experimental data obtained by using a DC electric field of $30kV.mm^{-1}$ applied for charging and discharging times of 20 min. The sensitivity analysis is carried out considering that experimental data can be acquired over a temperature range of $[0, 90^{\circ}C]$.
- _ Second protocol (blue curve): Sobol indexes are estimated using the same material under a temperature of $40^{\circ}C$ and for charging and discharging times of 20 min. The sensitivity analysis is performed considering an applied electric field varying over the range $[10, 80kV.mm^{-1}]$.
- _ Third protocol (green curve): Sobol indexes are estimated under a temperature of $40^{\circ}C$ and an applied electric field of $30kV.mm^{-1}$. The sensitivity analysis is performed considering charging and discharging times varying over the range [1, 60min].

According to these protocols, the variation of the first order Sobol indexes is studied. In the analysis of the results, we consider the indexes relatively in % to facilitate the comparison between the different protocols. Also, we consider the influence of a given input on charge or current density as negligible if its associated index does not exceed 20% (hatched area on the figures). Indeed, a Sobol index below 20% shows that the chosen experiment protocol does not give sufficient information to estimate the selected input with an optimization algorithm. Figures 4.14 to 4.17 show the evolution of the Sobol indexes of the barrier height to injection, the mobility, the trapping coefficient and the de-trapping barrier height for the two different outputs: charge density and current density, respectively. We analyze the result for the first order Sobol indexes of each of the inputs separately:

4.9.2 Sensitivity analysis of the barrier height for injection

Fig. 4.14 concerns the influence of barrier height for injection w on the current and charge density. It appears that, for the model and protocol considered, the barrier for injection



Figure 4.14: Evolution of the first order Sobol indexes of the injection height barrier w.

does not influence the current density much. For this output, Sobol indexes are below 10% whatever the protocols used. On the other hand, Sobol indexes exceed 50%, meaning a great influence, on the charge density at low temperature (below $30^{\circ}C$) or in charging at short time (less than 10 min). For the both cases, it means that the impact on barrier for injection on the deposited charge is important. The fact that this parameter is influential at the beginning of polarization is in phase with the experimental observation. Indeed, when an electric field is applied, charges are injected in the vicinity of the electrodes. The presence of these charges close to the electrode induces a decrease of the electric field at the interface over time and so a decrease of the injection flux. So, the influence over longer times is less important. Roughly, it corresponds to space charge limited process, which also explains why the barrier to injection is not strongly influential on the external current, which corresponds to the space-averaged trapped current [Baudoin *et al.*, 2007]. Finally, Fig. 4.14 also shows that the barrier height to injection does not impact the charge density at $T = 40^{\circ}C$, irrespective of the field. Sobol indexes are always below 10%.

4.9.3 Sensitivity analysis of the mobility

Fig. 4.15 concerns the influence of the mobility μ on the current and the charge density. According to the results, it seems difficult to find a suitable experimental protocol for the optimization purpose (most of the results are in the hatched area). The temperature seems to be the most impacting protocol factor for the mobility for both outputs: charge and current density. A temperature higher than 70°C allows us to achieve a Sobol index higher than 20%.



Figure 4.15: Evolution of the first order Sobol indexes of the mobility μ .

Experts explain this feature depending on the model of charge transport used. Indeed, in the considered model two kinds of charge carriers are considered, being either trapped or mobile, and they are provided only by injection at the electrodes [Le Roy *et al.*, 2003]. Conduction takes place via a constant effective mobility μ , leading to the transport of carriers through shallow levels that are related to the structural disorder of the dielectric. Deep trapping, mainly due to chemical disorder in the material, is described using a unique level of deep traps for each kind of carrier. Charges have a certain probability to escape from deep traps by overcoming a de-trapping barrier w_{tr} . Based on this physical description, results show that this model gives more importance to the charges in shallow traps than in deep traps at high temperature. Indeed, for a temperature higher than $70^{\circ}C$, the effective mobility has a greater impact on the outputs (Sobol indexes exceed 20%) which helps to estimate it well by the optimization process. Perhaps this increase is due to the fact that at high temperature the fraction of charges in shallow traps is higher.

4.9.4 Sensitivity analysis of the de-trapping barrier height

The results related to the deep trap depth, or de-trapping barrier height w_{tr} are summarized in Fig. 4.16. For temperatures higher than 50°C, the influence of the charge trapping coefficient decreases considering the output Y_1 charge density. The same happens for the current density Y_2 for temperature above 80°C. From room temperature to 70°C, the charge density is impacted by the release of charges from deep traps, while for a temperature higher than 70°C the charge density is linked to the mobility of the charges in the shallow traps. For a temperature below 20°C, the charge density is only related to the injection phenomena, charges tend to be close to the electrodes and to remain there. The influence of de-trapping barrier height on the charge density increases over time to reach 70% at one hour of charging time for a given temperature of 40°C and a given applied electric field of $30kV.mm^{-1}$. However, this input does not affect the current density so much. Sobol indexes are below 10% whatever the protocols used except at high temperature. In general, long charging times are preferred for improving sensibility to the de-trapping coefficient.

4.9.5 Sensitivity analysis of the trapping coefficient

Fig. 4.17 concerns the influence of trapping coefficient B on current and charge density. Very clearly here, this input has little effect on the charge or current density. Whatever the protocols used, Sobol indexes are always below 10%. It is not very easy to explain this feature because trapping and de-trapping phenomena are obviously linked by nature. According to experts, an explanation could be provided for the obtained difference between the effect of the trapping an de-trapping coefficient. One reason could be the chosen ranges used for each input. Even though these ranges are chosen in a way to keep the physical



Figure 4.16: Evolution of the first order Sobol indexes of the de-trapping barrier height w_{tr} .

sense, this may affect the response of each of the input differently. Another option for this difference could be the fixed trap density used in this model. Indeed, this may represent a very low density of defects $(3.2 \times 10^{14}/cm^2)$, and this may limit the role of the trapped charges in the net charge distribution and in the current density.



Figure 4.17: Evolution of the first order Sobol indexes of the trapping coefficient B.

4.10 Parameter optimization

By analyzing the results obtained from the variation of the Sobol indexes a strategy of study can be designed for parameter optimization for the charge transport model. Indeed, optimization algorithms are used to find a set of parameters able to minimize the deviations between experimental data and simulation data, as shown in Fig. 4.18. Experimental data are the net density of charge as measured by the pulsed electro-acoustic method – PEA – and external charging and discharging current measurements [Liu *et al.*, 1993]. Simulated data are those produced by the designed charge transport model. Based on the parameter sensitivity analysis it is possible to find suitable experimental conditions to obtain optimized estimation of the model parameters used in our charge transport model. The three experimental protocols used with the chosen dielectric material, in film form of thickness $D = 200 \mu m$, give the following guidelines to provide a good approach to the model parameters:



Figure 4.18: Principle of the optimization technique.

- Estimation of the barrier height of injection: a map of the net charge density under an applied field of $30kV.mm^{-1}$, a temperature of $20^{\circ}C$ and charging and discharging times of 20 min.
- Estimation of the mobility: current measurement with the same experimental protocol as the previous, except for the temperature of the dielectric material that should be higher than $70^{\circ}C$.
- Estimation of the de-trapping barrier height: space charge measurement with a temperature from $30^{\circ}C$ to $70^{\circ}C$, a field of $30kV.mm^{-1}$ or more and a time of 20 min or more.

Then, the obtained experimental results could be inserted into an optimization algorithm in order to find the new set of parameters. Unfortunately, no straightforward optimal conditions appear for identifying the trapping coefficient. According to experts, analysis is in progress to understand why Sobol indexes are so low in this case. Recombination processes, and electroluminescence as its pending experimental information, are not incorporated in the model. This could be a route to resolve the issue.

4.11 Conclusion

In this chapter we study how the variation of the Sobol indexes helps in deriving conclusions concerning the inputs. In this manner we consider two applications, the first is for a model from the domain of computer vision and the second is for a charge transport model.

In the first application, we were able to get information concerning the inputs while studying the variation of Sobol indexes. In detail we consider a 3D reconstruction method which seems to be sensitive to the depth of the 3D surface in front of the camera. We adopt a model involving this method, which gives a scalar output and imitates reality by adding noise to images. Then we examine the sensitivity of this model with respect to three inputs: the focal length of the camera, the depth of the 3D deformed surface, and the orientation of the surface. Sobol indexes are computed numerically and they vary as a function of the depth. Plotting the obtained results allows us to visualize clearly how the effect of the depth can be partitioned into different domains.

Considering the charge transport model, it consists of four inputs and two outputs. We study the Sobol indexes of the four inputs under three different protocols. Each protocol accounts for the variation of one of the experimental factor: the temperature, strength of the applied electric field, and the time of application. Analyzing the results obtained allows us to conclude the most suitable experimental configuration for each input to collect the data associated with its estimation process.

Final words, extending the application of the Sobol method by considering the examination of the variation of Sobol indexes has proved its efficiency. Indeed, more than just information and conclusions concerning the inputs can be derived. Appropriate setting for doing an uncertainty study can be also deduced from studying this variation and this would help a lot in the domain of the backward propagation of uncertainty. In addition, the most favorable ranges for approximating the parameters of a model in an optimization process can be also detected by this variation study.
Conclusion and Perspectives

In this dissertation our aim was to make a contribution to the domain of uncertainty analysis especially for the backward uncertainty propagation. To this end, we studied different methods in this domain. We concentrated the most on the Sobol sensitivity analysis method where we developed its application framework. In addition, we derived a new backward propagation method that, unlike previous methods, does not rely on any preliminary approximations of the input uncertainty. The fruitful results obtained allowed us to prepare and publish different papers in different scientific journals. In the following we give a compact summary of what we did and how the conclusions were derived, and at the end we set our short and long term perspectives for the future work.

In chapter 1 we focus on giving a general review of different methods considered in the domain of uncertainty analysis. This helps in preparing the necessary background and concepts needed in investigating uncertainty. The methods presented were divided into groups according to the kind and way the uncertainty is studied. Structure uncertainty assessment methods are specialized for the structural uncertainty of a model. The aim of these methods is to reduce this kind of uncertainty as much as possible, and eliminate it if possible. On the other hand uncertainty propagation methods are concerned with the quantification of the uncertainty. Two types of methods exist in this manner: forward propagation and backward propagation. The goal of the forward propagation methods is to quantify the output uncertainty by propagating the input uncertainty through the model. The goal of the backward propagation methods is to quantify the input uncertainty of the output. This type of method is the least considered in literature and for that we focus on it in our work. In the same manner we recall several methods from sensitivity analysis for their importance in the uncertainty

study. We focus in this manner on the Sobol sensitivity method which is considered as one of the strongest sensitivity methods. It performs the sensitivity study by computing sensitivity indexes, called Sobol indexes, in a probabilistic manner.

In chapter 2 we establish a new method for backward uncertainty propagation. Its aim is to quantify the input uncertainty starting from the data of an uncertain output. The method consists of two main steps. The first step is to write the output variance in terms of the moments of the inputs. The second step is to solve a nonlinear least square problem generated by the expression of step 1. By solving this least square problem numerically the input uncertainty is obtained. Applications show that the method gives very near approximations for the values of the input uncertainty. However the accuracy increases as the number of samples used increases. This issue could be one of our perspectives for future work.

In chapter 3 we show that the Sobol method can give reliable results even when applied in the discrete case. In general, the Sobol sensitivity method is applied to determine the effect of each of the inputs on the output represented by the Sobol indexes. Usually inputs in this method are considered to vary as continuous random variables in order to compute the corresponding indexes. In this chapter, we expand this idea and we applied Sobol methods for inputs with a discrete representation. To this end, we considered a model from the domain of force spectroscopy and we studied its sensitivity by deriving the associated Sobol indexes. The model is a representation of an experimental curve called the Electrostatic Force distance curve (EFDC). The data was limited in this case study (only 45 samples) due to the cost of each experimental run. For that, we performed the computation of the Sobol indexes using the formulas of discrete random variables. The obtained results of the Sobol method were confirmed using Design of Experiment (DOE), where a total agreement was noted. In addition to this, we invested the obtained sensitivity results in constructing an approximating formula that describes the EFDC. The approximated EFDCs are plotted and compared to the experimental EFDCs. The results obtained demonstrate a precise compatibility between the two curves.

In addition to their contribution in the area of sensitivity analysis, these results allow the

EFDC to be a key starting point to detect charge localization in dielectrics. A next step for this work would check if a similar derivation of the Sobol method can be done for discrete random variables. In addition, future work in the force spectroscopy domain would progress in deriving a systematic strategy for detecting the charge localization using the EFDC.

In chapter 4 we continued in developing the framework for the applications of the Sobol method and we showed how different information and conclusions can be derived for the inputs by studying the variation of their corresponding Sobol indexes with respect to some active factors of the model or some experimental settings. In addition, we demonstrated that studying this variation also allows the determination of the most suitable configuration for estimating the inputs. This can help in the quantification of the input uncertainty in a backward propagation process. These deductions are the consequence of two different applications considered in this chapter.

In the first application we were able to get information concerning the inputs while studying the variation of the Sobol indexes. In detail we considered a 3D reconstruction method which seems to be sensitive to the depth of the 3D surface in front of the camera. We adopted a new model involving this method, that at the same time gives a scalar output and imitates reality by adding noise to images. The strategy we derived to add noise in the model depends mainly on the gray level of the images. After that we examined the sensitivity of the model with respect to three inputs: the focal length of the camera, the depth of the 3D deformed surface, and the orientation of the surface. Sobol indexes were computed numerically and they varied as a function of the depth, since the depth is a significant factor in the 3D reconstruction process as it affects the quality of the obtained reconstruction according to experts. Plotting the variation of the Sobol indexes with respect to the depth allowed us to visualize clearly how the effect of the depth can be partitioned into different domains.

In the second application, we considered a charge transport model, it consists of four inputs and two outputs. We studied the Sobol indexes of the four inputs under three different protocols. Each protocol accounts for the variation of one of the experimental factors: the temperature, the strength of the applied electric field, and the time period at which the electric field is applied. From this study, we were able to extract for each input the most suitable experimental configuration in order to collect the data associated with the inputs estimation process. However, only one of the inputs seems not to be sensitive in any of the protocols. The future work will focus on how experimental data can be best derived to be used in an optimization process to approximate this input.

For the variation of Sobol indexes, we concentrated in this work on only first order Sobol indexes. Our next step would be to study the variation of the second order Sobol indexes in case of having interaction between the inputs (non zero second order Sobol indexes). The aim of studying this variation is to try to derive a conclusion or configuration so that the interaction of the inputs can be minimized.

From here several goals can be set as future work for the short and the long term. As short term goals, we could seek improvements in the performance of the derived backward propagation method, mainly concerning the number of samples needed. We could also consider the case study of backward propagation of uncertainty for models that are not defined explicitly by functions or if the defined function is not continuous. On the other hand, we can study the variation of the second order Sobol indexes searching for an indication about minimizing the interaction between inputs. This helps in decreasing the over all uncertainty of the model by minimizing the interaction between uncertain inputs. As long term goals, one would consider the case in which the structural uncertainty is taken into account in the backward propagation of uncertainty. This means that the output uncertainty is not only due to input uncertainty, the structural uncertainty plays a role in producing output uncertainty. So how a backward propagation of uncertainty can partition the output uncertainty between the inputs and the structure of the model. In general, these goals are ideas that can contribute in solving some of the remaining issues in the domain of uncertainty.

APPENDIX A Moments of Normally Distributed Random Variables

Let X be a normally distributed random variable with mean μ and variance denoted V. Then the moment generating function of X is a function $M_X : [0, +\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by:

$$M_X(t) = E[e^{tX}] = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi V}} e^{\frac{(x-\mu)^2}{2V}} e^{tx} dx$$
(A.1)

With easy symbolic computation, the integral in A.1 can be solved and the moment generating function ends by:

$$M_X(t) = e^{\mu t} e^{\frac{1}{2}Vt^2}$$
(A.2)

Recall that whenever the moment generating function exists in some neighborhood of 0, the moments of the random variable are expressed in terms of the derivatives of the moment function at t = 0 [Heathcote, 2000]. So if m_n denotes the *n*-th non central moment of X, then m_n is written as:

$$m_n = \frac{d^n}{dt^n} M_X(t)|_{t=0} \tag{A.3}$$

Accordingly, the non central moments of X for any order can be directly found using A.3. To ease the computation process of the derivatives of the moment generating function one may use any symbolic computing software such as *Mathematica*, *Maple*, and *Python*. Here we give the first 10 non central moments of X:

$$m_{1} = \mu$$

$$m_{2} = \mu^{2} + V$$

$$m_{3} = \mu^{3} + 3\mu V$$

$$m_{4} = \mu^{4} + 6\mu^{2}V + 3V^{2}$$

$$m_{5} = \mu^{5} + 10\mu^{3}V + 15\mu V^{2}$$

$$m_{6} = \mu^{6} + 15\mu^{4}V + 45\mu^{2}V^{2} + 15V^{3}$$

$$m_{7} = \mu^{7} + 21\mu^{5}V + 105\mu^{3}V^{2} + 105\mu V^{3}$$

$$m_{8} = \mu^{8} + 28\mu^{6}V + 210\mu^{4}V^{2} + 420\mu^{2}V^{3} + 105V^{4}$$

$$m_{9} = \mu^{9} + 36\mu^{7}V + 378\mu^{5}V^{2} + 1260\mu^{3}V^{3} + 945\mu V^{4}$$

$$m_{10} = \mu^{10} + 45\mu^{8}V + 630\mu^{6}V^{2} + 3150\mu^{4}V^{3} + 4725\mu^{2}V^{4} + 945V^{5}$$
(A.4)

Bibliography

- [Agudo et Moreno-Noguer, 2017] AGUDO, A. et MORENO-NOGUER, F. (2017). Combining local-physical and global-statistical models for sequential deformable shape from motion. International Journal of Computer Vision (IJCV), 122(2):371–387. Cited page 99
- [Alhossen et al., 2016] ALHOSSEN, I., VILLENEUVE-FAURE, C., BAUDOIN, F., BUGARIN, F. et SEGONDS, S. (2016). Sensitivity analysis of the electrostatic force distance curve using sobol's method and design of experiments. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 50(3):035304.
- [Baraldi et Zio, 2010] BARALDI, P. et ZIO, E. (2010). A comparison between probabilistic and dempster-shafer theory approaches to model uncertainty analysis in the performance assessment of radioactive waste repositories. Risk Analysis, 30(7):1139–1156. Cited page 26
- [Bartoli, 2008] BARTOLI, A. (2008). Groupwise geometric and photometric direct image registration. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence*, 30(12): 2098–2108. *Cited page 112*
- [Bartoli et al., 2015] BARTOLI, A., GÉRARD, Y., CHADEBECQ, F., COLLINS, T. et PIZARRO, D. (2015). Shape-from-template. *IEEE transactions on pattern analysis* and machine intelligence, 37(10):2099–2118. 5 citations pages 94, 99, 100, 104, et 106
- [Baudoin et al., 2007] BAUDOIN, F., LE ROY, S., TEYSSEDRE, G. et LAURENT, C. (2007). Bipolar charge transport model with trapping and recombination: an analysis of the current versus applied electric field characteristic in steady state conditions. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 41(2):025306. Cited page 124
- [Baumgärtel et al., 2014] BAUMGÄRTEL, P., ENDLER, G., WAHL, A. M. et LENZ, R. (2014). Inverse uncertainty propagation for demand driven data acquisition. In Proceedings of the 2014 Winter Simulation Conference, pages 710–721. IEEE Press. Cited page 29
- [Binnig et al., 1986] BINNIG, G., QUATE, C. F. et GERBER, C. (1986). Atomic force microscope. *Physical review letters*, 56(9):930. *Cited page 65*
- [Bojke et al., 2009] BOJKE, L., CLAXTON, K., SCULPHER, M. et PALMER, S. (2009). Characterizing structural uncertainty in decision analytic models: A review and application of methods. Value in Health, 12(5):739 – 749. Cited page 10

[Bokov, 2012] BOKOV, P. M. (2012). Asymptotic analysis for the variance-based global sensitivity indices. Science and Technology of Nuclear Installations, 2012. Cited page 36

- [Boularas et al., 2016] BOULARAS, A., BAUDOIN, F., TEYSSEDRE, G., VILLENEUVE-FAURE, C. et CLAIN, S. (2016). 3d modeling of electrostatic interaction between atomic force microscopy probe and dielectric surface: Impact of tip shape and cantilever contribution. *IEEE Transactions on Dielectrics and Electrical Insulation*, 23(2):705–712. 2 citations pages 69 et 90
- [Burhenne et al., 2011] BURHENNE, S., JACOB, D. et HENZE, G. P. (2011). Sampling based on sobol'sequences for monte carlo techniques applied to building simulations. In Proc. Int. Conf. Build. Simulat, pages 1816–1823. Cited page 17
- [Cacuci, 2003] CACUCI, D. G. (2003). Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis, volume II: applications to large-scale systems, volume 1. CRC press. Cited page 33
- [Cappella et Dietler, 1999] CAPPELLA, B. et DIETLER, G. (1999). Force-distance curves by atomic force microscopy. *Surface science reports*, 34(1-3):15–3104. *Cited page 65*
- [Cavazzuti, 2012] CAVAZZUTI, M. (2012). Optimization methods: from theory to design scientific and technological aspects in mechanics. Springer Science & Business Media. Cited page 80
- [Chantrasmi et Iaccarino, 2012] CHANTRASMI, T. et IACCARINO, G. (2012). Forward and backward uncertainty propagation for discontinuous system response using the pade-legendre method. International Journal for Uncertainty Quantification, 2(2). Cited page 29
- [Chen et al., 2015] CHEN, X., MOLINA-CRISTÓBAL, A., GUENOV, M., DATTA, V. et RIAZ, A. (2015). A novel method for inverse uncertainty propagation. 2 citations pages 29 et 60
- [Chhatkuli et al., 2017] CHHATKULI, A., PIZARRO, D., COLLINS, T. et BARTOLI, A. (2017). Inextensible non-rigid structure-from-motion by second-order cone programming. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence. Cited page 108*
- [Duchoň, 2011] DUCHOŇ, M. (2011). A generalized bernstein approximation theorem. Tatra Mountains Mathematical Publications, 49(1):99–109. Cited page 53
- [Faugeras et al., 2004] FAUGERAS, O., LUONG, Q.-T. et PAPADOPOULO, T. (2004). The geometry of multiple images: the laws that govern the formation of multiple images of a scene and some of their applications. MIT press. Cited page 112
- [Gan et al., 2015] GAN, Y., LIANG, X.-Z., DUAN, Q., CHOI, H. I., DAI, Y. et WU, H. (2015). Stepwise sensitivity analysis from qualitative to quantitative: Application to the terrestrial hydrological modeling of a conjunctive surface-subsurface process (cssp) land surface model. Journal of Advances in Modeling Earth Systems, 7(2):648–669. Cited page 33

- [Gao et al., 2011] GAO, W., WU, D., SONG, C., TIN-LOI, F. et LI, X. (2011). Hybrid probabilistic interval analysis of bar structures with uncertainty using a mixed perturbation monte-carlo method. *Finite Elements in Analysis and Design*, 47(7):643–652. *Cited page 22*
- [Giessibl, 1998] GIESSIBL, F. J. (1998). High-speed force sensor for force microscopy and profilometry utilizing a quartz tuning fork. *Applied Physics Letters*, 73(26):3956–3958. *Cited page 65*
- [Gilli, 2013] GILLI, L. (2013). Uncertainty quantification in reactor physics using adjoint/perturbation techniques and adaptive spectral methods. Thèse de doctorat. Cited page 18
- [Giunta et Swiler, 2007] GIUNTA, A. A. et SWILER, L. P. (2007). Aleatory and epistemic uncertainty quantification for engineering applications. Rapport technique, Sandia National Laboratories. *Cited page 27*
- [Hammonds et al., 1994] HAMMONDS, J. S., HOFFMAN, O. et BARTELL, S. M. (1994). An Introductory Guide to Uncertainty Analysis in Environmental and Health Risk Assessment. Environmental Restoration Program. United States. Department of Energy and Oak Ridge National Laboratory and United States. Department of Energy. Office of Scientific and Technical Information. Cited page 14
- [Hartley et Zisserman, 2003] HARTLEY, R. et ZISSERMAN, A. (2003). Multiple view geometry in computer vision. Cambridge university press. Cited page 112
- [Heathcote, 2000] HEATHCOTE, C. (2000). Probability: Elements of the Mathematical Theory, chapitre 1, pages 18–19. Dover. Cited page 135
- [Helton et Davis, 2002] HELTON, J. C. et DAVIS, F. J. (2002). Illustration of samplingbased methods for uncertainty and sensitivity analysis. Risk Analysis, 22(3):591–622. 4 citations pages 17, 37, 38, et 39
- [Helton et al., 2004] HELTON, J. C., JOHNSON, J. D. et OBERKAMPF, W. L. (2004). An exploration of alternative approaches to the representation of uncertainty in model predictions. *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, 85(1):39–71. 2 citations pages 26 et 27
- [Helton et al., 2006] HELTON, J. C., JOHNSON, J. D., SALLABERRY, C. J. et STORLIE, C. B. (2006). Survey of sampling-based methods for uncertainty and sensitivity analysis. *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, 91(10):1175–1209. Cited page 36
- [Homma et Saltelli, 1996] HOMMA, T. et SALTELLI, A. (1996). Importance measures in global sensitivity analysis of nonlinear models. *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, 52(1):1–17. *Cited page 42*
- [Iaccarino, 2009] IACCARINO, G. (2009). Quantification of uncertainty in flow simulations using probabilistic methods. Rapport technique. Cited page 17
- [Jaynes, 1957] JAYNES, E. T. (1957). Information theory and statistical mechanics. *Physical review*, 106(4):620. *Cited page 30*

- [Keeping, 1962] KEEPING, E. S. (1962). Introduction to statistical inference. Courier Corporation. Cited page 30
- [Kewlani et al., 2012] KEWLANI, G., CRAWFORD, J. et IAGNEMMA, K. (2012). A polynomial chaos approach to the analysis of vehicle dynamics under uncertainty. Vehicle system dynamics, 50(5):749–774. Cited page 20
- [Le Maître et Knio, 2010] LE MAÎTRE, O. et KNIO, O. M. (2010). Spectral methods for uncertainty quantification: with applications to computational fluid dynamics. Springer Science & Business Media. Cited page 19
- [Le Roy et al., 2003] LE ROY, S., SEGUR, P., TEYSSEDRE, G. et LAURENT, C. (2003). Description of bipolar charge transport in polyethylene using a fluid model with a constant mobility: model prediction. Journal of physics D: Applied physics, 37(2):298. 2 citations pages 121 et 125
- [Lee et Chen, 2009] LEE, S. H. et CHEN, W. (2009). A comparative study of uncertainty propagation methods for black-box-type problems. Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization, 37(3):239–253.
- [Leeb et Pötscher, 2005] LEEB, H. et PÖTSCHER, B. M. (2005). Model selection and inference: Facts and fiction. *Econometric Theory*, 21(1):21–59. *Cited page 10*
- [Limbourg, 2008] LIMBOURG, P. (2008). Dependability modelling under uncertainty: An imprecise probabilistic approach, volume 148. Springer. Cited page 26
- [Liu et al., 1993] LIU, R., TAKADA, T. et TAKASU, N. (1993). Pulsed electro-acoustic method for measurement of space charge distribution in power cables under both dc and ac electric fields. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 26(6):986. Cited page 128
- [Lu et al., 2013] LU, D., YE, M., MEYER, P. D., CURTIS, G. P., SHI, X., NIU, X.-F. et YABUSAKI, S. B. (2013). Effects of error covariance structure on estimation of model averaging weights and predictive performance. Water Resources Research, 49(9):6029– 6047. Cited page 9
- [Marino et al., 2008] MARINO, S., HOGUE, I. B., RAY, C. J. et KIRSCHNER, D. E. (2008). A methodology for performing global uncertainty and sensitivity analysis in systems biology. Journal of theoretical biology, 254 1:178–96. 4 citations pages 15, 32, 36, et 37
- [Maskey et al., 2004] MASKEY, S., GUINOT, V. et PRICE, R. K. (2004). Treatment of precipitation uncertainty in rainfall-runoff modelling: a fuzzy set approach. Advances in water resources, 27(9):889–898. Cited page 25
- [Moons et al., 2008] MOONS, T., VAN GOOL, L., VERGAUWEN, M. et al. (2008). 3d reconstruction from multiple images part 1: principles. Foundations and Trends in Computer Graphics and Vision, 4(4):287–404. 2 citations pages 96 et 99
- [Moore et al., 2009] MOORE, R. E., KEARFOTT, R. B. et CLOUD, M. J. (2009). Introduction to interval analysis. SIAM. Cited page 22

- [Moreno-Noguer et Porta, 2016] MORENO-NOGUER, F. et PORTA, J. (2016). A bayesian approach to simultaneously recover camera pose and non-rigid shape from monocular images. *Image and Vision Computing*, 52:141–153. *Cited page 99*
- [Nagel, 2017] NAGEL, J. B. (2017). Bayesian techniques for inverse uncertainty quantification. Thèse de doctorat, ETH Zurich. 2 citations pages 30 et 31
- [Negoescu et Axinte, 2007a] NEGOESCU, F. et AXINTE, E. (2007a). Contribution concerning the influence of geometrical parameters about the behaviour of corrugated diaphragms with triangular profile. IFAC Proceedings Volumes, 40(18):437–442. Cited page 71
- [Negoescu et Axinte, 2007b] NEGOESCU, F. et AXINTE, E. (2007b). Contribution concerning the influence of geometrical parameters about the behaviour of corrugated diaphragms with triangular profile. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, 40(18):437–442. *Cited page 86*
- [Normand et al., 2003] NORMAND, P., KAPETANAKIS, E., DIMITRAKIS, P., SKARLATOS, D., TSOUKALAS, D., BELTSIOS, K., CLAVERIE, A., BENASSAYAG, G., BONAFOS, C., CARRADA, M. et al. (2003). Effects of annealing conditions on charge storage of si nanocrystal memory devices obtained by low-energy ion beam synthesis. *Microelec*tronic engineering, 67:629–634. Cited page 69
- [P Swiler et al., 2009] P SWILER, L., L PAEZ, T. et MAYES, R. (2009). Epistemic uncertainty quantification tutorial. In Conference Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Mechanics Series. Cited page 23
- [Palleau et al., 2010] PALLEAU, E., RESSIER, L., MÉLIN, T. et al. (2010). Numerical simulations for a quantitative analysis of afm electrostatic nanopatterning on pmma by kelvin force microscopy. Nanotechnology, 21(22):225706. Cited page 72
- [Pereira et Broed, 2006] PEREIRA, A. et BROED, R. (2006). Methods for uncertainty and sensitivity analysis: review and recomendations for implementation in ecolego. *Cited page 38*
- [Pillet, 1997] PILLET, M. (1997). Les plans d'expérience par la méthode Taguchi. Editions d'Organisation,. Cited page 87
- [Reimer, 2012] REIMER, M. (2012). Multivariate polynomial approximation, volume 144. Birkhäuser. Cited page 53
- [Rezende et al., 2009] REZENDE, C., GOUVEIA, R., DA SILVA, M. et GALEMBECK, F. (2009). Detection of charge distributions in insulator surfaces. Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 21(26):263002. Cited page 69
- [Ripamonti et al., 2013] RIPAMONTI, G., LONATI, G., BARALDI, P., CADINI, F. et ZIO, E. (2013). Uncertainty propagation in a model for the estimation of the ground level concentration of dioxin/furans emitted from a waste gasification plant. Reliability Engineering & System Safety, 120:98–105. Cited page 28

- [Rugar et al., 1989] RUGAR, D., MAMIN, H. et GUETHNER, P. (1989). Improved fiberoptic interferometer for atomic force microscopy. Applied Physics Letters, 55(25):2588– 2590. Cited page 65
- [Saltelli et al., 1993] SALTELLI, A., ANDRES, T. et HOMMA, T. (1993). Sensitivity analysis of model output: an investigation of new techniques. Computational statistics & data analysis, 15(2):211–238. Cited page 37
- [Saltelli et al., 2010] SALTELLI, A., ANNONI, P., AZZINI, I., CAMPOLONGO, F., RATTO, M. et TARANTOLA, S. (2010). Variance based sensitivity analysis of model output. design and estimator for the total sensitivity index. Computer Physics Communications, 181(2):259–270. 2 citations pages 43 et 118
- [Saltelli *et al.*, 2000] SALTELLI, A., CHAN, K. et SCOTT, E. (2000). Sensitivity analysis wiley series in probability and statistics. *Willey, New York.* Cited page 33
- [Salzmann et Urtasun, 2011] SALZMANN, M. et URTASUN, R. (2011). Physically-based motion models for 3d tracking: A convex formulation. In Computer Vision (ICCV), 2011 IEEE International Conference on, pages 2064–2071. IEEE. Cited page 99
- [Sandu, 1997] SANDU, A. (1997). Sensitivity analysis of ode via automatic differentiation. Mémoire de D.E.A., University of Iowa. *Cited page 35*
- [Sauer et Xu, 1995] SAUER, T. et XU, Y. (1995). On multivariate lagrange interpolation. Mathematics of Computation, 64(211):1147–1170. Cited page 53
- [Schick, 2011] SCHICK, M. (2011). Uncertainty quantification for stochastic dynamical systems: Spectral methods using generalized polynomial chaos. Thèse de doctorat, Karlsruhe, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie (KIT), Diss., 2011. Cited page 19
- [Schulz et Huwe, 1999] SCHULZ, K. et HUWE, B. (1999). Uncertainty and sensitivity analysis of water transport modelling in a layered soil profile using fuzzy set theory. Journal of Hydroinformatics, 1(2):127–138. 2 citations pages 24 et 25
- [Sepahvand et al., 2010] SEPAHVAND, K., MARBURG, S. et HARDTKE, H.-J. (2010). Uncertainty quantification in stochastic systems using polynomial chaos expansion. International Journal of Applied Mechanics, 2(02):305–353. Cited page 19
- [Sobol, 1993] SOBOL, I. M. (1993). Sensitivity estimates for nonlinear mathematical models. Mathematical Modelling and Computational Experiments, 1(4):407–414. 3 citations pages 39, 40, et 41
- [Strong et al., 2012] STRONG, M., OAKLEY, J. E. et CHILCOTT, J. (2012). Managing structural uncertainty in health economic decision models: a discrepancy approach. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series C, 61(1):25–45. Cited page 10
- [Strong *et al.*, 2009] STRONG, M., SQUIRES, H., OAKLEY, J. et CHILCOTT, J. (2009). Structural uncertainty in health economic decision models. *Cited page 10*
- [Sudret, 2007] SUDRET, B. (2007). Uncertainty propagation and sensitivity analysis in mechanical models – contributions to structural reliability and stochastic spectral methods. Rapport technique. 3 citations pages 20, 32, et 40

- [Telford, 2007] TELFORD, J. K. (2007). A brief introduction to design of experiments. Johns Hopkins apl technical digest, 27(3):224–232. Cited page 80
- [Tong, 2007] TONG, C. (2007). Toward a more robust variance-based global sensitivity analysis of model outputs. Rapport technique, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory (LLNL), Livermore, CA. *Cited page 33*
- [Villeneuve-Faure et al., 2014] VILLENEUVE-FAURE, C., BOUDOU, L., MAKASHEVA, K. et TEYSSEDRE, G. (2014). Towards 3d charge localization by a method derived from atomic force microscopy: the electrostatic force distance curve. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 47(45).
 6 citations pages xi, 64, 68, 69, 73, et 77
- [Villeneuve-Faure et al., 2016] VILLENEUVE-FAURE, C., BOUDOU, L., MAKASHEVA, K. et TEYSSEDRE, G. (2016). Atomic force microscopy developments for probing space charge at sub-micrometer scale in thin dielectric films. *IEEE Transactions on Dielectrics and Electrical Insulation*, 23(2):713–720. *Cited page 70*
- [Wakeland et al., 2004] WAKELAND, W. W., MARTIN, R. H. et RAFFO, D. (2004). Using design of experiments, sensitivity analysis, and hybrid simulation to evaluate changes to a software development process: a case study. Software Process: Improvement and Practice, 9(2):107–119. Cited page 79
- [Wierman, 2010] WIERMAN, M. J. (2010). An Introduction to the Mathematics of Uncertainty. Creighton University. Cited page 24
- [Zaghloul et al., 2010] ZAGHLOUL, U., PAPAIOANNOU, G. J., COCCETTI, F., PONS, P. et PLANA, R. (2010). A systematic reliability investigation of the dielectric charging process in electrostatically actuated mems based on kelvin probe force microscopy. *Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering*, 20(6):064016. Cited page 70